

SPSS Tables[™] 14.0



For more information about SPSS® software products, please visit our Web site at http://www.spss.com or contact

SPSS Inc.
233 South Wacker Drive, 11th Floor
Chicago, IL 60606-6412
Tel: (312) 651-3000
Fax: (312) 651-3668

SPSS is a registered trademark and the other product names are the trademarks of SPSS Inc. for its proprietary computer software. No material describing such software may be produced or distributed without the written permission of the owners of the trademark and license rights in the software and the copyrights in the published materials.

The SOFTWARE and documentation are provided with RESTRICTED RIGHTS. Use, duplication, or disclosure by the Government is subject to restrictions as set forth in subdivision (c) (1) (ii) of The Rights in Technical Data and Computer Software clause at 52.227-7013. Contractor/manufacturer is SPSS Inc., 233 South Wacker Drive, 11th Floor, Chicago, IL 60606-6412.

General notice: Other product names mentioned herein are used for identification purposes only and may be trademarks of their respective companies.

TableLook is a trademark of SPSS Inc.

Windows is a registered trademark of Microsoft Corporation.

DataDirect, DataDirect Connect, INTERSOLV, and SequeLink are registered trademarks of DataDirect Technologies.

Portions of this product were created using LEADTOOLS © 1991-2000, LEAD Technologies, Inc. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

LEAD, LEADTOOLS, and LEADVIEW are registered trademarks of LEAD Technologies, Inc.

Sax Basic is a trademark of Sax Software Corporation. Copyright © 1993–2004 by Polar Engineering and Consulting. All rights reserved. Portions of this product were based on the work of the FreeType Team (*http://www.freetype.org*).

A portion of the SPSS software contains zlib technology. Copyright © 1995–2002 by Jean-loup Gailly and Mark Adler. The zlib software is provided "as is," without express or implied warranty.

A portion of the SPSS software contains Sun Java Runtime libraries. Copyright © 2003 by Sun Microsystems, Inc. All rights reserved. The Sun Java Runtime libraries include code licensed from RSA Security, Inc. Some portions of the libraries are licensed from IBM and are available at http://oss.software.ibm.com/icu4j/.

SPSS Tables[™] 14.0 Copyright © 2005 by SPSS Inc. All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

 $1\ 2\ 3\ 4\ 5\ 6\ 7\ 8\ 9\ 0 \qquad 08\ 07\ 06\ 05$

ISBN 1-56827-371-1

Preface

SPSS 14.0 is a comprehensive system for analyzing data. The SPSS Tables optional add-on module provides the additional analytic techniques described in this manual. The Tables add-on module must be used with the SPSS 14.0 Base system and is completely integrated into that system.

Installation

To install the SPSS Tables add-on module, run the License Authorization Wizard using the authorization code that you received from SPSS Inc. For more information, see the installation instructions supplied with the SPSS Tables add-on module.

Compatibility

SPSS is designed to run on many computer systems. See the installation instructions that came with your system for specific information on minimum and recommended requirements.

Serial Numbers

Your serial number is your identification number with SPSS Inc. You will need this serial number when you contact SPSS Inc. for information regarding support, payment, or an upgraded system. The serial number was provided with your Base system.

Customer Service

If you have any questions concerning your shipment or account, contact your local office, listed on the SPSS Web site at *http://www.spss.com/worldwide*. Please have your serial number ready for identification.

Training Seminars

SPSS Inc. provides both public and onsite training seminars. All seminars feature hands-on workshops. Seminars will be offered in major cities on a regular basis. For more information on these seminars, contact your local office, listed on the SPSS Web site at *http://www.spss.com/worldwide*.

Technical Support

The services of SPSS Technical Support are available to maintenance customers. Customers may contact Technical Support for assistance in using SPSS or for installation help for one of the supported hardware environments. To reach Technical Support, see the SPSS Web site at *http://www.spss.com*, or contact your local office, listed on the SPSS Web site at *http://www.spss.com/worldwide*. Be prepared to identify yourself, your organization, and the serial number of your system.

Additional Publications

Additional copies of SPSS product manuals may be purchased directly from SPSS Inc. Visit the SPSS Web Store at *http://www.spss.com/estore*, or contact your local SPSS office, listed on the SPSS Web site at *http://www.spss.com/worldwide*. For telephone orders in the United States and Canada, call SPSS Inc. at 800-543-2185. For telephone orders outside of North America, contact your local office, listed on the SPSS Web site.

The SPSS Statistical Procedures Companion, by Marija Norušis, has been published by Prentice Hall. A new version of this book, updated for SPSS 14.0, is planned. The SPSS Advanced Statistical Procedures Companion, also based on SPSS 14.0, is forthcoming. The SPSS Guide to Data Analysis for SPSS 14.0 is also in development. Announcements of publications available exclusively through Prentice Hall will be available on the SPSS Web site at http://www.spss.com/estore (select your home country, and then click Books).

Tell Us Your Thoughts

Your comments are important. Please let us know about your experiences with SPSS products. We especially like to hear about new and interesting applications using the SPSS Tables add-on module. Please send e-mail to *suggest@spss.com* or write to SPSS Inc., Attn.: Director of Product Planning, 233 South Wacker Drive, 11th Floor, Chicago, IL 60606-6412.

About This Manual

This manual documents the graphical user interface for the procedures included in the SPSS Tables add-on module. Illustrations of dialog boxes are taken from SPSS for Windows. Dialog boxes in other operating systems are similar. Detailed information about the command syntax for features in the SPSS Tables add-on module is available in two forms: integrated into the overall Help system and as a separate document in PDF form in the *SPSS 14.0 Command Syntax Reference*, available from the Help menu.

Contacting SPSS

If you would like to be on our mailing list, contact one of our offices, listed on our Web site at *http://www.spss.com/worldwide*.

Contents

1

29

1 Getting Started with SPSS Tables

Table Structure and Terminology. 1
Pivot Tables
Variables and Level of Measurement
Rows, Columns, and Cells 3
Stacking
Crosstabulation
Nesting
Layers
Tables for Variables with Shared Categories 6
Multiple Response Sets 6
Totals and Subtotals
Custom Summary Statistics for Totals
Sample Data File
Building a Table
Opening the Custom Table Builder
Selecting Row and Column Variables
Inserting Totals and Subtotals 17
Summarizing Scale Variables

2 Table Builder Interface

Buil	ding Tables	29
	To Build a Table	33
	Stacking Variables	33
	Nesting Variables	34
	Layers	35

Showing and Hiding Variable Names and/or Labels
Summary Statistics
Categories and Totals 40
Tables of Variables with Shared Categories (Comperimeter Tables) \ldots 57
Customizing the Table Builder
Custom Tables: Options Tab 52
Custom Tables: Titles Tab
Custom Tables: Test Statistics Tab 55

3 Simple Tables for Categorical Variables

A Single Categorical Variable
Percentages
Totals
Crosstabulation
Percentages in Crosstabulations
Controlling Display Format
Marginal Totals
Sorting and Excluding Categories

4 Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables 77

Stacking Categorical Variables	77
Stacking with Crosstabulation	79
Nesting Categorical Variables.	80
Suppressing Variable Labels	83
Nested Crosstabulation	85
Layers	88
Two Stacked Categorical Layer Variables	91

Two Nested Categori	al Layer Variables	93
---------------------	--------------------	----

5 Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables 95

Simple Total for a Single Variable) 5
What You See Is What Gets Totaled) 7
Display Position of Totals) 8
Totals for Nested Tables) 8
Layer Variable Totals)1
Subtotals)3
What You See Is What Gets Subtotaled)5
Hiding Subtotaled Categories)6
Layer Variable Subtotals	0

6 Tables for Variables with Shared Categories 111

Table of Counts 1	112
Table of Percentages 1	115
Totals and Category Control 1	117
Nesting in Tables with Shared Categories 1	120

7 Summary Statistics

Summary Statistics Source Variable	124
Summary Statistics Source for Categorical Variables.	124
Summary Statistics Source for Scale Variables	127
Stacked Variables	130

Custom Total Summary Statistics for Categorical Variables	133
Displaying Category Values	138

8 Summarizing Scale Variables

Stacked Scale Variables	141
Multiple Summary Statistics	143
Count, Valid N, and Missing Values	144
Different Summaries for Different Variables	146
Group Summaries in Categories	148
Multiple Grouping Variables	149
Nesting Categorical Variables within Scale Variables	152

9 Test Statistics

Tests of Independence (Chi-Square)	
Effects of Nesting and Stacking on Tests of Independence	159
Comparing Column Means	161
Effects of Nesting and Stacking on Column Means Tests	164
Comparing Column Proportions.	167
Effects of Nesting and Stacking on Column Proportions Tests	171
A Note on Weights and Multiple Response Sets	174

10 Multiple Response Sets

175

Counts, Responses, Percentages, and Totals	175
Using Multiple Response Sets with Other Variables	179
Statistics Source Variable and Available Summary Statistics	181

141

Multiple Category Sets and Duplicate Responses	182
Significance Testing with Multiple Response Sets	185
Tests of Independence with Multiple Response Sets	185
Comparing Column Means with Multiple Response Sets	188

11 Missing Values

Tables without Missing Values	192
Including Missing Values in Tables	194

12 Formatting and Customizing Tables197

Summary Statistics Display Format	198
Display Labels for Summary Statistics	202
Column Width	204
Display Value for Empty Cells	206
Display Value for Missing Statistics	206
Changing the Default TableLook	209

13	TABLES Command Syntax Conver	ter 211
----	------------------------------	---------

Index

215

Getting Started with SPSS Tables

Many procedures in SPSS produce results in the form of tables. The SPSS Tables add-on module, however, offers special features designed to support a wide variety of customized reporting capabilities. Many of the custom features are particularly useful for survey analysis and marketing research.

This guide assumes that you already know the basics of using SPSS. If you are unfamiliar with the basic operation of SPSS, see the introductory tutorial provided with the software. From the menu bar in any open SPSS window, choose:

Help Tutorial

Table Structure and Terminology

SPSS Tables can produce a wide variety of customized tables. While you can discover a great deal of its capabilities simply by experimenting with the table builder interface, it may be helpful to know something about basic table structure in SPSS and the terms we use to describe different structural elements that you can use in a table.

Pivot Tables

Tables produced by SPSS Tables are displayed as **pivot tables** in the Viewer window. Pivot tables provide a great deal of flexibility over the formatting and presentation of tables.

For detailed information about working with pivot tables, use the Help system.

 From the menus in any open SPSS window, choose:
 Help Topics

- ▶ In the Contents pane, double-click Base System.
- ► Then double-click Pivot Tables in the expanded contents list.

Variables and Level of Measurement

To a certain extent, what you can do with a variable in a table is limited by its defined level of measurement. The Custom Tables procedure makes a distinction between two basic types of variables, based on level of measurement:

Categorical. Data with a limited number of distinct values or categories (for example, gender or religion). Also referred to as qualitative data. Categorical variables can be string (alphanumeric) data or numeric variables that use numeric codes to represent categories (for example, 0 = Female and 1 = Male). Categorical variables can be further divided into:

- Nominal. A variable can be treated as nominal when its values represent categories with no intrinsic ranking; for example, the department of the company in which an employee works. Examples of nominal variables include region, zip code, or religious affiliation.
- Ordinal. A variable can be treated as ordinal when its values represent categories with some intrinsic ranking; for example, levels of service satisfaction from highly dissatisfied to highly satisfied. Examples of ordinal variables include attitude scores representing degree of satisfaction or confidence and preference rating scores.

Variables defined as nominal or ordinal in the Data Editor are treated as categorical variables in the Custom Tables procedure.

Scale. A variable can be treated as scale when its values represent ordered categories with a meaningful metric, so that distance comparisons between values are appropriate. Examples of scale variables include age in years and income in thousands of dollars. Also referred to as quantitative, or continuous, data. Variables defined as scale in the Data Editor are treated as scale variables in the Custom Tables procedure.

Getting Started with SPSS Tables

Value Labels

For categorical variables, the preview displayed on the canvas pane in the table builder relies on defined **value labels**. The categories displayed in the table are, in fact, the defined value labels for that variable. If there are no defined value labels for the variable, the preview displays two generic categories. The actual number of categories that will be displayed in the final table is determined by the number of distinct values that occur in the data. The preview simply assumes that there will be at least two categories.

Additionally, some custom table-building features are not available for categorical variables that have no defined value labels.

Rows, Columns, and Cells

Each dimension of a table is defined by a single variable or a combination of variables. Variables that appear down the left side of a table are called **row variables**. They define the rows in a table. Variables that appear across the top of a table are called **column variables**. They define the columns in a table. The body of a table is made up of **cells**, which contain the basic information conveyed by the table—counts, sums, means, percentages, and so on. A cell is formed by the intersection of a row and column of a table.

Stacking

Stacking can be thought of as taking separate tables and pasting them together into the same display. For example, you could display information on *Gender* and *Age category* in separate sections of the same table.

Figure 1-1 Stacked variables

		Count
Gender	Male	1232
	Female	1600
Age	Less than 25	242
category	25 to 34	627
	35 to 44	679
	45 to 54	481
	55 to 64	320
	65 or older	479

Although the term "stacking" typically denotes a vertical display, you can also stack variables horizontally.

Figure 1-2 Horizontal stacking

Gender		Age category					
		Less than					65 or
Male	Female	25	25 to 34	35 to 44	45 to 54	55 to 64	older
1232	1600	242	627	679	481	320	479

Crosstabulation

Crosstabulation is a basic technique for examining the relationship between two categorical variables. For example, using *Age category* as a row variable and *Gender* as a column variable, you can create a two-dimensional crosstabulation that shows the number of males and females in each age category.

Figure 1-3 Simple two-dimensional crosstabulation

		Gender		
		Male Female		
Age	Less than 25	108	134	
category	25 to 34	276	351	
	35 to 44	309	370	
	45 to 54	221	260	
	55 to 64	136	184	
	65 or older	178	301	

Nesting

Nesting, like crosstabulation, can show the relationship between two categorical variables, except one variable is nested within the other in the same dimension. For example, you could nest *Gender* within *Age category* in the row dimension, showing the number of males and females in each age category.

Getting Started with SPSS Tables

In this example, the nested table displays essentially the same information as a crosstabulation of the same two variables.

Figure 1-4 Nested variables

			Count
Age	Less than	Male	108
category	25	Female	134
	25 to 34	Male	276
		Female	351
	35 to 44	Male	309
		Female	370
	45 to 54 Ma		221
		Female	260
	55 to 64	Male	136
		Female	184
	65 or older	Male	178
		Female	301

Layers

You can use layers to add a dimension of depth to your tables, creating three-dimensional "cubes." Layers are, in fact, quite similar to nesting; the primary difference is that only one layer category is visible at a time. For example, using *Age category* as the row variable and *Gender* as a layer variable produces a table in which information for males and females is displayed in different layers of the table.

Figure 1-5 Layered variables

Gender Female								
A	١g	е	Le	ess than 25		134	1	
С	category 25 to 34			351				
	35 to 44			370				
_		Gender Age categor	· Ма	le Less than 2 25 to 34 35 to 44 45 to 54 55 to 64 65 or older	25	1 2 3 2 1 1	08 76 09 21 36 78	

Tables for Variables with Shared Categories

Surveys often contain many questions with a common set of possible responses. For example, our sample survey contains a number of variables concerning confidence in various public and private institutions and services, all with the same set of response categories: 1 = A great deal, 2 = Only some, and 3 = Hardly any. You can use stacking to display these related variables in the same table—and you can display the shared response categories in the columns of the table.

Figure 1-6

Stacked variables with shared response categories in columns

	A great deal	Only some	Hardly any
Confidence in banks & financial institutions	490	1068	306
Confidence in education	511	1055	315
Confidence in major companies	500	1078	243
Confidence in medicine	844	864	167
Confidence in press	176	878	808
Confidence in television	196	936	744

Multiple Response Sets

Multiple response sets use multiple variables to record responses to questions for which the respondent can give more than one answer. For example, our sample survey asks the question, "Which of the following sources do you rely on for news?" Respondents can select any combination of five possible choices: *Internet, television, radio, newspapers,* and *news magazines.* Each of these choices is stored as a separate variable in the data file, and together they make a multiple response set. With SPSS Tables, you can define a multiple response set based on these variables and use that multiple response set in the tables you create.

Getting Started with SPSS Tables

Figure 1-7 *Multiple response set displayed in a table*

		Count	Column N %
News	Get news from internet	867	41.7%
sources	sources Get news from radio		26.5%
	Get news from television	1077	51.8%
	Get news from news magazines	294	14.1%
	Get news from newspapers	805	38.7%

You may notice in this example that the percentages total to more than 100%. Because each respondent may choose more than one answer, the total number of responses can be greater than the total number of respondents.

Totals and Subtotals

SPSS Tables provides a great deal of control over the display of totals and subtotals, including:

- Overall row and column totals
- Group totals for nested, stacked, and layered tables
- Subgroup totals

Figure 1-8	3				
Subtotals,	group	totals,	and	table	totals

		Count	Percent
Male	Less than 25	108	8.8%
	25 to 34	276	22.5%
	35 to 44	309	25.2%
	Subtotal < 45	693	56.4%
	45 to 54	221	18.0%
	55 to 64	136	11.1%
	65 or older	178	14.5%
	Subtotal 45+	535	43.6%
	Total	1228	100.0%
Female	Less than 25	134	8.4%
	25 to 34	351	21.9%
	35 to 44	370	23.1%
	Subtotal < 45	855	53.4%
	45 to 54	260	16.3%
	55 to 64	184	11.5%
	65 or older	301	18.8%
	Subtotal 45+	745	46.6%
	Total	1600	100.0%
Total	Less than 25	242	8.6%
	25 to 34	627	22.2%
	35 to 44	679	24.0%
	Subtotal < 45	1548	54.7%
	45 to 54	481	17.0%
	55 to 64	320	11.3%
	65 or older	479	16.9%
	Subtotal 45+	1280	45.3%
	Total	2828	100.0%

Custom Summary Statistics for Totals

For tables that contain totals or subtotals, you can have different summary statistics than the summaries displayed for each category. For example, you could display counts for an ordinal categorical row variable and display the mean for the "total" statistic.

Figure 1-9

Categorical variable and summary statistics in the same dimension

Confidence	1 A great deal	Count	196
in television	2 Only some	Count	936
	3 Hardly a⊓y	Count	744
	Total	Count	1876
		Mean	2.29

Getting Started with SPSS Tables

Sample Data File

Most of the examples presented here use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This data file is a fictitious survey of several thousand people, containing basic demographic information and responses to a variety of questions, ranging from political views to television viewing habits.

All sample files used in these examples are located in the *Tutorialsample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

Building a Table

Before you can build a table, you need some data to use in the table.

► From the menus, choose:

File Open Data...

Figure 1-10 File menu, Open



Alternatively, you can use the Open File button on the toolbar.

Figure 1-11 Open File toolbar button



This opens the Open File dialog box.

Figure 1-12

Sample_files folder displayed in Open File dialog box

Open File	-				? 🛛
Look jn:	📄 sample_files		✓ G	ø 🖻 🖽	•
My Recent Documents Desktop My Documents My Computer	pain_medication patlos_sample.s polishing.sav property_asses property_asses recidivism.sav salesperforman satisf.sav salesperforman satisf.sav site.sav site.sav site.sav site.sav	i.sav s.sav s_cs.sav s_cs_sav s_cs_sample.sav ce.sav	smoking.sav storebrand.sav stores.sav stores.sav tastetest.sav telco.sav telco_extra.sav testmarket.sav testmarket_1month tree_car.sav tree_credit.sav tree_missing_data. tree_score_car.sav	n.sav sav	workprog.sa
My Network	File <u>n</u> ame:	survey_sample.sa	v		<u>Open</u>
	Files of type:	SPSS (*.sav)		~	Paste Cancel

- ► To use the data file in this example, use the Open File dialog box to navigate to the *Tutorialsample_files* folder, located in the folder in which SPSS is installed (typically, *C:\Program Files\SPSS*).
- ► Select *survey_sample.sav* and then click Open.

Opening the Custom Table Builder

▶ To open the custom table builder, from the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...

Figure 1-13 Analyze menu, Tables

<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	⊻iew	<u>D</u> ata	<u>T</u> ransform	<u>A</u> nalyze	<u>G</u> raphs	Utilities	Ad	d- <u>o</u> ns	<u>W</u> indo	N	<u>H</u> elp	
					Repor	ts		۲					
					D <u>e</u> scri	iptive Stati	istics	۰					
					<u>T</u> ables	s		٠	⊆us	tom Tab	les.		
					Comp	are <u>M</u> eans		۱.	Mult	iple Res	рог	nse <u>S</u> e	ts
					Gener	al Linear N	1odel	•	Paci	ic Toblec			
					Mi <u>x</u> ed	Models			Cen	oral Tab	loc		
					⊆orrel	late			Mult	iola Dac	000	 	blec
					<u>R</u> egre	ssion			Tab	les of Fr	poi eai	iancia	e
					Logline	ear		ъĻ	Tap	103 01 11	cqu	Jenicie.	3
					Classif	fy							
					<u>D</u> ata F	Reduction							
					Sc <u>a</u> le								
					<u>N</u> onpa	arametric 1	ests						
					Time S	5eries							
					<u>S</u> urviv	/al							
					Multip	le Respon:	se						
					Missin	g <u>V</u> alue Ar	alysis						
					Compl	lex Sample	5	•					

This opens the custom table builder.

able Titles Test Statistics Op	otions
<u>V</u> ariables	🖩 Normal 🗄 Compact 🖷 Layers
1st mentioned Ad mentioned Age category (A Berin in this cate Car maker, most	Columns
Categories: Less than 25 25 to 34 35 to 44	-
Categories: Less than 25 25 to 34 35 to 44 Define	Summary Statistics
Categories: Less than 25 25 to 34 35 to 44 Define N ₂ Summary Statistics	Summary Statistics Position: Columns I Hide

Selecting Row and Column Variables

To create a table, you simply drag and drop variables where you want them to appear in the table.

 Select (click) Age category in the variable list and drag and drop it into the Rows area on the canvas pane.

Getting Started with SPSS Tables



The canvas pane displays the table that would be created using this single row variable.

The preview does not display the actual values that would be displayed in the table; it displays only the basic layout of the table.

Select *Gender* in the variable list and drag and drop it into the Columns area on the canvas pane (you may have to scroll down the variable list to find this variable).

Custom Tables					-
able Titles Test Statistics	Opti	ons			
<u>√</u> ariables			Normal 🗄	Compact	🛱 Laye
Confidence in pr 🔺			C <u>o</u> l	umns	
Country of family			1	Gen	der
Ecuatry of origin				Male	Female
Sender (sev)			Γ	Count	Count
General happine			Less than 25	nnnn	nnnn
💑 Get news from in	\$		25 to 34	nnnn	nnnn
🚨 Get news from n 🔛	Ŕ	A	35 to 44	nnnn	nnnn
Categories:	1 -	- Age category	45 to 54	nnnn	nnnn
Male			55 to 64	nnnn	nnnn
Eemale			65 or older	nnnn	nnnn
- Define N _% Summary Statistics % Categories and Totals		Summary Statis Position: Colu Source: Row	tics umns 🔺 🗌 <u>F</u> v Variat 💙	<u>H</u> ide Cat <u>ego</u> Defau	ory Position: It

The canvas pane now displays a two-way crosstabulation of Age category by Gender.

By default, counts are displayed in the cells for categorical variables. You can also display row, column, and/or total percentages.

 Right-click on Age category on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.

Figure 1-17

Context menu for categorical variables on canvas pane

Custom Tables					- 0	1 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics	Optio	ns				
⊻ariables		Γ	Normal B	🗄 Compact	🛱 Layers	
Confidence in pr Confidence in tel			C <u>o</u>	glumns		1
Country of family				Ger	nder	1
Country of origin				Male	Female	l.
Gender (sev)				Count	Count	Ş
General happine	Rows	Age category	Summary Sta Categories a Swap Row an Select All Roy Select All Col	atistics and Totals nd Column Varia w Variables lumn Variables ariables	bles	
			Can't Repea	t		
Define		Summary Stati	Cu <u>t</u>		Ctrl+X	
№% <u>S</u> ummary Statistics		Position: Col	⊆ору		Ctrl+C	
SS Categories and Totals		Source: Ro	Paste		Ctrl+V	1
			Delete		Del	
	OK	<u>P</u> aste	Show Variabl Show Variabl	le <u>N</u> ame le <u>L</u> abel	p	

► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Row N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow button to add it to the Display list.

Now both the counts and row percentages will be displayed in the table.

Figure 1-18

Summary	Statistics	dialog	box for	categorical	variables
				0	

Summary Statistics: Categoric	al¥	ariables				×
Selected Variable: Age category						
Statistics:		Display:				
Unweighted Count		Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Column N %		Count	Count	nnnn	0	
Subtable N %	•	Row N %	Row N %	nnnn.n%	1	-
Layer N %						
Row Valid N %						
🕝 🔲 Custom Summary Statistics for T	otals	and Subtotals				
Statistics:		Display:				
Unweighted Count		Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Row N %		Count	Count	nnnn	0	
Table N %						_
Subtable N %						×
Layer N %						
	App	bly to Selection App	y to All	ose <u>I</u>	Help	

• Click Apply to Selection to save these settings and return to the table builder.

The canvas pane reflects the changes you have made, displaying columns for both counts and row percentages.

Custom Tables					- 0
able Titles Test Statistic	Dptic	ons			
<u>V</u> ariables			Normal 🗄	Compact	Layers
Confidence in pr				C <u>o</u> lun	nns
Country of family					Gende
Country of origin				Ma	le
Sender (sev)				Count	Row N %
General happine			Less than 25	nnnn	nnnn.n%
💑 Get news from in	ŝ		25 to 34	nnnn	nnnn.n%
🚨 Get news from n 🔛	Ê	A	35 to 44	nnnn	nnnn.n%
Categories:		Age categoly	45 to 54	nnnn	nnnn.n%
Male			55 to 64	nnnn	nnnn.n%
Female			65 or older	nnnn	nnnn.n%
	<		1111		>
Define N _% Summary Statistics		- Summary Statis Position: Col	stics umns 💌 🗋 <u>F</u>	tide Categ	ory Position:
SS Categories and Totals		Source: Rov	v Variat 🚩		
	OK	Paste	Beset	Cano	el Help

Figure 1-19 Counts and row percentages displayed on canvas pane

Inserting Totals and Subtotals

Totals are not displayed by default in custom tables, but it is easy to add both totals and subtotals to a table.

- ► Right-click on *Age category* on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- ▶ In the Categories and Totals dialog box, select (click) 3.00 in the Value(s) list.
- ▶ In the Label text field in the New Subtotal group, type Subtotal < 45.
- Then click the Insert button.

This inserts a row containing the subtotal for the first three age categories.

► Select (click) 6.00 in the Value(s) list.

- ▶ In the Label text field in the New Subtotal group, type Subtotal 45 +.
- ► Then click the Insert button.

This inserts a row containing the subtotal for the last three age categories.

► To include an overall total, select the Total check box in the Show group.

Figure 1-20

togorios una rott	ls	
elected Variable: Age	category	
		Exclude:
Display		
Value(s)	Label 🔨	
2.00	25 to 34	
3.00	35 to 44	
€ 1.003.00	Subtotal < 45	
4.00	45 to 54	
5.00	55 to 64	
6.00	65 or older	
¥.006.00	Subtotal 45 +	
Sort Categories	Insert Drder: Ascending V	Above categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
Ву:		
By: Show ✓ Iotal	Missing ValuesEmpty	Other values found
By: Show I Iotal Labgt Total	Missing Values ✓ Emply categories	Uther values (ound when data are scanned

► Then click Apply.

Getting Started with SPSS Tables

The canvas pane preview now includes rows for the two subtotals and the overall total.

Variables	Norm <u>a</u> l 🗄	∃ Co <u>m</u> pact	Layers
Confidence in m		Male	Female
Confidence in p	Less than 25	nnnn	nnn
Country of famil	25 to 34 35 to 44	nnnn nnnn	nnnn nnnn
Favor or oppos Favor or oppos Age category	Subtotal < 45 45 to 54	nnnn nnnn	nnnn
General happin	55 to 64	nnnn	nnnn
Categories:	55 or older Subtotal 45 +	nnnn nnnn	nnnn
Female	Total	nnnn	nnnn
<			
Define N ₂ Summary Statistics S Categories and Totals Source: Rou	stics umns 🎽 🛄 ! w Varia 🎽	Hide Catego Defau	ny Position: It 1

Figure 1-21 Total and subtotals on canvas pane

• Click OK to produce this table.

The table is displayed in the SPSS Viewer.

Figure 1-22

Crosstabulation with totals and subtotals

		Gender					
		Ma	le	Ferr	iale		
		Count	Row N %	Count	Row N %		
Age	Less than 25	108	44.6%	134	55.4%		
category	25 to 34	276	44.0%	351	56.0%		
	35 to 44	309	45.5%	370	54.5%		
	Subtotal < 45	693	44.8%	855	55.2%		
	45 to 54	221	45.9%	260	54.1%		
	55 to 64	136	42.5%	184	57.5%		
	65 or older	178	37.2%	301	62.8%		
	Subtotal 45+	535	41.8%	745	58.2%		
	Total	1228	43.4%	1600	56.6%		

Summarizing Scale Variables

A simple crosstabulation of two categorical variables displays counts or percentages in the cells of the table, but you can also display summaries of scale variables in the cells of the table.

▶ To open the custom table builder again, from the menus, choose:

```
Analyze
Tables
Custom Tables...
```

- ► Click Reset to clear any previous selections.
- Select (click) Age category in the variable list and drag and drop it into the Rows area on the canvas pane.

Figure 1-23 Selecting a row variable

Custom Tables	a r				- 0
Table Titles Test Statistics	Uptic	ins			
<u>V</u> ariables →			Norm <u>a</u> l 듣	Co <u>m</u> pact	🖺 Layers
1st mentioned c 2nd mentioned c 3rd mentioned c			C <u>o</u> lu	imns	
Age of responde				Count	
Belief in life after			Less than 25	nnnn	
Born in this coun			25 to 34	nnnn	
Car maker most	0.WS		35 to 44	nnnn	
	<u> </u>	Age category	45 to 54	nnnn	
Categories:			55 to 64	nnnn	
Less than 25			65 or older	nnnn	
■ 25 to 34 ■ 35 to 44					
Define		Summary Statis	tics		
N _% Summary Statistics		Position: Colu	umn 🔽 📃 <u>H</u> id	e Category	Position:
88 Categories and Totals		Source: Rov	v Va 💙	Default	*
	<	Paste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help

• Select *Hours per day watching TV* in the variable list and drag and drop it to the right of *Age category* in the row dimension of the table.

Figure 1-24

Dragging and dropping a scale variable into the row dimension

Custom Tables				- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Opt	ions			
⊻ariables	Ī	Normal B	Compact	Layers
Happiness of m		Cg	<u>p</u> lumns	
Wighest year sc			Count	8
Highest year sc		Less than 25	nnnn	
🖉 🛷 Hours per day 😱 🛛 💀		25 to 34	nnnn	
	Age category	35 to 44	nouis per yay	
Categories:	_	45 to 54	nnnn	
No categories (scale		55 to 64	nnnn	
variable)		65 of older	nnnn	
Define	- Summary Stati	istics		
N _% Summary Statistics	Position: Col	lumns 💌 📃	Hide Category	Position:
S Categories and Totals	Source: Ro	w Varia 💙	Default	~
	<u>P</u> aste	<u>H</u> ese		Help

Now, instead of category counts, the table will display the mean (average) number of hours of television watched for each age category.

Custom Tables			-
able Titles Test Statistics Options			
<u>∕</u> ariables	Norm <u>a</u> l	🗄 Compact	Layers
Happiness of m	Cj	olumns	
V Highest year sc			Mean
Highest year sc	Less than 25	Hours per d	nnnn
Hours per day 😱 👘 🐰	25 to 34	Hours per d	nnnn
	35 to 44	Hours per d	nnnn
Categories:	45 to 54	Hours per d	nnnn
No categories (scale	55 to 64	Hours per d	nnnn
variable)	65 or older	Hours per d	nnnn
Define N% Summary Statistics S Gategories and Totals	tistics olumns 💌 🔲 ow Varia 🔽	Hide Categ	ory Position:

The mean is the default summary statistic for scale variables. You can add or change the summary statistics displayed in the table.

 Right-click the scale variable on the canvas pane, and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.

Figure 1-26

Context menu for scale variables in table preview

Custom Tables					
Table Titles Test Statistics	Optio	ns			
⊻ariables		E	N N	lormal 岩 Compact	🗋 Layers
Happiness of m A Have gun in ho Highest degree Highest year of Highest year sc				C <u>o</u> lumns	
Highest year sc Highest year sc Hours per day Categories: No categories (scale variable)	Rows	Age category	Le: 25 35 - 45 55 -	Summary Statistics Categories and Totals . Swap Row and Column Select <u>All</u> Row Variables Select All Column Variat	Variables
	`			<u>U</u> ndo Add Variables Can't Repeat	
Define		Summary Statis	stics	Cu <u>t</u>	Ctrl+X
N _% Summary Statistics		Position: Col	umn:	⊆opy	Ctrl+C
SS Categories and Totals		Source: Rov	v Va	<u>P</u> aste Delete	Ctrl+V Del
)K	Paste		Show Variable <u>N</u> ame Show Variable Label	

► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Median in the Statistics list and click the arrow button to add it to the Display list.

Now both the mean and the median will be displayed in the table.

Figure 1-27

Summary Statistics dialog box for scale variables

Summary Statistics: So	cale Variabl	es				X
Selected Variable: Hours pe Statistics:	er day watching	g TV Display:	label	Format	Decimals	
Unweighted Count Maximum Minimum Missing Mode Percentile 05	•	Mean Median	Mean Median	Auto Auto		▲ ▼
	Ap	ply to <u>S</u> election Ap	ply to <u>A</u> ll C	lose <u>H</u>	elp	

• Click Apply to Selection to save these settings and return to the table builder.

The canvas pane now shows that both the mean and median will be displayed in the table.

Figure 1-28					
Mean and median s	cale summaries	displayed	on	canvas	pane

/ariables)	1	Norm <u>a</u> l 🗄	Co <u>m</u> pact	Layer
Happiness of m Have gun in ho Highest degree Highest year of		C <u>c</u>	olumns]
Highest year sc				Mean	Median
Wighest year sc		Less than 25	Hours per d	nnnn	nnnn
Hours per day		25 to 34	Hours per d	nnnn	nnnn
How get paid la		35 to 44	Hours per d	nnnn	nnnn
	category	45 to 54	Hours per d	nnnn	nnnn
Categories:		55 to 64	Hours per d	nnnn	nnnn
No categories (scale		65 or older	Hours per d	nnnn	nnnn
variable)	<			Ш	
Define		Summary Statisti	cs	Categor	Position
19% Summary Statistics		Position: Colur	nns 🎽 🛄 <u>H</u> ie	te Calegoly	T OSIGOTI.
SS Categories and Totals		Source: Row	Varia 🚩	Derault	

Before creating this table, let's clean it up a bit.
Right-click on *Hours per day...* on the canvas pane and deselect (uncheck) Show Variable Label on the pop-up context menu.

Figure 1-29

Suppressing the display of variable labels

🔤 Custom Tables						- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistic	s Option	s				
<u>⊻</u> ariables	E.	TE I	No	rm <u>a</u> l 🗄	Co <u>m</u> pact	Layers
Happiness of m Have gun in ho Highest degree Highest year of		C <u>o</u> lumns				
Highest year sc					Mean	Median
🖉 🖉 Highest year sc		Less than 25	Ho	Summa	Summary Statistics	
Hours per day	category	25 to 34	Но	Catego	Categories and Totals	
		35 to 44	Ho -	Sian P		Variables
		45 to 54	Ho	Select	All Row Variables	5
Categories:		55 to 64	Ho	Select All Column Variables		oles
No categories (scale		Ho_				
variable)	<			<u>Undo Add Variables</u> Can't Repeat		
Define		Summary Statisti	cs-	Cu <u>t</u>		Ctrl+X
N _% Summary Statistics		Position: Colur	nns	⊆ору		Ctrl+C
PO. Coto and Totals		C	L La colta	Paste		Ctrl+V
oe <u>Categories and Fotals</u> .		Source: Row	varia	<u>D</u> elete		Del
OK Paste Show Variable Name Variable Label						

The column is still displayed in the table preview (with the variable label text grayed out), but this column will not be displayed in the final table.

• Click the Titles tab in the table builder.

Enter a descriptive title for the table, such as Average Daily Number of Hours of Television Watched by Age Category.

able Titles Test Statistic	s Options		
	<u>聞</u> ate	🕘 Time	BY +> Table <u>E</u> xpression
<u>∓</u> itle:			
Average Daily Number of Ho by Age Category	ours of Television Watche	ed	
Caption:			
🖬 C <u>o</u> rner:			<u></u>
To ensure that corner	r text is displayed in the ta	ble, check that Row	Dimension Labels is set to

• Click OK to create the table.

The table is displayed in the SPSS Viewer window.

Figure 1-31 *Mean and median number of TV hours by age category*

Average Daily Number of Hours of Television Watched

by Age Category

		Mean	Median
Age category	Less than 25	2.85	2.00
	25 to 34	2.78	2.00
	35 to 44	2.56	2.00
	45 to 54	2.58	2.00
	55 to 64	3.02	2.50
	65 or older	3.58	3.00

Table Builder Interface

Custom Tables uses a simple drag-and-drop table builder interface that allows you to preview your table as you select variables and options. It also provides a level of flexibility not found in a typical dialog box, including the ability to change the size of the window and the size of the panes within the window.

Building Tables

Figure 2-1

Custom Tables dialog box, Table tab

Custom Tables Table Titles Test S	tatistics	Options						- 0
⊻ariables					Norm <u>a</u> l	岩 Compact	li la	ayers
🔒 1 st menti 🔺								~
and ment						Count	Percent	
3rd menti			Less than 25			nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Age cate			25 to 34			nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Age on te Belief in li			35 to 44			nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Born in th			Subtotal < 45			nnnn	nnnn.n%	
🚡 Car make		Age category	45 to 54			nnnn	nnnn.n%	
🔠 Car make			55 to 64			nnnn	nnnn.n%	
💊 Car make	S/MO	65 or older			nnnn	nnnn.n%		
💑 Car make 💌	Ē		Subtotal 45+			nnnn	nnnn.n%	=
Categories:		Total		1	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Loss tha				General	Very happy	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
25 to 34			Male happiness	Pretty happy	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
35 to 44		Gender			Not too happy	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
🔳 45 to 54				General	Very happy	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
🔳 55 to 64 📃			Female	happiness	Pretty happy	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
65 or older					Not too happy	nnnn	nnnn.n%	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$
Define Summary Statistics N% Summary Statistics Position: Columns Sig Lategories and Totals Source: Row Variables								
			OK		aste <u>R</u> es	et Car	ncel	Help

You select the variables and summary measures that will appear in your tables on the Table tab in the table builder.

Variable list. The variables in the data file are displayed in the top left pane of the window. Custom Tables distinguishes between two different measurement levels for variables and handles them differently depending on the measurement level:

Categorical. Data with a limited number of distinct values or categories (for example, gender or religion). Categorical variables can be string (alphanumeric) or numeric variables that use numeric codes to represent categories (for example, 0 = male and 1 = female). Also referred to as qualitative data. Categorical variables can be either **nominal** or **ordinal**:

- Nominal. A variable can be treated as nominal when its values represent categories with no intrinsic ranking; for example, the department of the company in which an employee works. Examples of nominal variables include region, zip code, or religious affiliation.
- Ordinal. A variable can be treated as ordinal when its values represent categories with some intrinsic ranking; for example, levels of service satisfaction from highly dissatisfied to highly satisfied. Examples of ordinal variables include attitude scores representing degree of satisfaction or confidence and preference rating scores.

Scale. Data measured on an interval or ratio scale, where the data values indicate both the order of values and the distance between values. For example, a salary of \$72,195 is higher than a salary of \$52,398, and the distance between the two values is \$19,797. Also referred to as quantitative or continuous data.

Categorical variables define categories (row, columns, and layers) in the table, and the default summary statistic is the count (number of cases in each category). For example, a default table of a categorical gender variable would simply display the number of males and the number of females.

Scale variables are typically summarized within categories of categorical variables, and the default summary statistic is the mean. For example, a default table of income within gender categories would display the mean income for males and the mean income for females.

You can also summarize scale variables by themselves, without using a categorical variable to define groups. This is primarily useful for **stacking** summaries of multiple scale variables. For more information, see "Stacking Variables" on p. 33.

Multiple Response Sets

Custom Tables also supports a special kind of "variable" called a **multiple response set**. Multiple response sets are not really variables in the normal sense. You cannot see them in the Data Editor, and other procedures do not recognize them. Multiple response sets use multiple variables to record responses to questions where the respondent can give more than one answer. Multiple response sets are treated like categorical variables, and most of the things you can do with categorical variables, you can also do with multiple response sets. For more information, see "Multiple Response Sets" in Chapter 10 on p. 175.

Measurement	Data Type					
Level	Numeric	String	Date	Time		
Scale		n/a		$\bigwedge^{(2)}$		
Ordinal		a				
Nominal		a				

An icon next to each variable in the variable list identifies the variable type.

Multiple response set, multiple categories	
Multiple response set, multiple dichotomies	

You can change the measurement level of a variable in the table builder by right-clicking the variable in the variable list and selecting Categorical or Scale from the pop-up context menu. You can permanently change a variable's measurement level in the Variable View of the Data Editor. Variables defined as **nominal** or **ordinal** are treated as categorical by Custom Tables.

Categories. When you select a categorical variable in the variable list, the defined categories for the variable are displayed in the Categories list. These categories will also be displayed on the canvas pane when you use the variable in a table. If the

variable has no defined categories, the Categories list and the canvas pane will display two placeholder categories: *Category 1* and *Category 2*.

The defined categories displayed in the table builder are based on **value labels**, descriptive labels assigned to different data values (for example, numeric values of 0 and 1, with value labels of *male* and *female*). You can define value labels in Variable View of the Data Editor or with Define Variable Properties on the Data menu in the Data Editor window.

Canvas pane. You build a table by dragging and dropping variables onto the rows and columns of the canvas pane. The canvas pane displays a preview of the table that will be created. The canvas pane does not show actual data values in the cells, but it should provide a fairly accurate view of the layout of the final table. For categorical variables, the actual table may contain more categories than the preview if the data file contains unique values for which no value labels have been defined.

- Normal view displays all of the rows and columns that will be included in the table, including rows and/or columns for summary statistics and categories of categorical variables.
- Compact view shows only the variables that will be in the table, without a preview of the rows and columns that the table will contain.

Basic Rules and Limitations for Building a Table

- For categorical variables, summary statistics are based on the innermost variable in the statistics source dimension.
- The default statistics source dimension (row or column) for categorical variables is based on the order in which you drag and drop variables into the canvas pane. For example, if you drag a variable to the rows tray first, the row dimension is the default statistics source dimension.
- Scale variables can be summarized only within categories of the innermost variable in either the row or column dimension. (You can position the scale variable at any level of the table, but it is summarized at the innermost level.)
- Scale variables cannot be summarized within other scale variables. You can stack summaries of multiple scale variables or summarize scale variables within categories of categorical variables. You cannot nest one scale variable within another or put one scale variable in the row dimension and another scale variable in the column dimension.

To Build a Table

- From the menus, choose:
 Analyze
 Tables
 Custom Tables...
- ▶ Drag and drop one or more variables to the row and/or column areas of the canvas pane.
- Click OK to create the table.

To delete a variable from the canvas pane in the table builder:

- Select (click) the variable on the canvas pane.
- ▶ Drag the variable anywhere outside the canvas pane, or press the Delete key.

To change the measurement level of a variable:

- Right-click the variable in the variable list (you can do this only in the variable list, not on the canvas).
- ► Select Categorical or Scale from the pop-up context menu.

Stacking Variables

Stacking can be thought of as taking separate tables and pasting them together into the same display. For example, you could display information on *Gender* and *Age category* in separate sections of the same table.

To Stack Variables

► In the variable list, select all of the variables you want to stack, then drag and drop them together into the rows or columns of the canvas pane.

or

Drag and drop variables separately, dropping each variable either above or below existing variables in the rows or to the right or left of existing variables in the columns.

Figure 2	2-2
Stacked	variables

		Count
Gender	Male	1232
	Female	1600
Age	Less than 25	242
category	25 to 34	627
	35 to 44	679
	45 to 54	481
	55 to 64	320
	65 or older	479

For more information, see "Stacking Categorical Variables" in Chapter 4 on p. 77.

Nesting Variables

Nesting, like crosstabulation, can show the relationship between two categorical variables, except that one variable is nested within the other in the same dimension. For example, you could nest *Gender* within *Age category* in the row dimension, showing the number of males and females in each age category.

You can also nest a scale variable within a categorical variable. For example, you could nest *Income* within *Gender*, showing separate mean (or median or other summary measure) income values for males and females.

To Nest Variables

- ▶ Drag and drop a categorical variable into the row or column area of the canvas pane.
- Drag and drop a categorical or scale variable to the left or right of the categorical row variable or above or below the categorical column variable.

Figure :	2-3	
Nested	categorical	variables

			Count
Age	Less than	Male	108
category	25	Female	134
	25 to 34	Male	276
		Female	351
	35 to 44	Male	309
		Female	370
	45 to 54	Male	221
		Female	260
	55 to 64	Male	136
		Female	184
	65 or older	Male	178
		Female	301

Figure 2-4 Scale variable nested within a categorical variable

Average Daily Number	of Hours of	Television Watched
	by	

Age Category

		Mean	Median
Age category	Less than 25	2.85	2.00
	25 to 34	2.78	2.00
	35 to 44	2.56	2.00
	45 to 54	2.58	2.00
	55 to 64	3.02	2.50
	65 or older	3.58	3.00

Note: Technically, the preceding table is an example of a categorical variable nested within a scale variable, but the resulting information conveyed in the table is essentially the same as nesting the scale variable within the categorical variable, without redundant labels for the scale variable. (Try it the other way around, and you will understand.)

For more information, see "Nesting Categorical Variables" in Chapter 4 on p. 80.

Layers

You can use layers to add a dimension of depth to your tables, creating three-dimensional "cubes." Layers are similar to nesting or stacking; the primary difference is that only one layer category is visible at a time. For example, using *Age category* as the row variable and *Gender* as a layer variable produces a table in which information for males and females is displayed in different layers of the table.

To Create Layers

- Click Layers on the Table tab in the table builder to display the Layers list.
- Drag and drop the scale or categorical variable(s) that will define the layers into the Layers list. You can also drag and drop variables onto the Layers button without displaying the Layers list.

Figure 2-5 Layered variables

Gender Female						
Ag	Age Less than 25 134					
cat	category 25 to 34		351			
		370				
	Gender Age category	Male Less than 25 25 to 34 35 to 44 45 to 54 55 to 64 65 or older	108 276 309 221 136 178	;		

You cannot mix scale and categorical variables in the Layers list. All variables must be of the same type. Multiple response sets are treated as categorical for the Layers list. Scale variables in the layers are always stacked.

If you have multiple categorical layer variables, layers can be stacked or nested.

- Show each category as a layer is equivalent to stacking. A separate layer will be displayed for each category of each layer variable. The total number of layers is simply the *sum* of the number of categories for each layer variable. For example, if you have three layer variables, each with three categories, the table will have nine layers.
- Show each combination of categories as a layer is equivalent to nesting or crosstabulating layers. The total number of layers is the *product* of the number of categories for each layer variable. For example, if you have three variables, each with three categories, the table will have 27 layers.

Showing and Hiding Variable Names and/or Labels

The following options are available for the display of variable names and labels:

- Show only variable labels. For any variables without defined variable labels, the variable name is displayed. This is the default setting.
- Show only variable names.
- Show both variable labels and variable names.
- Don't show variable names or variable labels. Although the column/row that contains the variable label or name will still be displayed in the table preview on the canvas pane, this column/row will not be displayed in the actual table.

To show or hide variable labels or variable names:

- ▶ Right-click the variable in the table preview on the canvas pane.
- Select Show Variable Label or Show Variable Name from the pop-up context menu to toggle the display of labels or names on or off. A check mark next to the selection indicates that it will be displayed.

Summary Statistics

The Summary Statistics Categorical Variables dialog box allows you to:

- Add and remove summary statistics from a table.
- Change the labels for the statistics.
- Change the order of the statistics.
- Change the format of the statistics, including the number of decimal positions.

Figure 2-6

Summary Statistics Categorical Variables dialog box

Summary Statistics: Categorical Variables					
Selected Variable: Age category					
Statistics:	<u>D</u> isplay:				
Unweighted Count	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Row N %	Count	Count	nnnn	0	
Subtable N %	Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1	_
Layer N %					•
Row Valid N %					
Column Valid N %					
└ └ Custom Summary Statistics for T	otals and Subtotals				
Statistics:	Display:				
Unweighted Count 🗾	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Row N %	Count	Count	nnnn	0	
Lolumn N & Table N %	Mean	Mean	Auto		
Subtable N %					•
Layer N %					
Mavimum 💌					
1	Apply to Selection Ar	anlu to All			

The summary statistics (and other options) available here depend on the measurement level of the summary statistics source variable. The source of summary statistics (the variable on which the summary statistics are based) is determined by:

- **Measurement level.** If a table (or a table section in a stacked table) contains a scale variable, summary statistics are based on the scale variable.
- Variable selection order. The default statistics source dimension (row or column) for categorical variables is based on the order in which you drag and drop variables onto the canvas pane. For example, if you drag a variable to the rows area first, the row dimension is the default statistics source dimension.
- **Nesting**. For categorical variables, summary statistics are based on the innermost variable in the statistics source dimension.

A stacked table may have multiple summary statistics source variables (both scale and categorical), but each table section has only one summary statistics source.

To Change the Summary Statistics Source Dimension

Select the dimension (rows, columns, or layers) from the Source drop-down list in the Summary Statistics group of the Table tab.

To Control the Summary Statistics Displayed in a Table

- Select (click) the summary statistics source variable on the canvas pane of the Table tab.
- ▶ In the Define group of the Table tab, click Summary Statistics.

or

- Right-click the summary statistics source variable on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- Select the summary statistics you want to include in the table. You can use the arrow to move selected statistics from the Statistics list to the Display list, or you can drag and drop selected statistics from the Statistics list into the Display list.
- Click the up or down arrows to change the display position of the currently selected summary statistic.
- Select a display format from the Format drop-down list for the selected summary statistic.
- Enter the number of decimals to display in the Decimals cell for the selected summary statistic.
- Click Apply to Selection to include the selected summary statistics for the currently selected variables on the canvas pane.
- Click Apply to All to include the selected summary statistics for all stacked variables of the same type on the canvas pane.

Note: Apply to All differs from Apply to Selection only for stacked variables of the same type already on the canvas pane. In both cases, the selected summary statistics are automatically included for any additional stacked variables of the same type that you add to the table.

Summary Statistics for Categorical Variables

The basic statistics available for categorical variables are counts and percentages. You can also specify custom summary statistics for totals and subtotals. These custom summary statistics include measures of central tendency (such as mean and median) and dispersion (such as standard deviation) that may be suitable for some ordinal

categorical variables. For more information, see "Custom Total Summary Statistics for Categorical Variables" on p. 43.

Count. Number of cases in each cell of the table or number of responses for multiple response sets.

Unweighted Count. Unweighted number of cases in each cell of the table.

Column percentages. Percentages within each column. The percentages in each column of a subtable (for simple percentages) sum to 100%. Column percentages are typically useful only if you have a categorical *row* variable.

Row percentages. Percentages within each row. The percentages in each row of a subtable (for simple percentages) sum to 100%. Row percentages are typically useful only if you have a categorical *column* variable.

Layer Row and Layer Column percentages. Row or column percentages (for simple percentages) sum to 100% across all subtables in a nested table. If the table contains layers, row or column percentages sum to 100% across all nested subtables in each layer.

Layer percentages. Percentages within each layer. For simple percentages, cell percentages within the currently visible layer sum to 100%. If you do not have any layer variables, this is equivalent to table percentages.

Table percentages. Percentages for each cell are based on the entire table. All cell percentages are based on the same total number of cases and sum to 100% (for simple percentages) over the entire table.

Subtable percentages. Percentages in each cell are based on the subtable. All cell percentages in the subtable are based the same total number of cases and sum to 100% within the subtable. In nested tables, the variable that precedes the innermost nesting level defines subtables. For example, in a table of *Marital status* within *Gender* within *Age category, Gender* defines subtables.

Multiple response sets can have percentages based on cases, responses, or counts. For more information, see "Summary Statistics for Multiple Response Sets" on p. 41.

Stacked Tables

For percentage calculations, each table section defined by a stacking variable is treated as a separate table. Layer Row, Layer Column, and Table percentages sum to 100% (for simple percentages) within each stacked table section. The percentage base for different percentage calculations is based on the cases in each stacked table section.

Percentage Base

Percentages can be calculated in three different ways, determined by the treatment of missing values in the computational base:

Simple percentage. Percentages are based on the number of cases used in the table and always sum to 100%. If a category is excluded from the table, cases in that category are excluded from the base. Cases with system-missing values are always excluded from the base. Cases with user-missing values are excluded if user-missing categories are excluded from the table (the default) or included if user-missing categories are included in the table. Any percentage that does not have *Valid N* or *Total N* in its name is a simple percentage.

Total N percentage. Cases with system-missing and user-missing values are added to the Simple percentage base. Percentages may sum to less than 100%.

Valid N percentage. Cases with user-missing values are removed from the Simple percentage base even if user-missing categories are included in the table.

Note: Cases in manually excluded categories other than user-missing categories are always excluded from the base.

Summary Statistics for Multiple Response Sets

The following additional summary statistics are available for multiple response sets.

Col/Row/Layer Responses %. Percentage based on responses.

Col/Row/Layer Responses % (Base: Count). Responses are the numerator and total count is the denominator.

Col/Row/Layer Count % (Base: Responses). Count is the numerator and total responses are the denominator.

Layer Col/Row Responses %. Percentage across subtables. Percentage based on responses.

Layer Col/Row Responses % (Base: Count). Percentages across subtables. Responses are the numerator and total count is the denominator.

Layer Col/RowResponses % (Base: Responses). Percentages across subtables. Count is the numerator and total responses is the denominator.

Responses. Count of responses.

Subtable/Table Responses %. Percentage based on responses.

Subtable/Table Responses % (Base: Count). Responses are the numerator and total count is the denominator.

Subtable/Table Count % (Base: Responses). Count is the numerator and total responses are the denominator.

Summary Statistics for Scale Variables and Categorical Custom Totals

In addition to the counts and percentages available for categorical variables, the following summary statistics are available for scale variables and as custom total and subtotal summaries for categorical variables. These summary statistics are not available for multiple response sets or string (alphanumeric) variables.

Mean. Arithmetic average; the sum divided by the number of cases.

Median. Value above and below which half of the cases fall; the 50th percentile.

Mode. Most frequent value. If there is a tie, the smallest value is shown.

Minimum. Smallest (lowest) value.

Maximum. Largest (highest) value.

Missing. Count of missing values (both user- and system-missing).

Percentile. You can include the 5th, 25th, 75th, 95th, and/or 99th percentiles.

Range. Difference between maximum and minimum values.

Standard error of the mean. A measure of how much the value of the mean may vary from sample to sample taken from the same distribution. It can be used to roughly compare the observed mean to a hypothesized value (that is, you can conclude that the

two values are different if the ratio of the difference to the standard error is less than -2 or greater than +2).

Standard deviation. A measure of dispersion around the mean. In a normal distribution, 68% of the cases fall within one standard deviation of the mean and 95% of the cases fall within two standard deviations. For example, if the mean age is 45, with a standard deviation of 10, 95% of the cases would be between 25 and 65 in a normal distribution (the square root of the variance).

Sum. Sum of the values.

Sum percentage. Percentages based on sums. Available for rows and columns (within subtables), entire rows and columns (across subtables), layers, subtables, and entire tables.

Total N. Count of non-missing, user-missing, and system-missing values. Does not include cases in manually excluded categories other than user-missing categories.

Valid N. Count of non-missing values. Does not include cases in manually excluded categories other than user-missing categories.

Variance. A measure of dispersion around the mean, equal to the sum of squared deviations from the mean divided by one less than the number of cases. The variance is measured in units that are the square of those of the variable itself (the square of the standard deviation).

Stacked Tables

Each table section defined by a stacking variable is treated as a separate table, and summary statistics are calculated accordingly.

Custom Total Summary Statistics for Categorical Variables

For tables of categorical variables that contain totals or subtotals, you can have different summary statistics than the summaries displayed for each category. For example, you could display counts and column percentages for an ordinal categorical row variable and display the median for the "total" statistic.

To create a table for a categorical variable with a custom total summary statistic:

► From the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...

The table builder will open.

- Drag and drop a categorical variable into the Rows or Columns area of the canvas.
- Right-click on the variable on the canvas and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Click (check) the Total check box, and then click Apply.
- Right-click the variable again on the canvas and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- Click (check) Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals, and then select the custom summary statistics you want.

By default, all summary statistics, including custom summaries, are displayed in the opposite dimension from the dimension containing the categorical variable. For example, if you have a categorical row variable, summary statistics define columns in the table, as in:

Figure 2-7

Default position of summary statistics

		Count	Mean
Confidence	1 A great deal	196	
in television	2 Only some	936	
	3 Hardly any	744	
	Total	1876	2.29

To display summary statistics in the same dimension as the categorical variable:

► On the Table tab in the table builder, in the Summary Statistics group, select the dimension from the Position drop-down list.

For example, if the categorical variable is displayed in the rows, select Rows from the drop-down list.

Figure 2-8

Categorical variable and summary statistics in the same dimension

Confidence	1 A great deal	Count	196
in television	2 Only some	Count	936
	3 Hardly any	Count	744
	Total	Count	1876
		Mean	2.29

Summary Statistics Display Formats

The following display format options are available:

nnnn. Simple numeric.

nnnn%. Percentage sign appended to end of value.

Auto. Defined variable display format, including number of decimals.

N=nnnn. Displays N= before the value. This can be useful for counts, valid N, and total N in tables where the summary statistics labels are not displayed.

(nnnn). All values enclosed in parentheses.

(nnnn)(neg. value). Only negative values enclosed in parentheses.

(nnnn%). All values enclosed in parentheses and a percentage sign appended to end of values.

n,nnn.n. Comma format. Comma used as grouping separator and period used as decimal indicator regardless of locale settings.

n.nnn,n. Dot format. Period used as grouping separator and comma used as decimal indicator regardless of locale settings.

\$n,nnn.n. Dollar format. Dollar sign displayed in front of value; comma used as grouping separator and period used as decimal indicator regardless of locale settings.

CCA, CCB, CCC, CCD, CCE. Custom currency formats. The current defined format for each custom currency is displayed in the list. These formats are defined on the Currency tab in the SPSS Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

General Rules and Limitations

With the exception of Auto, the number of decimals is determined by the Decimals column setting.

- With the exception of the comma, dollar, and dot formats, the decimal indicator used is the one defined for the current locale in your Windows Regional Options control panel.
- Although comma/dollar and dot will display either a comma or period respectively as the grouping separator, there is no display format available at creation time to display a grouping separator based on the current locale settings (defined in the Windows Regional Options control panel).

Categories and Totals

The Categories and Totals dialog box allows you to:

- Reorder and exclude categories.
- Insert subtotals and totals.
- Include or exclude empty categories.
- Include or exclude categories defined as containing missing values.
- Include or exclude categories that do not have defined value labels.

Categories and Tot	als dialog box	
Categories and Totals		
Selected Variable: Age category		E <u>x</u> clude:
2.00 25 to 3.00 35 to • 1.00300 Subto • 4.00 4.00 • 5.00 55 to • 6.00 65 or • 4.006.00 Subto New Subtotal Label: Sott Categories By	34 44 Atal < 45 54 64 64 older Hide gategories Categories omitted frr all subtotals: 0 Delete Subtotal	 Totals and Subtotals Appear Aboye categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
Show I Iotal Labgt Total	Missing Values Categories	☑ Other values <u>found</u> when data are scanned
		oly Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Figure 2-9

- This dialog box is available only for categorical variables and multiple response sets. It is not available for scale variables.
- For multiple selected variables with different categories, you cannot insert subtotals, exclude categories, or manually reorder categories. This occurs only if you select multiple variables in the canvas preview and access this dialog box for all selected variables simultaneously. You can still perform these actions for each variable separately.
- For variables with no defined value labels, you can only sort categories and insert totals.

To Access the Categories and Totals Dialog Box

▶ Drag and drop a categorical variable or multiple response set onto the canvas pane.

 Right-click the variable on the canvas pane, and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.

or

 Select (click) the variable on the canvas pane, and then click Categories and Totals in the Define group on the Table tab.

You can also select multiple categorical variables in the same dimension on the canvas pane:

• Ctrl-click each variable on the canvas pane.

or

Click outside the table preview on the canvas pane, and then click and drag to select the area that includes the variables you want to select.

or

 Right-click any variable in a dimension and select Select All [dimension] Variables to select all of the variables in that dimension.

To Reorder Categories

To manually reorder categories:

- ► Select (click) a category in the list.
- Click the up or down arrow to move the category up or down in the list.

or

 Click in the Value(s) column for the category, and drag and drop it in a different position.

To Exclude Categories

► Select (click) a category in the list.

• Click the arrow next to the Exclude list.

or

 Click in the Value(s) column for the category and drag and drop it anywhere outside the list.

If you exclude any categories, any categories without defined value labels will also be excluded.

To Sort Categories

You can sort categories by data value, value label, cell count, or summary statistic in ascending or descending order.

- ► In the Sort Categories group, click the By drop-down list and select the sort criterion you want to use: value, label, count, or summary statistic (such as mean, median, or mode). The available summary statistics for sorting depends on the summary statistics you have selected to display in the table.
- Click the Order drop-down list to select the sort order (ascending or descending).

Sorting categories is not available if you have excluded any categories.

Subtotals

- Select (click) the category in the list that is the last category in the range of categories that you want to include in the subtotal.
- ► To show only a subtotal and suppress the display of the categories that define the subtotal, select Hide subtotaled categories.
- ► Click Insert. You can also modify the subtotal label text.

Totals

• Click the Total check box. You can also modify the total label text.

If the selected variable is nested within another variable, totals will be inserted for each subtable.

Display Position for Totals and Subtotals

Totals and subtotals can be displayed above or below the categories included in each total.

- If Below is selected in the Totals and Subtotals Appear group, totals appear above each subtable, and all categories above and including the selected category (but below any preceding subtotals) are included in each subtotal.
- If Above is selected in the Totals and Subtotals Appear group, totals appear below each subtable, and all categories below and including the selected category (but above any preceding subtotals) are included in each subtotal.

Important: You should select the display position for subtotals before defining any subtotals. Changing the display position affects all subtotals (not just the currently selected subtotal), and it also *changes the categories included in the subtotals*.

Custom Total and Subtotal Summary Statistics

You can display statistics other than "totals" in the Totals and Subtotals areas of the table using the Summary Statistics dialog box. For more information, see "Summary Statistics for Categorical Variables" on p. 39.

Note: If you select multiple custom total statistics that are also in the body of the table and you hide the statistics labels, then the totals are resorted into the same order as in the body of the table—and since the labels aren't displayed, you may not know what each total statistic actually represents. In general, selecting multiple statistics and hiding the statistics labels is probably not a good idea.

Totals, Subtotals, and Excluded Categories

Cases from excluded categories are not included in the calculation of totals.

Missing Values, Empty Categories, and Values without Value Labels

Missing values. This controls the display of **user-missing** values, or values defined as containing missing values (for example, a code of 99 to represent "not applicable" for pregnancy in males). By default, user-missing values are excluded. Select (check) this option to include user-missing categories in tables. Although the variable may contain more than one missing value category, the table preview on the canvas will display only one generic missing value category. All defined user-missing categories will

be included in the table. System-missing values (empty cells for numeric variables in the Data Editor) are always excluded.

Empty categories. Empty categories are categories with defined value labels but no cases in that category for a particular table or subtable. By default, empty categories are included in tables. Deselect (uncheck) this option to exclude missing categories from the table.

Other values found when data are scanned. By default, category values in the data file that do not have defined value labels are automatically included in tables. Deselect (uncheck) this option to exclude values without defined value labels from the table. If you exclude any categories with defined value labels, categories without defined value labels are also excluded.

Tables of Variables with Shared Categories (Comperimeter Tables)

Surveys often contain many questions with a common set of possible responses. You can use stacking to display these related variables in the same table, and you can display the shared response categories in the columns of the table.

To Create a Table for Multiple Variables with Shared Categories

- Drag and drop the categorical variables from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas. The variables should be **stacked**. For more information, see "Stacking Variables" on p. 33.
- ▶ From the Category Position drop-down list, select Row labels in columns.

936

744

Figure 2-10

television

Stacked variables with shared response categories in co						
	A great deal	Only some	Hardly any			
Confidence in banks & financial institutions	490	1068	306			
Confidence in education	511	1055	315			
Confidence in major companies	500	1078	243			
Confidence in medicine	844	864	167			
Confidence in press	176	878	808			
Confidence in						

196

olumns

For more information, see "Tables for Variables with Shared Categories" in Chapter 6 on p. 111.

Customizing the Table Builder

Unlike standard dialog boxes, you can change the size of the table builder in the same way that you can change the size of any standard window:

 Click and drag the top, bottom, either side, or any corner of the table builder to decrease or increase its size.

On the Table tab, you can also change the size of the variable list, the Categories list, and the canvas pane.

- Click and drag the horizontal bar between the variable list and the Categories list to make the lists longer or shorter. Moving it down makes the variable list longer and the Categories list shorter. Moving it up does the reverse.
- Click and drag the vertical bar between the variable list and Categories list from the canvas pane to make the lists wider or narrower. The canvas automatically resizes to fit the remaining space.

Custom Tables: Options Tab

The Options tab allows you to:

- Specify what is displayed in empty cells and cells for which statistics cannot be computed.
- Control how missing values are handled in the computation of scale variable statistics.
- Set minimum and/or maximum data column widths.
- Control the treatment of duplicate responses in multiple category sets.

53

Figure 2-11 Custom Tables dialog box, Options tab

🗖 Custom Tables	- D 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Options	
Data Cell Appearance	Width for Data Columns
Empty Cells: ⊙ <u>Z</u> ero	● TableLook settings
O <u>B</u> lank	<u>○</u> <u>C</u> ustom
O <u>I</u> ext:	Minimum: 36
	Maximum: 72
Statistics that Cannot be Computed:	Units: Points
Missing Values for Scale Variables	
 Maximize use of available data (variable-by-variable deletion) 	O Use consistent case base across scale variables (listwise deletion)
Count <u>d</u> uplicate responses for multiple category	sets
OK Past	e <u>R</u> eset Cancel Help

Data Cell Appearance. Controls what is displayed in empty cells and cells for which statistics cannot be computed.

- Empty cells. For table cells that contain no cases (cell count of 0), you can select one of three display options: zero, blank, or a text value that you specify. The text value can be up to 255 characters long.
- Statistics that Cannot be Computed. Text displayed if a statistic cannot be computed (for example, the mean for a category with no cases). The text value can be up to 255 characters long. The default value is a period (.).

Width for Data Columns. Controls minimum and maximum column width for data columns. This setting does not affect columns widths for row labels.

- **TableLook settings.** Uses the data column width specification from the current default TableLook. You can create your own custom default TableLook to use when new tables are created, and you can control both row label column and data column widths with a TableLook.
- Custom. Overrides the default TableLook settings for data column width. Specify the minimum and maximum data column widths for the table and the measurement unit: points, inches, or centimeters.

Missing Values for Scale Variables. For tables with two or more scale variables, controls the handling of missing data for scale variable statistics.

- Maximize use of available data (variable-by-variable deletion). All cases with valid values for each scale variable are included in summary statistics for that scale variable.
- Use consistent case base across scale variables (listwise deletion). Cases with missing values for any scale variables in the table are excluded from the summary statistics for all scale variables in the table.

Count duplicate responses for multiple category sets. A duplicate response is the same response for two or more variables in the multiple category set. By default, duplicate responses are not counted, but this may be a perfectly valid condition that you do want to include in the count (such as a multiple category set representing the manufacturer of the last three cars purchased by a survey respondent).

Custom Tables: Titles Tab

The Titles tab controls the display of titles, captions, and corner labels.

```
Figure 2-12
```

Custom Tables dialog box, Titles tab

	192 Date	Time	BY Table Evoression
=			+ 5 Table <u>E</u> xpression
<u>⊞ T</u> itle:			
ä[I able Expression]			
aption:			
■ Corner:			
■ C <u>o</u> mer: &[Current Date]			
'∎ Corner: &[Current Date]			
'⊞ C <u>o</u> mer: &[Current Date]			
■ Corner: &[Current Date]			
Comer: &[Current Date] To ensure that correr to Nesteri in Table Proper	ext is displayed in the ta	ble, check that Row	Dimension Labels is set to Tablel onk

Title. Text that is displayed above the table.

Caption. Text that is displayed below the table and above any footnotes.

Corner. Text that is displayed in the upper left corner of the table. Corner text is displayed only if the table contains row variables and if the pivot table row dimension label property is set to Nested. This is *not* the default TableLook setting.

For more information, see "Changing the Default TableLook" in Chapter 12 on p. 209.

You can include the following automatically generated values in the table title, caption, or corner label:

Date. Current year, month, and day displayed in a format based on your current Windows Regional Options settings.

Time. Current hour, minute, and second displayed in a format based on your current Windows Regional Options settings.

Table Expression. Variables used in the table and how they are used in the table. If a variable has a defined variable label, the label is displayed. In the generated table, the following symbols indicate how variables are used in the table:

- + indicates stacked variables.
- > indicates nesting.
- **BY** indicates crosstabulation or layers.

Custom Tables: Test Statistics Tab

The Test Statistics tab allows you to request various significance tests for your custom tables, including:

- Chi-square tests of independence.
- Tests of the equality of column means.
- Tests of the equality of column proportions.
- Significance tests for multiple response sets and subtotals. (For information on significance testing for multiple response sets, see "Significance Testing with Multiple Response Sets" on p. 185.)

These tests are not available for tables in which category labels are moved out of their default table dimension.

Figure 2-13

Custom Tables dialog box, Test Statistics tab

🗌 Custom Tables 🛛 🔤 🗳					
Table Titles Test Statistics Options					
✓ Iests of independence (Chi-square) △lpha: 0.05					
Compare column means (t-tests) Alpha: 0.05 Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bonferroni method)					
Estimate variance only from the categories compared (always done for multiple response variables)					
Compare column proportions (z-tests) Alpha: 0.05					
Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bonferroni method)					
☐ ∐se subtotals in place of subtotaled categories ☑ Include multiple response variables in tests					
Chi-square and column proportions tests apply to tables in which categorical variables exist in both the rows and columns.					
Column means tests apply to tables in which scale variables exist in the rows and categorical variables exist in the columns.					
None of the tests is performed on multiple response variables or tables in which category labels are moved out of their default table dimension.					
Totals are excluded from all tests. Subtotals are included only if the categories to which they apply are hidden.					
OK Paste Reset Cancel Help					

Tests of independence (Chi-square). This option produces a chi-square test of independence for tables in which at least one category variable exists in both the rows and columns. You can also specify the alpha level of the test, which should be a value greater than 0 and less than 1.

Compare column means (t-tests). This option produces pairwise tests of the equality of column means for tables in which at least one category variable exists in the columns and at least one scale variable exists in the rows. You can select whether the p values of the tests are adjusted using the Bonferroni method. You can also specify the alpha level of the test, which should be a value greater than 0 and less than 1. Finally, while the variance for the means test is always based on just the categories compared for multiple response tests, for ordinary categorical variables it can be estimated from just the categories compared or all categories.

Compare column proportions (z-tests). This option produces pairwise tests of the equality of column proportions for tables in which at least one category variable exists in both the columns and rows. You can select whether the p values of the tests are adjusted

using the Bonferroni method. You can also specify the alpha level of the test, which should be a value greater than 0 and less than 1.

Use subtotals in place of subtotaled categories. If selected, then each subtotal replaces its categories for significance testing. Otherwise, only subtotals for which the subtotaled categories are hidden replace their categories for testing.

Include multiple response variables. If selected, tests are performed using categories of multiple response sets. Otherwise multiple response sets are ignored when performing tests.

Simple Tables for Categorical Variables

Most tables you want to create will probably include at least one **categorical variable**. A categorical variable is one with a limited number of distinct values or categories (for example, gender or religion). Categorical variables can be either **nominal** or **ordinal**:

- Nominal. A variable can be treated as nominal when its values represent categories with no intrinsic ranking; for example, the department of the company in which an employee works. Examples of nominal variables include region, zip code, or religious affiliation.
- Ordinal. A variable can be treated as ordinal when its values represent categories with some intrinsic ranking; for example, levels of service satisfaction from highly dissatisfied to highly satisfied. Examples of ordinal variables include attitude scores representing degree of satisfaction or confidence and preference rating scores.

Measurement	Data Type					
Level	Numeric	String	Date	Time		
Scale		n/a		\bigotimes		
Ordinal		a				
Nominal		a				

An icon next to each variable in the variable list identifies the variable type.

Custom Tables is optimized for use with categorical variables that have defined **value labels**. For more information, see "Building Tables" in Chapter 2 on p. 29.

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorialsample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

All examples provided here display variable labels in dialog boxes, sorted in alphabetical order. Variable list display properties are set on the General tab in the Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

A Single Categorical Variable

Although a table of a single categorical variable may be one of the simplest tables you can create, it may often be all you want or need.

► From the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...
► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.

A preview of the table is displayed on the canvas pane. The preview doesn't display actual data values; it displays only placeholders where data will be displayed.

Figure 3-1



🗖 Custom Tables				- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Options]			
⊻ariables		Norm <u>a</u> l 듣	Compact	Layers
1st mentioned c A 1st mentioned c A 2nd mentioned c A 3rd mentioned c Age category [a		Cj	<u>p</u> lumns	
Age of responde			Count	
Belief in life after		Less than 25	i nnnn	
Carmaker most		25 to 34	nnnn	
		35 to 44	nnnn	
	vye calegoly	45 to 54	nnnn	
Lace them 2E		55 to 64	nnnn	
25 to 34		65 or older	nnnn	
35 to 44				
Define Ng Summary Statistics P St Categories and Totals Statistics	ummary Statisl Position: Colu Source: Row	iics mn ♥ □ Ŀ Va ♥	lide Default	Position:
ОК	<u>P</u> aste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help

• Click OK to create the table.

The table is displayed in the Viewer window.

Figure 3-2 Single categorical variable in rows

		Count
Age	Less than 25	242
category	25 to 34	627
	35 to 44	679
	45 to 54	481
	55 to 64	320
	65 or older	479

In this simple table, the column heading *Count* isn't really necessary, and you can create the table without this column heading.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Select (click) Hide for Position in the Summary Statistics group.
- Click OK to create the table.

Single categorical variable without summary statistics column label

Age	Less than 25	242
category	25 to 34	627
	35 to 44	679
	45 to 54	481
	55 to 64	320
	65 or older	479

Percentages

In addition to counts, you can also display percentages. For a simple table of a single categorical variable, if the variable is displayed in rows, you probably want to look at column percentages. Conversely, for a variable displayed in columns, you probably want to look at row percentages.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Deselect (uncheck) Hide for Position in the Summary Statistics group. Since this table will have two columns, you want to display the column labels so you know what each column represents.
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.

Figure 3-3

Simple Tables for Categorical Variables

Figure 3-4 Right-click context menu on canvas pane Summary Statistics ... Categories and Totals ... Swap Row and Column Variables Select All Column Variables Select All Column Variables Undo Change Summaries Visibility Can't Repeat Delete Show Variable Name ✓ Show Variable Label

- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Column N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ▶ In the Label cell in the Display list, delete the default label and type Percent.

Figure 3-5

,						
Summary Statistics: Cate	gorical V	ariables				× 🗵
Selected Variable: Age catego	Ŋ					
S <u>t</u> atistics:		<u>D</u> isplay:				
Unweighted Count	^	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Row N %		Count	Count	חחחח	0	
Lable N %		Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1	_
Laver N %						
Row Valid N %						
Column Valid N %						
Custom Summary Statistic	cs for Totals	and Subtotals				
Statistics:		Display:				
Unweighted Count	<u>~</u>	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
How N %		Count	Count	nnnn	0	
Table N %	I ↓					
Subtable N %						
Layer N %						
Mavimum		1				
L						
	And	lu to Selection			Help	
	CAP	NY TO DEIECTION			Teib	

Summary Statistics Categorical Variables dialog box

• Click Apply to Selection and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 3-6

Counts a	nd column	percentages
----------	-----------	-------------

		Count	Percent
Age	Less than 25	242	8.6%
category	25 to 34	627	22.2%
	35 to 44	679	24.0%
	45 to 54	481	17.0%
	55 to 64	320	11.3%
	65 or older	479	16.9%

Totals

Totals are not automatically included in custom tables, but it's easy to add totals to a table.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► Right-click *Age category* on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- ► Select (click) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box.

Simple Tables for Categorical Variables

regories and re	ıtals	
elected Variable: Ag	je category	
Dieplau		E <u>x</u> clude:
Dispidy		
🔬 Value(s	Label	
1.00	Less than 25	
2.00	25 to 34	
3.00	35 to 44	
4.00	45 to 54	
5.00	55 to 64	
6.00	65 or older	
- Sort Categories-		 Below categories to which they apply
<u>By</u> : Value	✓ <u>O</u> rder: Ascending ✓	
By: Value Show I Iotal Labgl: Total	Qrder: Ascending ✓ Ascending ✓	Other values found when data are scanned

Figure 3-7 Categories and Totals dialog box

• Click Apply and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 3-8

Counts, column percentages, and totals

		Count	Percent
Age	Less than 25	242	8.6%
category	25 to 34	627	22.2%
	35 to 44	679	24.0%
	45 to 54	481	17.0%
	55 to 64	320	11.3%
	65 or older	479	16.9%
	Total	2828	100.0%

For more information, see "Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables" in Chapter 5 on p. 95.

Crosstabulation

Crosstabulation is a basic technique for examining the relationship between two categorical variables. For example, using *Age category* as a row variable and *Gender* as a column variable, you can create a two-dimensional crosstabulation that shows the number of males and females in each age category.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to delete any previous selections in the table builder.
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.
- Drag and drop *Gender* from the variable list to the Columns area on the canvas pane. (You may have to scroll down through the variable list to find this variable.)

Figure 3-9



Crosstabulation in table builder canvas preview

• Click OK to create the table.

Simple Tables for Categorical Variables

		Gender	
		Male	Female
		Count	Count
Age	Less than 25	108	134
category	25 to 34	276	351
	35 to 44	309	370
	45 to 54	221	260
	55 to 64	136	184
	65 or older	178	301

Figure 3-10 *Crosstabulation of Age category and Gender*

Percentages in Crosstabulations

In a two-dimensional crosstabulation, both row and column percentages may provide useful information.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ▶ Right-click *Gender* on the canvas pane.

You may notice that Summary Statistics is disabled in the pop-up context menu. This is because you can only select summary statistics for the innermost variable in the statistics source dimension. The default statistics source dimension (row or column) for categorical variables is based on the order in which you drag and drop variables onto the canvas pane. In this example, we dragged *Age category* to the rows dimension first—and since there aren't any other variables in the rows dimension, *Age category* is the statistics source variable. You can change the statistics source dimension, but in this example, you don't need to do that. For more information, see "Summary Statistics" in Chapter 2 on p. 37.

- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Column N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- Select Row N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- Click Apply to Selection and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Chapter 3	3
-----------	---

		Gender					
		Male			Female		
	Count Column N % Row N % Count Column N %			Count Column N % Row N %			Row N %
Age	Less than 25	108	8.8%	44.6%	134	8.4%	55.4%
category	25 to 34	276	22.5%	44.0%	351	21.9%	56.0%
	35 to 44	309	25.2%	45.5%	370	23.1%	54.5%
	45 to 54	221	18.0%	45.9%	260	16.3%	54.1%
	55 to 64	136	11.1%	42.5%	184	11.5%	57.5%
	65 or older	178	14.5%	37.2%	301	18.8%	62.8%

Figure 3-11						
Crosstabulation	with	row	and	column	percentage	s

Controlling Display Format

You can control the display format, including the number of decimals displayed in summary statistics. For example, by default percentages are displayed with one decimal and a percent sign. But what if you want the cell values to show two decimals and no percent sign?

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► For the two selected percentage summary statistics (Column N % and Row N %), select nnnn.n from the Format drop-down list and type 2 in the Decimals cell for both of them.

Simple Tables for Categorical Variables

Figure 3-12 Summary Statistics dialog box

Summary Statistics: Categorical Variables 🛛 🛛 👔						
Selected Variable: Age category						
S <u>t</u> atistics:		<u>D</u> isplay:				
Unweighted Count 📉		Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Table N %		Count	Count	nnnn	0	
Subtable IN %		Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.nn%	2	
Bow Valid N %		Row N %	Row N %	nnnn.nn%	2	
Column Valid N %						
Table Valid N %						
Custom Summary Statistics for	Fotals	and Subtotals				
Statistics:		Display:				
Unweighted Count		Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Row N %		Count	Count	nnnn	0	
Ladie N. & Subtable N. %		Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1	
Layer N % Maximum Maan	An	lu to Selection	niv to All	Close I	Help	•
				<u>_</u>		

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 3-13

Formatted cell display for row and column percentages

		Gender						
		Male				Female		
		Count	Column N %	Row N %	Count	Column N %	Row N %	
Age	Less than 25	108	8.79	44.63	134	8.38	55.37	
category	25 to 34	276	22.48	44.02	351	21.94	55.98	
	35 to 44	309	25.16	45.51	370	23.13	54.49	
	45 to 54	221	18.00	45.95	260	16.25	54.05	
	55 to 64	136	11.07	42.50	184	11.50	57.50	
	65 or older	178	14.50	37.16	301	18.81	62.84	

Marginal Totals

It's fairly common in crosstabulations to display **marginal totals**—totals for each row and column. Since these aren't included in Custom Tables by default, you need to explicitly add them to your tables.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to delete any previous selections in the table builder.

- ▶ In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.
- Drag and drop *Gender* from the variable list to the Columns area on the canvas pane. (You may have to scroll down through the variable list to find this variable.)
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Select (click) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box and then click Apply.
- Right-click *Gender* on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Select (click) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box and then click Apply.
- Select (click) Hide for Position in the Summary Statistics group. (Since you're displaying only counts, you don't need to identify the "statistic" displayed in the data cells of the table.)
- Click OK to create the table.

Figure 3-14

Crosstabulation with marginal totals

		Gender		
		Male	Female	Total
Age	Less than 25	108	134	242
category	25 to 34	276	351	627
	35 to 44	309	370	679
	45 to 54	221	260	481
	55 to 64	136	184	320
	65 or older	178	301	479
	Total	1228	1600	2828

Sorting and Excluding Categories

By default, categories are displayed in the ascending order of the data values that the category value labels represent. For example, although value labels of *Less than 25*, *25 to 34*, *35 to 44*, ..., etc., are displayed for age categories, the actual underlying data values are 1, 2, 3, ..., etc., and it is those underlying data values that control the default display order of the categories.

You can easily change the order of the categories and also exclude categories that you don't want displayed in the table.

Simple Tables for Categorical Variables

Sorting Categories

You can manually rearrange categories or sort categories in ascending or descending order of:

- Data values.
- Value labels.
- Cell counts.
- Summary statistics. The available summary statistics for sorting depends on the summary statistics you have selected to display in the table.
- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► If *Age category* isn't already displayed in the Rows area on the canvas pane, drag and drop it there.

 Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.

Both data values and the associated value labels are displayed in the current sort order, which in this case is still ascending order of data values.

Figure 3-15

Categories and Total	ls — —	
Selected Variable: Age c	ategory	
C Display		E <u>x</u> clude:
🔬 Value(s)	Label	
1.00	Less than 25	
2.00	25 to 34	
3.00	35 to 44 🔹	•
4.00	45 to 54	
5.00	55 to 64	
6.00	65 or older	
Labet: Subtotal	■ Hide <u>c</u> ategories all subtotals: 0 nsert ■	 Above categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
Lab <u>e</u> l: Total	→ Missing Values → Empty categories →	☑ Other values <u>f</u> ound when data are scanned
		Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Default category order, ascending by data values

- In the Sort Categories group, select Descending from the Order drop-down list.
 The sort order is now reversed.
- ► Select Labels from the By drop-down list.

The categories are now sorted in descending alphabetical order of the value labels.

Simple Tables for Categorical Variables

			als	egories and Tota
			category	ected Variable: Age
	Exclude:			
				ispiay
		1	La	Value(s)
			65 or older	6.00
			55 to 64	5.00
			45 to 54	4.00
			35 to 44	3.00
			25 to 34	2.00
			Less than 25	1.00
tegories to whicł y	 Below categorie they apply 	er; Descending 🗸		Sort Categories
es <u>f</u> ound are scanned	Other values four when data are sc	'alues V Empty categories	<u>Missin</u>	how Diotal Lab <u>e</u> i: Total
e	Other valu when data	alues Categories	<u>M</u> issin	Iotal Lab <u>e</u> l: Total

Figure 3-16 Descending alphabetical sort order

Notice that the category labeled *Less than 25* is at the top of the list. In alphabetical sorting, letters come after numbers. Since this is the only label that starts with a letter and since the list is sorted in descending (reverse) order, this category sorts to the top of the list.

If you want a particular category to appear at a different location in the list, you can easily move it.

- ▶ Click the category labeled *Less than 25* in the Label list.
- Click the down arrow to the right of the list. The category moves down one row in the list.
- Keep clicking the down arrow until the category is at the bottom of the list.

Figure 3-17

Manually arranged categories

Categories and Total	S	🔀
Selected Variable: Age c	ategory	
Display		E <u>x</u> clude:
💎 Value(s)	Label	
6.00	65 or older	
5.00	55 to 64	-
4.00	45 to 54	▼ 4
3.00	35 to 44	
2.00	25 to 34	
1.00	Less than 25	
Label: Subtotal	□ Hide categories all subtotals: 0 nsert Delete Subtotal □ Pelete Subtotal □ □ Order: Descending	 Above categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
Show	Missing Values	✓ Other values <u>f</u> ound when data are scanned
	Арр	y Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Excluding Categories

If there are some categories that you don't want to appear in the table, you can exclude them.

- Click the category labeled *Less than 25* in the Label list.
- Click the arrow key to the left of the Exclude list.
- Click the category labeled 65 or older in the Label list.

• Click the arrow key to the left of the Exclude list again.

The two categories are moved from the Display list to the Exclude list. If you change your mind, you can easily move them back to the Display list.

Figure 3-18 Manually excluded categories

Categories and Total	\$	
Selected Variable: Age c	ategory	
- Display		E <u>x</u> clude:
Value(s)	Label	65 or older
5.00	55 to 64	
4.00	45 to 54	
3.00	35 to 44	
2.00	25 to 34	
New Subtotal	Hide categories Categories omitted from all subtotals: 0 nsert Delete Subtotal Image: Categories omitted from all subtotals: 0 Delete Subtotal Image: Categories omitted from all subtotals: 0 Delete Subtotal Image: Categories omitted from all subtotals: 0 Delete Subtotal	 Totals and Subtotals Appear Above categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
Show Iotal Lab <u>e</u> l: Total	<u> </u>	Uther values found when data are scanned
		Cancel <u>H</u> elp

• Click Apply and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 3-19				
Table sorted by descending	value label,	some	categories	excluded

		Gender		
		Male	Female	Total
Age	55 to 64	136	184	320
category	45 to 54	221	260	481
	35 to 44	309	370	679
	25 to 34	276	351	627
	Total	942	1165	2107

Notice that the totals are lower than they were before the two categories were excluded. This is because totals are based on the categories included in the table. Any excluded categories are excluded from the total calculation. For more information, see "Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables" in Chapter 5 on p. 95.

Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

Stacking, nesting, and layers are all methods for displaying multiple variables in the same table. This chapter focuses on using these techniques with categorical variables, although they can also be used with scale variables.

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorialsample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

All examples provided here display variable labels in dialog boxes, sorted in alphabetical order. Variable list display properties are set on the General tab in the Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

Stacking Categorical Variables

Stacking can be thought of as taking separate tables and pasting them together into the same display. For example, you could display information on *Gender* and *Age category* in separate sections of the same table.

► From the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...

▶ In the table builder, drag and drop *Gender* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.

▶ Drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area below *Gender*.

The two variable are now stacked in the row dimension.

Figure 4-1

Stacked categorical variables displayed on the canvas pane

🗖 Custom Tables				-	- 🗆 🛛	
Table Titles Test Statistics	Opti	ons				
⊻ariables	Normal 🗄 Compact 🗈 Layers					
1st mentioned c 1st mentioned 2nd mentioned 3rd mentioned c Age category [a				C <u>o</u> lumns		
Age of respond				Count]	
🛛 \delta Belief in life afte		Condex	Male	nnnn]	
Born in this cou		Gender	Female	nnnn		
Car maker, most	lows		Less than 25	nnnn		
Car maker, most Y			25 to 34	nnnn		
Categories:	14		35 to 44	nnnn		
Less than 25	ΙΓ	Age categoly	45 to 54	nnnn		
25 to 34			55 to 64	nnnn		
🔳 35 to 44			65 or older	nnnn		
📕 45 to 54 🛛 🔽						
Define N _% Summary Statistics 8: Categories and Totals		Summary Stati Position: Col Source: Ro	stics umns 💌 w Variables 💟	<u>H</u> ide	Category Position: Default	
OK Paste Beset Cancel Help						

► Click OK to create the table.

Figure 4-2

Table of categorical variables stacked in rows

		Count
Gender	Male	1232
	Female	1600
Age	Less than 25	242
category	25 to 34	627
	35 to 44	679
	45 to 54	481
	55 to 64	320
	65 or older	479

You can also stack variables in columns in a similar fashion.

78

Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

Stacking with Crosstabulation

A stacked table can include other variables in other dimensions. For example, you could crosstabulate two variables stacked in the rows with a third variable displayed in the column dimension.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► If *Age category* and *Gender* aren't already stacked in the rows, follow the directions above for stacking them.
- Drag and drop Get news from internet from the variable list to the Columns area on the canvas pane.
- ► Click OK to create the table.

Figure 4-3

Two stacked row variables crosstabulated with a column variable

		Get news from internet		
		No	Yes	
		Count	Count	
Gender	Male	873	359	
	Female	1092	508	
Age	Less than 25	146	96	
category	25 to 34	368	259	
	35 to 44	435	244	
	45 to 54	346	135	
	55 to 64	252	68	
	65 or older	416	63	

Note: There are several variables with labels that start with *Get news from* ..., so it may be difficult to distinguish between them in the variable list (since the labels may be too wide to be displayed completely in the variable list). There are two ways to see the entire variable label:

- Position the mouse pointer on a variable in the list to display the entire label in a pop-up ToolTip.
- Click and drag the vertical bar that separates the variable and Categories lists from the canvas pane to make the lists wider.

Figure 4-4

Variable list widened to display complete variable labels

Custom Tables					-		
Table Titles Test Statistics Opti	ons						
⊻ariables	b.	🛅 Nor	mal 岩 Comp	pact 🗋	Laye	rs	
Country of family origin [e 📐			Colu	mns		^	
Favor or oppose death p				Get news fro	om inte		
General happiness [happu]				No	Yı	8	
Get news from internet [Count	Co	_ 8	
Get news from news ma		Candar	Male	nnnn			
🗧 \overline 🐻 Get news from newspap		Gender	Female	nnnn			
💰 Get news from radio [ne 🔽	OW/S		Less than 25	nnnn			
	Ē		25 to 34	nnnn		6	
Categories:		- A	35 to 44	nnnn			
No No		Age category	45 to 54	nnnn			
Ves 📕			55 to 64	nnnn		×	
	<						
Define N _% Summary Statistics	Define Summary Statistics N _% Summary Statistics Columns I Hide Category Position:						
SS Categories and Totals	Sou	rce: Row Varia	•	Default		~	
		Paste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Hel	p	

Nesting Categorical Variables

Nesting, like crosstabulation, can show the relationship between two categorical variables, except that one variable is nested within the other in the same dimension. For example, you could nest *Gender* within *Age category* in the row dimension, showing the number of males and females in each age category.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to delete any previous selections in the table builder.
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.
- Drag and drop Gender from the variable list to the right of Age category in the Rows area.

The preview on the canvas pane now shows that the nested table will contain a single column of counts, with each cell containing the number of males or females in each age category.

Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

Custom Tables	e Onti	one				_			
Variables		0113		🔲 Norm <u>a</u> l	🗄 Compact	Laye	ers		
Country of famil	Π					Count	^		
Gender [sex]			Less than 25	Gender	Male	nnnn			
General happin 📃			251-24		Female Male	nnnn nnnn			
Get news from	Age category -	25 to 34	Liender	Female	nnnn				
Get news from r		Age category ·	Age cate	Sows	35 to 44	Gender	Male Female	nnnn	=
Categories:				Age category	45 to 54	Gender	Male	nnnn	
Male					55 to 64	Gender	Male	nnnn	
				Condor	Female	nnnn			
			65 or older	Gender	Female	nnnn			
	<			1111		>]		
Define Summary Statistics Columns Lide Category Position: Default % Categories and Totals Source: Row Variables Default Mediate									
		OK	<u>P</u> aste	• <u>R</u> e	set Car	ncel He	lp		

Figure 4-5 Gender nested within Age category

You may notice that the variable label *Gender* is displayed repeatedly, once for each age category. You can minimize this kind of repetition by placing the variable with the fewest categories at the outermost level of the nesting.

• Click the variable label *Gender* on the canvas pane.

• Drag and drop the variable as far to the left in the Rows area as you can.

Now instead of *Gender* being repeated six times, *Age category* is repeated twice. This is a less-cluttered table that will produce essentially the same results.

Figure 4-6

Age category nested within Gender in table builder preview

Custom Tables	Onti					-	
Variables	. opu	UIIS		Norm <u>a</u> l	岩 Compact	lay	ers
Country of famil	Π					Count	^
Favor or oppos					Less than 25	nnnn	
General happin					25 to 34	nnnn	
Get news from i					35 to 44	nnnn	
Get news from			Male	Age category	45 to 54	nnnn	
💰 Get news from					55 to 64	nnnn	
🛛 💑 Get news from r 🔽	[⊗] Gender –					65 or older	nnnn
		Gender			Less than 25	nnnn	
Lategories:					25 to 34	nnnn	
Male Fomalo				Female	Age category	35 to 44	nnnn
				i cindic	Age categoly	45 to 54	nnnn
			55 to 64		55 to 64	nnnn	
					65 or older	nnnn	
	<			1111			•]
Define N ₂ Summary Statistics		Summary St	atistics	~	Hide Categ	gory Position:	
88 <u>C</u> ategories and Totals		Source: F	Row Variables	~	Defa	ult	~
		OK		iste <u>R</u> esi	et Can	cel H	elp

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 4-7

Table of Age category nested within Gender

				Count
Gender	Male	Age	Less than 25	108
		category	25 to 34	276
			35 to 44	309
			45 to 54	221
			55 to 64	136
			65 or older	178
	Female	Age	Less than 25	134
		category	25 to 34	351
			35 to 44	370
			45 to 54	260
			55 to 64	184
			65 or older	301

Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

Suppressing Variable Labels

Another solution to redundant variable labels in nested tables is simply to suppress the display of variable names or labels. Since the value labels for both *Gender* and *Age category* are probably sufficiently descriptive without the variable labels, we can eliminate the labels for both variables.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and deselect (uncheck) Show Variable Label on the pop-up context menu.
- Do the same for *Gender*.

Figure 4-8

Suppressing variable labels via the context menu in the table builder



The variable labels are still displayed in the table preview, but they won't be included in the table.

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 4-9			
Nested table	without	variable	labels

		Count
Male	Less than 25	108
	25 to 34	276
	35 to 44	309
	45 to 54	221
	55 to 64	136
	65 or older	178
Fernale	Less than 25	134
	25 to 34	351
	35 to 44	370
	45 to 54	260
	55 to 64	184
	65 or older	301

If you want the variable labels included with the table somewhere—without displaying them multiple times in the body of the table—you can include them in the table title or corner label.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► Click the Titles tab.
- ► Click anywhere in the Title text box.
- Click Table Expression. The text &[Table Expression] is displayed in the Title text box. This will generate a table title that includes the variable labels for the variables used in the table.
- Click OK to create the table.

Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

Gender > Age category					
		Count			
Male	Less than 25	108			
	25 to 34	276			
	35 to 44	309			
	45 to 54	221			
	55 to 64	136			
	65 or older	178			
Female	Less than 25	134			
	25 to 34	351			
	35 to 44	370			
	45 to 54	260			
	55 to 64	184			
	65 or older	301			

Figure 4-10 Variable labels in table title Gender > Age category

The greater than sign (>) in the title indicates that *Age category* is nested within *Gender*.

Nested Crosstabulation

A nested table can contain other variables in other dimensions. For example, you could nest *Age category* within *Gender* in the rows and crosstabulate the nested rows with a third variable in the column dimension.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► If *Age category* isn't already nested within *Gender* in the rows, follow the directions above for nesting them.
- Drag and drop Get news from internet from the variable list to the Columns area on the canvas pane.

You may notice that the table is too large to display completely on the canvas pane. You can scroll up/down or right/left on the canvas pane to see more of the table preview, or:

- Click Compact in the table builder to see a compact view. This displays only the variable labels, without any information on categories or summary statistics included in the table.
- Increase the size of the table builder by clicking and dragging any of the sides or corners of the table builder.

Figure 4-11 Compact view on the canvas pane

🔤 Custom Tables		×
Table Titles Test Statistics Variables Image: Constraint of the state of the	Options III Normal III Compact IL Layers	7
Confidence in p Confidence in t Contry of famil Country of armil Favor or oppos Gender (sex) General happin Get news from Categories: No Yes	Columns	
Define N _% Summary Statistics Stategories and Totals	Source: Row Variables	
	OK <u>P</u> aste <u>R</u> eset Cancel Help	

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 4-12 Nested crosstabulation

				Get news fr	om internet
				No	Yes
				Count	Count
Gender	Male	Age	Less than 25	59	49
		category	25 to 34	159	117
			35 to 44	217	92
			45 to 54	169	52
			55 to 64	112	24
			65 or older	155	23
	Female	Age	Less than 25	87	47
		category	25 to 34	209	142
			35 to 44	218	152
			45 to 54	177	83
			55 to 64	140	44
			65 or older	261	40

Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

Swapping Rows and Columns

What do you do if you spend a lot of time setting up a complex table and then decide it's absolutely perfect—except that you want to switch the orientation, putting all of the row variables in the columns and vice versa? For example, you've created a nested crosstabulation with *Age category* and *Gender* nested in the rows, but now you want these two demographic variables nested in the columns instead.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click anywhere on the canvas pane and select Swap Row and Column Variables from the pop-up context menu.



Swapping row and column variables



The row and column variables have now been switched.

Before creating the table, let's make a few modifications to make the display less cluttered.

► Select Hide to suppress the display of the summary statistics column label.

- ▶ Right-click *Gender* on the canvas pane and deselect (uncheck) Show Variable Label.
- ▶ Now click OK to create the table.

Figure 4-14

Crosstabulation with demographic variables nested in columns

Male								Fen	nale				
	Age category							Age ca	tegory				
Less 25 to than 25 34			25 to 34	35 to 44	45 to 54	55 to 64	65 or older	Less than	25 to 34	35 to 44	45 to 54	55 to 64	65 or older
Get news from	No	59	159	217	169	112	155	87	209	218	177	140	261
internet	Yes	49	117	92	52	24	23	47	142	152	83	44	40

Layers

You can use layers to add a dimension of depth to your tables, creating three-dimensional "cubes." Layers are, in fact, quite similar to nesting or stacking; the primary difference is that only one layer category is visible at a time. For example, using *Age category* as the row variable and *Gender* as a layer variable produces a table in which information for males and females is displayed in different layers of the table.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to delete any previous selections in the table builder.
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.
- Click Layers at the top of the table builder to display the Layers list.
- Drag and drop *Gender* from the variable list to the Layers list.

Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

Custom Tables					
Table Titles Test Statistic	x Opt	tions			
<u>V</u> ariables			ľ	🔝 Normal 📇 C	Compact 🔽 Layers
Confidence in Confidence in Confidence in p Confidence in t			C <u>o</u> lumr	18	Layers
Favor or oppos				Count	
Gender [sex]			Less than 25	nnnn	
General happin			25 to 34	nnnn	
Categories:	200	Age esterory	35 to 44	nnnn	CLayer Output
Male		Age categoly	45 to 54	nnnn	Show each
Female		_	55 to 64	nnnn	layer
			65 or older	nnnn	
					categories as a layer
Define		- Summary Stat	istics		
N _% Summary Statistics		Position: Co	lumns	Y 🗌 <u>H</u> ide	Category Position:
SS Categories and Totals.		So <u>u</u> rce: Ro	w Variables	~	Default
		ОК	Paste	Reset	Cancel Help

Figure 4-15 *Age category in rows, Gender in layers*

At this point, you might notice that adding a layer variable has no visible effect on the preview displayed on the canvas pane. Layer variables do not affect the preview on the canvas pane unless the layer variable is the statistics source variable and you change the summary statistics.

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 4-16 Simple layered table

Gender Male

Figure 4-17

		Count
Age	Less than 25	108
category	25 to 34	276
	35 to 44	309
	45 to 54	221
	55 to 64	136
	65 or older	178

At first glance, this table doesn't look any different than a simple table of a single categorical variable. The only difference is the presence of the label Gender Male at the top of the table.

- Double-click the table in the Viewer window to activate it. ►
- You can now see that the label Gender Male is actually a choice in a drop-down list.
- Click the down arrow on the drop-down list to display the whole list of layers.



In this table, there is only one other choice in the list.

Select Gender Female from the drop-down list. ►

Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

Figure 4-18	
Simple layered table with	different layer displayed
Gender Female	

		Count
Age	Less than 25	134
category	25 to 34	351
	35 to 44	370
	45 to 54	260
	55 to 64	184
	65 or older	301

Two Stacked Categorical Layer Variables

If you have more than one categorical variable in the layers, you can either stack or nest the layer variables. By default, layer variables are stacked. (*Note*: If you have any scale layer variables, layer variables can only be stacked.)

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► If you don't already have *Age category* in the rows and *Gender* in the layers, follow the directions above for creating a layered table.
- ▶ Drag and drop *Highest degree* from the variable list to the Layer list below *Gender*.

Figure 4-19

Stacked layer variables in table builder

🗖 Custom Tables		- • •
Table Titles Test Statistics	Options	
<u>V</u> ariables ■	T Norma	I 🗄 Compact 🕞 Layers
Get news from i Get news from Get news from r Get news from t Happiness of m Happiness of m Highest degree Categories: LT High school	Columns Count Less than 25 Less than 25 Age category 45 to 54 55 to 64	Layers
Junior college Bachelor Graduate Missing Values	65 or older nr	inn Show each combination of categories as a layer
Define N _% Summary Statistics SC Categories and Totals	Source: Row Variables	Lide Category Position: Default
	OK <u>P</u> aste <u>F</u>	Reset Cancel Help

The two radio buttons below the Layer list in the Layer Output group are now activated. The default selection is Show each category as a layer. This is equivalent to stacking.

- ► Click OK to create the table.
- Double-click the table in the Viewer window to activate it.
- Click the down arrow on the drop-down list to display the whole list of layers.

Figure 4-20

List of stacked layers in activated pivot table



Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables

There are seven layers in the table: two layers for the two *Gender* categories and five layers for the five *Highest degree* categories. For stacked layers, the total number of layers is the sum of the number of categories for the layer variables (including any total or subtotal categories you have requested for the layer variables).

Two Nested Categorical Layer Variables

Nesting categorical layer variables creates a separate layer for each combination of layer variable categories.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- If you haven't done so already, follow the directions above for creating a table of stacked layers.
- ► In the Layer Output group, select Show each combination of categories as a layer. This is equivalent to nesting.
- Click OK to create the table.
- Double-click the table in the Viewer window to activate it.
- Click the down arrow on the drop-down list to display the whole list of layers.

Figure 4-21

List of nested layers in activated pivot table



There are 10 layers in the table (you have to scroll through the list to see all of them), one for each combination of *Gender* and *Highest degree*. For nested layers, the total number of layers is the *product* of the number of categories for each layer variable (in this example, $5 \times 2 = 10$).

Printing Layered Tables

By default, only the currently visible layer is printed. To print all layers of a table:

- Double-click the table in the Viewer window to activate it.
- From the Viewer window menus, choose:
 Format Table Properties...
- ► Click the Printing tab.
- ► Select Print all layers.

You can also save this setting as part of a TableLook, including the default TableLook.

Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables

You can include both totals and subtotals in custom tables. Totals and subtotals can be applied to categorical variables at any nesting level in any dimension—row, column, or layer.

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorialsample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

All examples provided here display variable labels in dialog boxes, sorted in alphabetical order. Variable list display properties are set on the General tab in the Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

Simple Total for a Single Variable

► From the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...

- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and choose Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Column N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ▶ In the Label cell in the Display list, delete the default label and type Percent.

- ► Click Continue.
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Select (click) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box.

Figure 5-1

-				
Categories	and	Totals	dialog	box

Categories and Tota	s	S
Selected Variable: Age c	ategory	
- Displau		E <u>x</u> clude:
Dispidy		
∠ Value(s)	Label	
1.00	Less than 25	
2.00	25 to 34	
3.00	35 to 44	
4.00	45 to 54	
5.00	55 to 64	
6.00	65 or older	
New Subtotal Label: Subtotal Sort Categories By: Value	Hide gategories Categories omitted from all subtotals: 0 nset Delete Subtotal ✓ Order: Ascending	 Totals and Subtotals Appear Above categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
Show	Missing Values ✓ Empty categories	✓ Other values <u>found</u> when data are scanned
		Cancel <u>H</u> elp

• Click Apply and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 5-2

Simple total for a single categorical variable

		Count	Percent
Age	Less than 25	242	8.6%
category	25 to 34	627	22.2%
	35 to 44	679	24.0%
	45 to 54	481	17.0%
	55 to 64	320	11.3%
	65 or older	479	16.9%
	Total	2828	100.0%
Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables

What You See Is What Gets Totaled

Totals are based on categories displayed in the table. If you choose to exclude some categories from a table, cases from those categories are not included in total calculations.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Click the category labeled *Less than 25* in the Label list.
- Click the arrow key to the left of the Exclude list.
- Click the category labeled 65 or older in the Label list.
- Click the arrow key to the left of the Exclude list again.

The two categories are moved from the Display list to the Exclude list.

Figure 5-3 Manually excluded categories

ategories and Tota	าเร	
Selected Variable: Age	category	
		Exclude:
- Display		Less than 25
Value(s)	Label	65 or older
5.00	55 to 64	
4.00	45 to 54	
3.00	35 to 44 🔹	
2.00	25 to 34	
Labet: Subtotal	Hide gategories Categories omitted from all subtotals: 0 Inset Delete Subtotal	 Above categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
Show Iotal Labgi: Total	☐ <u>M</u> issing Values	□ Other values <u>f</u> ound when data are scanned
		Cancel <u>H</u> elp

• Click Apply and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 5-4

Total in table with excluded categories

		Count	Percent
Age	25 to 34	627	29.8%
category	35 to 44	679	32.2%
	45 to 54	481	22.8%
	55 to 64	320	15.2%
	Total	2107	100.0%

The total count in this table is only 2,107, compared to 2,828 when all of the categories are included. Only the categories that are used in the table are included in the total. (The percentage total is still 100% because all of the percentages are based on the total number of cases used in the table, not the total number of cases in the data file.)

Display Position of Totals

By default, totals are displayed below the categories being totaled. You can change the display position of totals to show them above the categories being totaled.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- ▶ In the Totals and Subgroups Appear group, select Above.
- Click Apply and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 5-5 *Total displayed above totaled categories*

		Count	Percent
Age	Total	2107	100.0%
category	25 to 34	627	29.8%
	35 to 44	679	32.2%
	45 to 54	481	22.8%
	55 to 64	320	15.2%

Totals for Nested Tables

Since totals can be applied to categorical variables at any level of the nesting, you can create tables that contain group totals at multiple nesting levels.

Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables

Group Totals

Totals for categorical variables nested within other categorical variables represent group totals.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ▶ Drag and drop *Gender* to the left of *Age category* on the canvas pane.
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.

Before creating the table, let's move the totals back below the totaled categories.

- ▶ In the Totals and Subgroups Appear group, select Below.
- Click Apply to save the setting and return to the table builder.

Figure 5-6

🔤 Custom Tables						- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics	Optio	ons		Norm <u>a</u> l	🛱 Compact	t 🕞 Layers
Confidence in p Confidence in t Country of famil	Π.			C <u>o</u> lumns		
Favor or oppos						Count
💑 Gender (sex)					25 to 34	nnnn
General happin					35 to 44	nnnn
Get news from i			Male	Age category	45 to 54	nnnn
Get news from					55 to 64	nnnn
Categories:	NO.	Gender			Total	nnnn
Male	Г ^Ш	Gender			25 to 34	nnnn
Female				Age category	35 to 44	nnnn
			Female		45 to 54	nnnn
					55 to 64	nnnn
					Total	nnnn
- Define		-Summary Sta	tistics			
N _% Summary Statistics		Position:	olumns	× -	Hide Ca	ategory Position:
S Categories and Totals		So <u>u</u> rce: R	ow Variables	~	D	efault 💌
		OK		ste <u>R</u> eso	et C	Cancel Help

Age category nested within Gender in the table builder

• Click OK to create the table.

				Count	Percent
Gender	Male	Age	25 to 34	276	29.3%
		category	35 to 44	309	32.8%
			45 to 54	221	23.5%
			55 to 64	136	14.4%
			Total	942	100.0%
	Female	Age	25 to 34	351	30.1%
		category	35 to 44	370	31.8%
			45 to 54	260	22.3%
			55 to 64	184	15.8%
			Total	1165	100.0%

Figure 5-7 *Age category totals within Gender categories*

The table now displays two group totals: one for males and one for females.

Grand Totals

Totals applied to nested variables are always group totals, not grand totals. If you want totals for the entire table, you can apply totals to the variable at the outermost nesting level.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click *Gender* on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Select (click) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box.
- Click Apply and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables

				Count	Percent
Gender	Male	Age	25 to 34	276	29.3%
		category	35 to 44	309	32.8%
			45 to 54	221	23.5%
			55 to 64	136	14.4%
			Total	942	100.0%
	Female	Age	25 to 34	351	30.1%
		category	35 to 44	370	31.8%
			45 to 54	260	22.3%
			55 to 64	184	15.8%
			Total	1165	100.0%
	Total	Age	25 to 34	627	29.8%
		category	35 to 44	679	32.2%
			45 to 54	481	22.8%
			55 to 64	320	15.2%
			Total	2107	100.0%

Figure 5-8 Grand totals for a nested table

Notice that the grand total is only 2,107, not 2,828. Two age categories are still excluded from the table, so the cases in those categories are excluded from all totals.

Layer Variable Totals

Totals for layer variables are displayed as separate layers in the table.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Layers in the table builder to display the Layers list.
- Drag and drop *Gender* from the row area on the canvas pane to the Layers list.

Figure 5-9

Layer variable in table builder

Custom Tables						- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics	Opt	ions				
<u>V</u> ariables →				Norm <u>al</u> 🗄 C	o <u>m</u> pact	Layers
Confidence in p A Confidence in t Country of famil	$\left[\right]$		C <u>o</u> lur	nns		Layers Gender
General happin				Count		
Get news from			25 to 34	nnnn		
	S.V		35 to 44	nnnn	Ľ	- Lauer Output
Categories:	ĉ	Age category	45 to 54	nnnn		Show each
Male		-	55 to 64	nnnn		category as a
Tomas			Totai	nnn		Show each combination of categories as a layer
Define	_	- Summary Stati	istics			
N _{% Summary Statistics}		Position: Co	lumns	✓ <u>H</u> ide	Ca	tegory Position:
SS Categories and Totals		Source: Ro	w Variables	~	De	efault 💌
		OK	<u>P</u> ast	e <u>R</u> eset) 🗌 C	ancel Help

Note: Since you already specified totals for *Gender*, you don't need to do so now. Moving the variable between dimensions does not affect any of the settings for that variable.

- Click OK to create the table.
- Double-click the table in the Viewer to activate it.
- Click the down arrow in the Layer drop-down list to display a list of all the layers in the table.

There are three layers in the table: Gender Male, Gender Female, and Gender Total.

Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables

		- / -			
[Layer	Gender Tota	•		
		Gender Male			Percent
	Age	Gender Fem	ale	76	29.3%
	category	Gender Tota		09	32.8%
		45 to 54	2	21	23.5%
		55 to 64	1	36	14.4%
		Total	9	942	100.0%

Figure 5-10 Total layer in Layer list in activated pivot table

Display Position of Layer Totals

For layer variable totals, the display position (above or below) for totals determines the layer position for the totals. For example, if you specify Above for a layer variable total, the total layer is the first layer displayed.

Subtotals

You can include subtotals for subsets of categories of a variable. For example, you could include subtotals for age categories that represent all of the respondents in the sample survey under and over age 45.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to clear any previous settings in the table builder.
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- ► Select 3.00 in the Value(s) list.
- ▶ In the Label text field next to the Insert button, type Subtotal < 45.
- ► Then click Insert.

This inserts a row containing the subtotal for the first three age categories.

► Select 6.00 in the Value(s) list.

- ▶ In the Label text field next to the Insert button, type Subtotal 45+.
- ► Then click Insert.

Figure 5-11
Defining subtotals

Categories and Totals	,		
Selected Variable: Age ca	tegory		
Display			Exclude:
Value(s)	Label	^	
2.00 3.00 € 1.003.00 € 0.00 € 0.00 € 0.00 € 4.006.00 New Subtotal Labet Subtotal 45 +	25 to 34 35 to 44 Subtotal < 45 45 to 54 55 to 64 65 or older Subtotal 45 + Hide gategories	Categories omitted from all subtotals: 0	Totals and Subtotals Appear
Sort Categories	sert	Delete Subtotal	they apply Below categories to which they apply
Show Iotal Lab <u>e</u> t: Total	<u>M</u> issing V	alues 🔽 Empty categories	☑ Other values <u>found</u> when data are scanned
			Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Important note: You should select the display position for totals and subtotals (Above or Below) before defining any subtotals. Changing the display position affects all subtotals (not just the currently selected subtotal), and it also *changes the categories included in the subtotals*.

• Click Apply and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables

Figure 5-12 Subtotals for Age category

		Count
Age	Less than 25	242
category	25 to 34	627
	35 to 44	679
	Subtotal < 45	1548
	45 to 54	481
	55 to 64	320
	65 or older	479
	Subtotal 45+	1280

What You See Is What Gets Subtotaled

Just like totals, subtotals are based on the categories included in the table.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.

Note: The value (not the label) displayed for the first subtotal is 1.00...3.00, indicating that the subtotal includes all of the values in the list between 1 and 3.

- Select 1.00 in the Value(s) list (or click the label *Less than 25*).
- Click the arrow key to the left of the Exclude list.

Categories and Total	i	
Selected Variable: Age ca	Label	E <u>x</u> clude: Less than 25
2.00 3.00 € 2.003.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 € 4.006.00		•
New Subtotal Label: Subtotal 45+	Hide categories omitted from all subtotals: 0	Totals and Subtotals Appear Aboye categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
By:	V Order: Ascending V	
✓ <u>I</u> otal Lab <u>e</u> l: Total	☐ <u>M</u> issing Values	Other values <u>f</u> ound when data are scanned

The first age category is now excluded, and the value displayed for the first subtotal changes to 2.00...3.00, indicating the fact that the excluded category will not be included in the subtotal because subtotals are based on the categories included in the table. Excluding a category automatically excludes it from any subtotals, so you cannot, for example, display only subtotals without the categories on which the subtotals are based.

Hiding Subtotaled Categories

You can suppress the display of the categories that define a subtotal and display only the subtotal, effectively "collapsing" categories without affecting the underlying data.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to clear any previous settings in the table builder.
- ▶ In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list to the Rows area on the canvas pane.

- Right-click Age category on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- ► Select 3.00 in the Value(s) list.
- ▶ In the Label text field next to the Insert button, type Less than 45.
- Select (check) Hide subtotaled categories.
- ► Then click Insert.

This inserts a row containing the subtotal for the first three age categories.

- ► Select 6.00 in the Value(s) list.
- ▶ In the Label text field next to the Insert button, type 45 or older.
- Select (check) Hide subtotaled categories.
- ► Then click Insert.
- ▶ To include a total with the subtotals, select (check) Total at the bottom of the dialog box.

Figure 5-14 Hiding subtotaled categories

Categories and Total	s		
Selected Variable: Age c	ategory		
Display			E <u>x</u> clude:
Value(s)	Label	^	
2.00	25 to 34		•
3.00	35 to 44		-
	Less than 45		▼ ▶
4.00	45 to 54	≡	
5.00	55 to 64		
6.00	65 or older		
+ 4.006.00	45 or older		
Label: 45 or older	V Hide categories	all subtotals: 0	Above categories to which they apply Below categories to which they apply
Show ✓ Iotal Lab <u>e</u> l: Total	<u>M</u> issing V	alues 🔽 Empty categories	s Other values <u>f</u> ound when data are scanned
			pply Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Totals and Subtotals for Categorical Variables

► Click Apply.

The canvas reflects the fact that subtotals will be displayed but the categories that define the subtotals will be excluded.

Figure 5-15

Canvas displaying subtotals without subtotaled categories

Custom Tables		- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics	Options	
<u>V</u> ariables	🖽 Normal 🗄 Com	pact 🚺 Layers
1 st mentioned c 2nd mentioned 3rd mentioned Age of respond Belief in life afte Born in this cou Car maker, mos Categories: Less than 25 25 to 34 35 to 44 45 to 54 55 to 64 65 or older	Columns Image: Column transmitted strength Age category 45 or older Nnnn Total	Lavers
Define N% Summary Statistics % Categories and Totals	Summary Statistics Position: Columns Hide Source: Row Variables	Category Position: Default
	OK <u>P</u> aste <u>R</u> eset	Cancel Help

• Click OK to produce the table.

Figure 5-16

Table displaying only subtotals and totals

		Count
Age	Less than 45	1548
category	45 or older	1280
	Total	2828

Layer Variable Subtotals

Just like totals, subtotals for layer variables are displayed as separate layers in the table. Essentially, the subtotals are treated as categories. Each category is a separate layer in the table, and the display order of the layer categories is determined by the category order specified in the Categories and Totals dialog box, including the display position of the subtotal categories.

Tables for Variables with Shared Categories

Surveys often contain many questions with a common set of possible responses. For example, our sample survey contains a number of variables concerning confidence in various public and private institutions and services, all with the same set of response categories: 1 = A great deal, 2 = Only some, and 3 = Hardly any. You can use stacking to display these related variables in the same table—and you can display the shared response categories in the columns of the table.

Figure 6-1

Table of variables with shared categories

	A great deal	Only some	Hardly any
Confidence in banks & financial institutions	490	1068	306
Confidence in education	511	1055	315
Confidence in major companies	500	1078	243
Confidence in medicine	844	864	167
Confidence in press	176	878	808
Confidence in television	196	936	744

Note: In the previous version of Custom Tables, this was known as a "table of frequencies."

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorial\sample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

All examples provided here display variable labels in dialog boxes, sorted in alphabetical order. Variable list display properties are set on the General tab in the Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

Table of Counts

► From the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...

- ► In the variable list in the table builder, click *Confidence in banks...* and then Shift-click *Confidence in television* to select all of the "confidence" variables. (*Note*: This assumes that variable labels are displayed in alphabetical order, not file order, in the variable list.)
- Drag and drop the six confidence variables to the Rows area on the canvas pane.

Tables for Variables with Shared Categories

Custom Tables	otions				- 0
<u>V</u> ariables			Mormal	🛛 🛱 Compact	Layers
Car maker, second car Car maker, third car [c			Co	lumns	
📶 Confidence in educati 💻	ΙΠ			Count	
Confidence in major c		Confidence	in Agreat deal	nnnn	
Confidence in medicin		banks &	Only some	nnnn	=
Confidence in press [c		institutions	Hardly any	nnnn	
Country of family origin			A great deal	nnnn	
		education	e in Only some	nnnn	
Categories:			Hardly any	nnnn	
📕 A great deal		Confidence in	e in A great deal	nnnn	
Only some	8	major .	Only some	nnnn	
Hardly any	- No	companies	Hardly any	nnnn	
Missing Values			A great deal	nnnn	
		medicine	^{, in} Only some	nnnn	~
Define N _% Summary Statistics % Categories and Totals	-Su Po S	mmary Statistic osjtion: Colum ource: Row \	ns V	<u>H</u> ide Cat <u>ego</u> Defau	ry Position: It

Figure 6-2

This stacks the variables in the row dimension. By default, the category labels for each variable are also displayed in the rows, resulting in a very long, narrow table (6 variables x 3 categories = 18 rows)—but since all six variables share the same defined category labels (value labels), you can put the category labels in the column dimension.

▶ From the Category Position drop-down list, select Row Labels in Columns.

Now the table has only six rows, one for each of the stacked variables, and the defined categories become columns in the table.

► Before creating the table, select (click) Hide for Position in the Summary Statistics group, since the summary statistic label *Count* isn't really necessary.

Figure 6-3

Category labels in columns

Custom Tables					-0
Table Titles Test Statistics Op	otions				
⊻ariables	F		Norm <u>a</u> l	🗄 Compact	Layers
Car maker, second car			C	Columns	
Confidence in press [c			A great deal	Only some	Hardly any
Confidence in televisio		Confidence	nnnn	nnnn	nnnn
Country of family origin 💽	2	Confidence	nnnn	nnnn	nnnn
Categories:	ŝ	Confidence	nnnn	nnnn	nnnn
A great deal		Confidence	nnnn	nnnn	nnnn
Only some		Confidence	nnnn	nnnn	nnnn
Hardly any Missing Values		Connidence			
Define N _% Summary Statistics S Categories and Totals	Sun Pos So	imary Statistics ition: Columns urce: Row Varia	bles	▼ <u>H</u> ide Ca Ro	tegory Position: ow Labels in Column 🎽
	0	K <u>P</u> a	ste <u>R</u> e	eset C	ancel Help

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 6-4

Table of stacked row variables with shared category labels in columns

	A great deal	Only some	Hardly any
Confidence in banks & financial institutions	490	1068	306
Confidence in education	511	1055	315
Confidence in major companies	500	1078	243
Confidence in medicine	844	864	167
Confidence in press	176	878	808
Confidence in television	196	936	744

Instead of displaying the variables in the rows and categories in the columns, you could create a table with the variables stacked in the columns and the categories displayed in the rows. This might be a better choice if there were more categories than variables, whereas in our example there are more variables than categories.

Table of Percentages

Figure 6-5

For a table with variables stacked in rows and categories displayed in columns, the most meaningful (or at least easiest to understand) percentage to display is row percentages. (For a table with variables stacked in the columns and categories displayed in the rows, you would probably want column percentages.)

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click any one of the confidence variables in the table preview on the canvas pane and choose Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- Select Row N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow button to move it to the Display list.
- Click any cell in the *Count* row in the Display list and click the arrow button to move it back to the Statistics list, removing it from the Display list.

Row percentage	es sele	cted				
Summary Statistics: Ca	tegorical	Variables				×
Selected Variable: Confiden	ce in banks_	financial institutions				
Statistics:		<u>D</u> isplay:				
Count	~	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Unweighted Count		Row N %	Row N %	nnnn.n%	1	
Table N % Subtable N % Layer N % Row Valid N %	~					*
Statistics:	istics for Tota	ils and Subtotals Display:				
Unweighted Count	<u>^</u>	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Column N %		Count	Count	nnnn	0	
Table N % Subtable N % Layer N % Maximum						•
	A	pply to <u>S</u> election A	pply to <u>All</u>	Close	Help	

 Click Apply to All to apply the summary statistic change to all of the stacked variables in the table.

Figure 6-6

Row percentages in table preview on canvas pane

Custom Tables Table Test Statistics Op	tions					
Variables Car maker, second car ▲ Car maker, third car [c Confidence in banks &				Morm <u>a</u> l	Dompact	
Confidence in major c				A great deal	Only some	Hardly any
Confidence in televisio			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
😽 Country of family origin 👽			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
	0.00		Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
Categories:	L I m		Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
📕 A great deal		F	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
Only some Hardly any Missing Values			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
Define N _% Summary Statistics S Categories and Totals	Po S	imi osji	nary Statistics ion: Columns rce: Row Varia	bles 💙	✓ <u>H</u> ide Ca	tegory Position: ww.Labels in Column 💙
(OK	<u>P</u> a	ste <u>R</u> e	eset C	ancel Help

Note: If your table preview doesn't look like this figure, you probably clicked Apply to Selection instead of Apply to All, which applies the new summary statistic only to the selected variable. In this example, that would result in two columns for each category: one with count placeholders displayed for all of the other variables and one with a row percentage placeholder displayed for the selected variable. This is exactly the table that would be produced but *not* the one that we want in this example.

• Click OK to create the table.

Tables for Variables with Shared Categories

Figure 6-7

Table of row percentages for variables stacked in rows, categories displayed in columns

	A great deal	Only some	Hardly any
Confidence in banks & financial institutions	26.3%	57.3%	16.4%
Confidence in education	27.2%	56.1%	16.7%
Confidence in major companies	27.5%	59.2%	13.3%
Confidence in medicine	45.0%	46.1%	8.9%
Confidence in press	9.5%	47.2%	43.4%
Confidence in television	10.4%	49.9%	39.7%

Note: You can include any number of summary statistics in a table of variables with shared categories. Our examples show only one at a time to keep them simple.

Totals and Category Control

You can create tables with categories in the opposite dimension from the variables only if all of the variables in the table have the same categories, displayed in the same order. This includes totals, subtotals, and any other category adjustments you make. This means that any modifications you make in the Categories and Totals dialog box must be made for all variables in the table that share the categories.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click the first confidence variable in the table preview on the canvas pane and choose Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Select (check) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box and then click Apply.

Figure 6-8

Probably not the results you want

🗖 Custom Tables					- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Or	otions				
⊻ariables	•		🖽 Norma	I 🗄 Compact	Layers
Car maker, second car Car maker, third car [c Confidence in banks &		Confidence in banks & financial	A great deal Only some Hardly any	nnnn.n% nnnn.n% nnnn.n%	
Confidence in major c		institutions	Total A great deal	nnnn.n%	
Confidence in press [c		Confidence in education	Only some	nnnn.n%	=
Country of family origin		Confidence in	A great deal	nnnn.n%	
Categories:	SMO	major companies	Only some Hardly any	nnnn.n% nnnn.n%	
 Only some Hardly any 	-	Confidence in	A great deal Only some	nnnn.n% nnnn.n%	
Missing Values		medicine	Hardly any	nnnn.n%	
		Confidence in	A great deal	nnnn.n%	~
Define	Sum	mary Statistics			ingon Position
 №% Summary Statistics S Categories and Totals 	Sou	tion: Columns (rce: Row Varia	ables 🕑	✓ <u>H</u> ide De	egory Hosmon:
	01	<u></u>	ste <u>F</u>	<u>R</u> eset Ca	ancel Help

The first thing you'll probably notice is that the category labels have moved from the columns back to the rows. You may also notice that the Category Position control is now disabled. This is because the variables no longer share the exact same set of "categories." One of the variables now has a total category.

- Right-click any one of the confidence variables on the canvas pane and select Select All Row Variables from the pop-up context menu—or Ctrl-click each stacked variable on the canvas pane until they are all selected (you may have to scroll down the pane or expand the table builder window).
- Click Categories and Totals in the Define group.
- ► If Total isn't already selected (checked) in the Categories and Totals dialog box, select it now and then click Apply.
- ► The Category Position drop-down list should be enabled again, since now all of the variables have the additional total category, so select Row Labels in Columns.

Tables for Variables with Shared Categories

able Titles Test Statistics Optic	ins				
(ariables		Ē	Norm <u>a</u> l 믐	Co <u>m</u> pact	Layer
Car maker, third car [car3] Confidence in banks & f Confidence in educatio Confidence in major co Confidence in major co			C <u>o</u> lumns		
Confidence in press [co		A great deal	Only some	Hardly any	Total
Country of family origin [Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
🔠 Country of origin multi 🔽	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
Categories:	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
A great deal	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
Hardly any Missing Values	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%
	<		1111		
Define	Summary Statisti	cs			
N _% Summary Statistics	Position: Colur	nns	🖌 🖂 Ні	ide Category	Position:
88 <u>C</u> ategories and Totals	Source: Row	Variables	~	Row Lab	els in Column

Figure 6-9 *Categories and totals in columns*

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 6-10

Table of row percentages for variables stacked in rows, categories and totals displayed in columns

	A great deal	Only some	Hardly any	Total
Confidence in banks & financial institutions	26.3%	57.3%	16.4%	100.0%
Confidence in education	27.2%	56.1%	16.7%	100.0%
Confidence in major companies	27.5%	59.2%	13.3%	100.0%
Confidence in medicine	45.0%	46.1%	8.9%	100.0%
Confidence in press	9.5%	47.2%	43.4%	100.0%
Confidence in television	10.4%	49.9%	39.7%	100.0%

Nesting in Tables with Shared Categories

In nested tables, the stacked variables with the shared categories must be at the innermost nesting level of their dimension if you want to display the category labels in the opposite dimension.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Drag and drop *Gender* from the variable list to the left side of the Rows area.

⊻ariables			1	Norm <u>a</u> l 듣	Compact	Laya	ers		
💑 Country of family ori 📐							^		
Country of origin m				A great deal	Only some	Hardly any			
Gender [sex]			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	1		
General happiness [Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%			
Get news from inter			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	1		
💑 Get news from news		Male	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%			
Get news from news			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%			
💑 Get news from radio 🔽	C		Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	≣		
	Gender		Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%			
Lategories:			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%			
Male		Female	Female	Female	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	
Female		i enidie	Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%			
			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%			
			Confidence	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n%			
	<					>			
Define	Summary	Statistics							
N% Summary Statistics	Position:	Columns		✓ ✓ H	ide Catego	ry Position:			
SCategories and Totals	Source:	Row Variables		~	Row L	abels in Columr	1 ~		

Figure 6-11 Nested variables with shared categories

The stacked variables with shared categories are now nested within gender categories in the table preview.

► Now drag and drop *Gender* to the right of one of the stacked confidence variables in the table preview.

Tables for Variables with Shared Categories



Figure 6-12 Another example of results you probably do not want

Once again, the category labels have reverted back to the row dimension, and the Category Position control is disabled. You now have one stacked variable that also has *Gender* nested within it, while the other stacked variables contain no nested variables. You could add *Gender* as a nested variable to each of the stacked variables, but then moving row labels to columns would result in the category labels for *Gender* being displayed in the columns, not the category labels for the stacked variables with the shared categories. This is because *Gender* would now be the innermost nested variable, and changing the category position always applies to the innermost nested variable.

Summary Statistics

Summary statistics include everything from simple counts for categorical variables to measures of dispersion, such as the standard error of the mean for scale variables. It does *not* include significance tests available on the Test Statistics tab in the Custom Tables dialog box. For more information, see "Test Statistics" in Chapter 9 on p. 155.

Summary statistics for categorical variables and multiple response sets include counts and a wide variety of percentage calculations, including:

- Row percentages
- Column percentages
- Subtable percentages
- Table percentages
- Valid N percentages

In addition to the summary statistics available for categorical variables, summary statistics for scale variables and custom total summaries for categorical variables include:

- Mean
- Median
- Percentiles
- Sum
- Standard deviation
- Range
- Minimum and maximum values

Additional summary statistics are available for multiple response sets. For more information, see "Counts, Responses, Percentages, and Totals" in Chapter 10 on p. 175. A complete list of summary statistics is also available. For more information, see "Summary Statistics" in Chapter 2 on p. 37.

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorialsample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

All examples provided here display variable labels in dialog boxes, sorted in alphabetical order. Variable list display properties are set on the General tab in the Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

Summary Statistics Source Variable

Available summary statistics depend on the measurement level of the summary statistics source variable. The source of summary statistics (the variable on which the summary statistics are based) is determined by:

- Measurement level. If a table (or a table section in a stacked table) contains a scale variable, summary statistics are based on the scale variable.
- Variable selection order. The default statistics source dimension (row or column) for categorical variables is based on the order in which you drag and drop variables onto the canvas pane. For example, if you drag a variable to the rows area first, the row dimension is the default statistics source dimension.
- **Nesting**. For categorical variables, summary statistics are based on the innermost variable in the statistics source dimension.

A stacked table may have multiple summary statistics source variables (both scale and categorical), but each table section has only one summary statistics source.

Summary Statistics Source for Categorical Variables

► From the menus, choose: Analvze

Tables Custom Tables...

- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.
- Right-click on Age category on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu. (Since this is the only variable in the table, it is the statistics source variable.)
- ▶ In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select *Column N* % in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.

Figure 7-1

Summary Statistics dialog box for categorical variables

Statistics:		<u>D</u> isplay:			
Unweighted Count	<u>^</u>	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
HOW N %		Count	Count	nnnn	0
Subtable N %		Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1
Laver N %					
D					
How Valid N 🐁					
Flow Valid N %	*				
Flow Valid N & Column Valid N %	~				
Column Valid N %	istics for Total	s and Subtotals			
Colump Valid N %	istics for Total	s and Subtotals			
now valid N & Column Valid N જ] Custom Summary Stati tatjstics: Unweighted Count	istics for Total	s and Subtotals Display: Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
now valid N % Column Valid N % Column Valid N % Custom Summary Stati tatjstics: Unweighted Count Row N %	istics for Total	s and Subtotals Display: Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
Column Valid N % Column Valid N % Custom Summary Stati tatistics: Unweighted Count Row N % Column N %	istics for Total	s and Subtotals Display: Statistic Count	Label Count	Format	Decimals 0
Column Valid N % Column Valid N % Column Valid N % Column Summary Stati Italistics: Unweighted Count Row N % Column N % Table N %	istics for Total	is and Subtotals Display Statistic Count	Label Count	Format	Decimals 0
now Valid N & Cutron Valid N & Cutron Summary Stati italjeics: Unweighted Count Row N & Column N & Table N & Subtable N &	istics for Total	s and Subtotals Display Count	Label Count	Format	Decimals 0
Tow valid N % Column Valid N % Custom Summary Stati Statistics: Unweighted Count Row N % Column N % Table N % Subtable N % Subtable N %	istics for Total	is and Subtotals Display: Statistic Count	Label Count	Format	Decimals 0

- Click Apply to Selection.
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Get news from internet* to the right of *Age category* on the canvas pane.

Figure 7-2

Custom Tables								- 0	
able Titles Test Statistic	s Opti	ons							
<u>V</u> ariables					Norm <u>a</u> l	🗍 🔡 Compa	act 🗋	Layers	
Get news from i 🔺				(Columns				
Get news from						Count	Column N %		
Set news from t			1	Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Happiness of m			Less than 25	from internet	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
💑 Have gun in ho			25 to 34	Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
🚽 Highest degree			2010/04	from internet	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
🖋 Highest year of 🔽	Bows	8		35 to 44	Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%	=
Colonarian		Áge categoru		from internet	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Lategories:			45 to 54	Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
				from internet	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
103			55 to 64	Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
				from internet	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
			65 or older	Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
	-			from internet	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%	~	
_ Define		~ Summary Stati	istics						
N ₂ Summary Statistics		Position: Co	lumps		~	Hide	Category Position	6	
88 Categories and Totals		Source: Ro	w Variables		~		Default	~	
ι									

- Right-click on Age category on the canvas pane again. The Summary Statistics item on the context menu is now disabled because Age category is not the innermost nested variable in the statistics source dimension.
- ► Right-click on *Get news from internet* on the canvas pane. The Summary Statistics item is enabled because it is now the summary statistics source variable, since it is the innermost nested variable in the statistics source dimension. (Since the table has only one dimension—rows—it is the statistics source dimension.)
- ► Drag and drop *Get news from internet* from the Rows area on the canvas pane into the Columns area.



Figure 7-3 *Crosstabulated categorical variables*

Right-click on *Get news from internet* on the canvas pane again. The Summary Statistics item on the pop-up context menu is now disabled because the variable is no longer in the statistics source dimension.

Age category is once again the statistics source variable because the default statistics source dimension for categorical variables is the first dimension where you put variables when creating the table. In this example, the first thing we did was put variables in the row dimension. Thus, the row dimension is the default statistics source dimension; and since *Age category* is now the only variable in that dimension, it is the statistics source variable.

Summary Statistics Source for Scale Variables

► Drag and drop the scale variable *Hours per day watching TV* to the left of *Age category* in the Rows area of the canvas pane.

Figure 7-4

Crosstabulation with scale summary statistics variable

Custom Tables						- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Opti	ons					
<u>V</u> ariables			Norm	al 🗄 Comp	act 🗋	<u>L</u> ayers
Highest degree 🔺			C <u>o</u> lumns			
Wighest year sc				Get news f	rom internet	
Highest year sc				No	Yes	
Hours per day				Mean	Mean	
How get paid la			Less than 25	nnnn	nnnn	
🖉 🔗 How many gran			25 to 34	nnnn	nnnn	
🔄 🗾 How often does 🔽 🛛 🎽	Hours per day		35 to 44	nnnn	nnnn	
	watching TV	ngo oalogoiy	45 to 54	nnnn	nnnn	
Categories:			55 to 64	nnnn	nnnn	
No categories (scale			65 or older	nnnn	nnnn	
Define	- Summary Stati	stics				
№ <u>% S</u> ummary Statistics	Position: Col	lumns	~	Hide	Category Position	on:
SS Categories and Totals	Source: Ro	w Variables	*		Default	~
		ок	Paste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help

The first thing you may notice is that the *Count* and *Column N* % summaries have been replaced with *Mean*—and if you right-click on *Hours per day watching TV* on the canvas pane, you'll see that it is now the summary statistics source variable. For a table with a scale variable, the scale variable is always the statistics source variable regardless of its nesting level or dimension, and the default summary statistic for scale variables is the mean.

- ► Drag and drop *Hours per day watching TV* from the Rows area into the Columns area above *Get news from internet*.
- ► Right-click on *Hours per day watching TV* and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu. (It's still the statistics source variable even when you move it to a different dimension.)
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, click the Format cell for the mean in the Display list and select nnnn from the Format drop-down list. (You may have to scroll up the list to find this choice.)
- ▶ In the Decimals cell, type 2.

129

Figure 7-5 *Summary Statistics dialog box for scale variables*

ıle Varia	bles					×
day watch	ing TV					
	<u>D</u> is	play:				
^		Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
	Me	an	Mean	Auto		
						-
~						
	Apply to	Selection Appl	y to <u>A</u> ll Clos	e <u>H</u> e	lp	
	le Varia day watch	le Variables day watching TV Dis Dis Me Apply to	le Variables day watching TV Display: Statistic Mean Apply to Selection Apple	le Variables day watching TV Display: Statistic Label Mean Mean Apply to Selection Apply to All Clos	le Variables day watching TV Display: Statistic Label Format Mean Auto Auto	le Variables day watching TV Display: Statistic Label Format Decimals Mean Mean Auto Auto

► Click Apply to Selection.

Figure 7-6

Scale summary statistic with two decimals

Custom Tables				_				- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics	Opt	ions						
<u>V</u> ariables				Normal	🗄 Com	pact	Ō.	Layers
General happin 🔺				C <u>o</u> lumn:	S			
Get news from	_			Hours pe	r day wa	tching TV		
Get news from				Getne	ws from i	nternet		
Get news from t				No		Yes		2
Happiness of m				Mean		Mean		5
🐻 Have gun in ho			Less than 25	nnnn	.nn	nnnn.nn		
🔄 🚅 Highest degree 🔽	8		25 to 34	nnnn	.nn	nnnn.nn		
	â	Age category	35 to 44	nnnn	.nn	nnnn.nn		
Categories:			45 to 54	nnnn	.nn	nnnn.nn		
No No			55 to 64	nnnn	.nn	nnnn.nn		3
Yes			65 or older	nnnn	.nn	nnnn.nn		
Define N _% Summary Statistics % Categories and Totals		Summary State Position: Co Source: Co	istics lumns lumn Variables		Hide	Cat <u>eg</u> ory F Default	^o osition:	~
		OK)	Paste) <u>R</u> ese	et (Cancel		Help

The table preview on the canvas pane now shows that the mean values will be displayed with two decimals.

• Click OK to create the table.

Scale va	riable summ	narized wit	hin crossta
		Hours per da T	ay watching V
		Get news fr	om internet
		No	Yes
		Mean	Mean
Age	Less than 25	3.54	2.12
category	25 to 34	3.42	2.14
	35 to 44	3.00	2.01
	45 to 54	2.83	2.06
	55 to 64	3.24	2.37
	65 or older	3.82	2.33

Figure 7-7					
Scale variable	summarized	within	crosstabulated	categorical	variables

Stacked Variables

Since a stacked table can contain multiple statistics source variables and you can specify different summary statistics for each of those statistics source variables, there are a few special considerations for specifying summary statistics in stacked tables.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to clear any previous settings in the table builder.
- Click Get news from internet in the variable list and then shift-click Get news from television in the variable list to select all of the "news" variables. (Note: This assumes that variable labels are displayed in alphabetical order, not file order, in the variable list.)
- ▶ Drag and drop the five news variables into the Rows area of the canvas pane.

Summary Statistics

Custom Tables					-	JE
able Titles Test Statisti	cs On	tions				
⊻ariables))			Norm <u>a</u> l 🔡 Coj	mpact 🗋 Lay	ers
Favor or oppos Gender (sex)				C <u>o</u> lumns		^
Get news from i	IΠ			Count		
💑 Get news from 📃		Get news	No	nnnn		
Get news from		from internet	Yes	nnnn		
Get news from t		Get news	No	nnnn		
Happiness of m		from news e	Yes	nnnn		≡
	No.	Get news	No	nnnn		
Categories:		from newspr	Yes	nnnn		
No No		Get news	No	nnnn		
📕 Yes		from radio	Yes	nnnn		
		Get news	No	nnnn		
		Trom television	Tes	nnnn		~
Define		- Summary Stat	istics		٦	
N _% Summary Statistics		Position: Co	lumns	Y Hide	Category Position:	
S Categories and Totals		So <u>u</u> rce: Ro	w Variables	*	Default	~

The five news variables are stacked in the row dimension.

- Click Get news from internet on the canvas pane so that only that variable is selected.
- ► Now right-click *Get news from internet* and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ▶ In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select *Column N* % from the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list. (You can use the arrow to move selected statistics from the Statistics list into the Display list, or you can drag and drop selected statistics from the Statistics list into the Display list.)
- ► Then click Apply to Selection.

Figure 7-9

Additional statistic applied to one variable in a stacked table

Custom Tables						- •		
Table Titles Test Statistics	Opti	ons						
<u>V</u> ariables			Ē	Normal 🗄	Compact	Layers		
Favor or oppos A Gender (sex)				C <u>o</u> lumns				
💑 Get news from i	Π			Count	Column N %			
🚽 💑 Get news from 📃				Get news	No	nnnr	nnnn.n%	
Get news from		from internet	Yes	nnnr	nnnn.n%			
Get news from t		Get news	No	nnnr	1			
Happiness of m		from news e	Yes	nnnr	1			
	8	Get news	No	nnnr	1			
Categories:	Ľ	from newspr	Yes	nnnr	1			
No No	IΓ	Get news	No	nnnr	1			
Yes		from radio	Yes	nnnr	1			
		Get news	No	nnnr	1			
	\Box	from television	Yes	nnnr	1	~		
_ Define		- Summary Stati	stics					
N _% Summary Statistics		Position: Col	lumns	Y Hi	de Category	Position:		
8 Categories and Totals		Source: Ro	w Variables	~	Default	~		
		OK	Paste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help		

A column is added for column percentages—but the table preview on the canvas pane indicates that column percentages will be displayed for only one variable. This is because in a stacked table there are multiple statistics source variables, and each one can have different summary statistics. In this example, however, we want to display the same summary statistics for all variables.

- Right-click *Get news from newspapers* on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ▶ In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select *Column N* % from the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ► Then click Apply to All.
Summary Statistics

Custom Tables						
able Titles Test Statisti	cs Opt	ions				
<u>√</u> ariables	Þ			Norm <u>a</u> l 🔡	Co <u>m</u> pact	🗋 Layers
Favor or oppos				C <u>o</u> lumns		
Get news from i				Count	Column N %	
💑 Get news from 📃		Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Get news from		from internet	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Set news from t		Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Happiness of m.		from news e	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%	∃
	0	Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Categories:		from newspr	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
No No		Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Yes		from radio	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
		Get news	No	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
		from television	Yes	nnnn	nnnn.n%	~
∼ Define N% Summarv Statistics		Summary Stati	stics	▼ □ Hid	e Category I	Position:
8 <u>C</u> ategories and Totals		So <u>u</u> rce: Ro	w Variables	~	Default	•

Figure 7-10 Additional statistic applied to all variables in a stacked table

Now the table preview indicates that column percentages will be displayed for all of the stacked variables.

Custom Total Summary Statistics for Categorical Variables

For categorical statistics source variables, you can include custom total summary statistics that are different from the statistics displayed for the categories of the variable. For example, for an ordinal variable, you could display percentages for each category and the mean or median for the custom total summary statistic.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to clear any previous settings in the table builder.
- Click *Confidence in press* in the variable list, and then Ctrl-click *Confidence in TV* to select both variables.
- Drag and drop the two variables into the Rows area of the canvas pane. This stacks the two variables in the row dimension.

- Right-click either variable on the canvas pane and select Select All Row Variables from the pop-up context menu. (They may both already be selected, but we want to make sure.)
- Right-click the variable again and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- ▶ In the Categories and Totals dialog box, click (check) Total, and then click Apply.

The table preview on the canvas pane now displays a total row for both variables. In order to display custom total summary statistics, totals and/or subtotals must be specified for the table.

- Right-click either variable on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ▶ In the Summary Statistics dialog box, click *Count* in the Display list and click the arrow to move it to the Statistics list, removing it from the Display list.
- ► Click *Column N* % in the Statistics list and click the arrow key to move it to the Display list.
- Click (check) Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals.
- Click *Count* in the custom summary Display list and click the arrow to move it to the custom summary Statistics list, removing it from the Display list.
- Click *Mean* in the custom summary Statistics list and click the arrow to move it to the custom summary Display list.
- Click the Format cell for the mean in the Display list and select nnnn from the drop-down list of formats. (You may have to scroll up the list to find this choice.)
- ► In the Decimals cell, type 2.

135

Figure 7-11 Selecting custom summary statistics for totals

Summary Statistics: Categorical Variables						
Selected Variable: Confidence	e in press					
Statistics:		Display:				
Count	^	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Unweighted Count		Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1	
Table N %						-
Subtable N %						
Layer N % Row Valid N %	~					
	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals				
Custom Summary Stati	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals				
Custom Summary Stati Statistics: Count	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals Displa <u>y</u> : Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
✓ <u>C</u> ustom Summary Stati Statistics: Count Unweighted Count Pown1%	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals Displa <u>y</u> : Statistic Mean	Label Mean	Format	Decimals	
Custom Summary Stati Statistics: Count Unweighted Count Row N %	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals Displa <u>y</u> : Statistic Mean	Label Mean	Format	Decimals 2	
✓ Lustom Summary Stati Statistics: Count Unweighted Count Row N % Column N % Table N %	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals Display: Statistic Mean	Label Mean	Format	Decimals 2	*
✓ <u>C</u> ustom Summary Stati Statistics: Count Unweighted Count Row N % Column N % Table N % Subtable N % Subtable N %	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals Displa <u>y: Statistic</u> Mean	Label Mean	Format	Decimals 2	*
Custom Summary Stati Statistics: Count Unweighted Count Row N % Column N % Table N % Subtable N % I amer M %	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals Displa <u>y:</u> Statistic Mean	Label Mean	Format	2 Decimals	•
♥ Qustom Summary Stati Statistics: Count Unweighted Count Row N % Column N % Table N % Subtable N % Laner M %	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals Display: Statistic Mean	Label Mean	pnnn.nn	Decimals 2	•
Custom Summary Stati	stics for Totals	s and Subtotals				

• Click Apply to All to apply these settings to both variables in the table.

Figure 7-12

Custom total summary statistics for row variables displayed in columns

Custom Tables						- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics	Opti	ons				
<u>V</u> ariables			[Normal 🗄	Compact	Layers
Car maker, mos \land 🎧 Car maker, sec	_			C <u>o</u> lumns		
Confidence in b				Column N %	Mean	
Confidence in			A great deal	nnnn.n%		
Confidence in		Confidence in	Only some	nnnn.n%		
Confidence in t	2	press	Hardly any	nnnn.n%		
	Š.		Total		nnnn.nn	
Categories:			A great deal	nnnn.n%		
📕 A great deal		Confidence in	Unly some	nnnn.n%		
Only some		television	Hardly any	nnnn.n%		
Hardly any			TOTAL		rinnn.nn	
Missing values	Missing Values					
Define		- Summary Stati	istics			
№% <u>S</u> ummary Statistics		Position: Co	lumns	✓ □ L	lide Categ	ory Position:
Source: Row Variables						
		ОК	Paste	<u>B</u> eset	Cano	cel Help

A new column has been added for the custom total summary statistic, which may not be what you want, since the preview on the canvas pane clearly indicates that this will result in a table with many empty cells.

► In the table builder, in the Summary Statistics group, select Rows from the Position drop-down list.



Figure 7-13 Summary statistics for row variables displayed in rows

This moves all the summary statistics to the row dimension, displaying all summary statistics in a single column in the table.

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 7-14

Categorical variables with custom total summary statistics

Confidence	A great deal	Column N %	9.5%
in press	Only some	Column N %	47.2%
	Hardly any	Column N %	43.4%
	Total	Mean	2.34
Confidence	A great deal	Column N %	10.4%
in television	Only some	Column N %	49.9%
	Hardly any	Column N %	39.7%
	Total	Mean	2.29

Displaying Category Values

There's only one small problem with the preceding table—it may be hard to interpret the mean value without knowing the underlying category values on which it is based. Is a mean of 2.34 somewhere between *A great deal* and *Only some*—or is it somewhere between *Only some* and *Hardly any*?

Although we can't address this problem directly in Custom Tables, we can address it in a more general way.

► From the menus, choose:

Edit Options...

- ▶ In the Options dialog box, click the Output Labels tab.
- In the Pivot Table Labeling group, select Values and Labels from the Variable values in labels shown as drop-down list.

Figure	7-15	
Output	labeling	options

Options				×
Data General Viewer Dra	Currency ft Viewer Output Labels) Charts	Scr	ipts Pivot Tables
Outline Labeling Variables in item labels show Labels Variable values in item labels	n as:			
Pivot Table Labeling Variables in labels shown as: Labels				
Variabl <u>e</u> values in labels sho Values and Labels	wn as:			
	ОК	Cancel	Apply	Help

- Click OK to save this setting.
- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables) and click OK to create the table again.

Figure	7-16	5					
Values	and	labels	displayed	for	variable	categorie	es

Confidence	1 A great deal	Column N %	9.5%
in press	2 Only some	Column N %	47.2%
	3 Hardly any	Column N %	43.4%
	Total	Mean	2.34
Confidence	1 A great deal	Column N %	10.4%
in television	2 Only some	Column N %	49.9%
	3 Hardlya⊓y	Column N %	39.7%
	Total	Mean	2.29

The category values make it clear that a mean of 2.34 is somewhere between *Only some* and *Hardly any*. Displaying the category values in the table makes it much easier to interpret the value of custom total summary statistics, such as the mean.

This display setting is a global setting that affects all pivot table output from all procedures and persists across sessions until you change it. To change the setting back to display only value labels:

- From the menus, choose:
 Edit Options...
- ▶ In the Options dialog box, click the Output Labels tab.
- In the Pivot Table Labeling group, select Labels from the Variable values in labels shown as drop-down list.
- ► Click OK to save this setting.

Summarizing Scale Variables

A wide range of summary statistics are available for scale variables. In addition to the counts and percentages available for categorical variables, summary statistics for scale variables also include:

- Mean
- Median
- Percentiles
- Sum
- Standard deviation
- Range
- Minimum and maximum values

For more information, see "Summary Statistics for Scale Variables and Categorical Custom Totals" in Chapter 2 on p. 42.

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorial\sample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

All examples provided here display variable labels in dialog boxes, sorted in alphabetical order. Variable list display properties are specified on the General tab in the Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

Stacked Scale Variables

You can summarize multiple scale variables in the same table by stacking them in the table.

 From the menus, choose: Analyze Tables

Custom Tables...

Figure 8-1

- ► In the table builder, click *Age of respondent* in the variable list, Ctrl-click *Highest year of school completed*, and Ctrl-click *Hours per day watching TV* to select all three variables.
- ▶ Drag and drop the three selected variables to the Rows area of the canvas pane.

Custom Tables	
able Titles Test Statistics Opt	ions
Variables Get news from televisio Happiness of marriage [Haye gun in home [ow Highest degree [degree] Highest year of school o Highest year of school o Highest year school o Highest year school o Hours per day watching How get paid last week How many grandparent	
Categories: No categories (scale variable)	
Define N _∞ Summary Statistics S: Categories and Totals	Sourney Statistics Category Position: Position: Category Position: Source: Row Variables

The three variables are stacked in the row dimension. Since all three variables are scale variables, no categories are displayed, and the default summary statistic is the mean.

• Click OK to create the table.

Summarizing Scale Variables

Figure 8-2

Table of mean values of stacked scale variables

	Mean
Age of respondent	46
Highest year of school completed	13
Hours per day watching TV	3

Multiple Summary Statistics

By default, the mean is displayed for scale variables; however, you can choose other summary statistics for scale variables, and you can display more than one summary statistic.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click any one of the three scale variables in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select *Median* in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list. (You can use the arrow to move selected statistics from the Statistics list to the Display list, or you can drag and drop selected statistics from the Statistics list into the Display list.)
- Click the Format cell for the median in the Display list and select nnnn from the drop-down list of formats.
- ► In the Decimals cell, type 1.
- Make the same changes for the mean in the Display list.

Figure 8-3

Mean and median selected in Summary Statistics dialog box

Summary Statistics: So	ale Variat	oles				×
Selected Variable: Highest y	year of schoo	l completed				
S <u>t</u> atistics:		<u>D</u> isplay:				
Count	^	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Unweighted Count		Mean	Mean	חחחח.ח	1	
Maximum		Median	Median	חחחח.ח	1	_
Missing						•
Mode						
Percentile 05	×					
	(******					
	L A	pply to Selection Ap	ply to <u>A</u> ll Clos		lelp	

- ▶ Click Apply to All to apply these changes to all three scale variables.
- Click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 8-4

Mean and median displayed in table of stacked scale variables

	Mean	Median
Age of respondent	45.6	42.0
Highest year of school completed	13.3	13.0
Hours per day watching TV	2.9	2.0

Count, Valid N, and Missing Values

It is often useful to display the number of cases used to compute summary statistics, such as the mean, and you might assume (not unreasonably) that the summary statistic *Count* would provide that information. However, this will not give you an accurate case base if there are any missing values. To obtain an accurate case base, use *Valid N*.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click any one of the three scale variables in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Count in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ▶ Then select Valid N in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- Click Apply to All to apply these changes to all three scale variables.

Summarizing Scale Variables

• Click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 8-5 Count versus Valid N

	Mean	Median	Count	Valid N
Age of respondent	45.6	42.0	2832	2828
Highest year of school completed	13.3	13.0	2832	2820
Hours per day watching TV	2.9	2.0	2832	2337

For all three variables, *Count* is the same: 2,832. Not coincidentally, this is the total number of cases in the data file. Since the scale variables aren't nested within any categorical variables, *Count* simply represents the total number of cases in the data file.

Valid N, on the other hand, is different for each variable and differs quite a lot from *Count* for *Hours per day watching TV*. This is because there is a large number of **missing values** for this variable—that is, cases with no value recorded for this variable or values defined as representing missing data (such as a code of 99 to represent *Not Applicable* for pregnancy in males).

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click any one of the three scale variables in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Valid N in the Display list and click the arrow key to move it back to the Statistics list, removing it from the Display list.
- Select Count in the Display list and click the arrow key to move it back to the Statistics list, removing it from the Display list.
- Select Missing in the Statistics list and click the arrow key to add it to the Display list.
- Click Apply to All to apply these changes to all three scale variables.
- Click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 8-6

Number of missing values displayed in table of scale summary statistics

	Mean	Median	Missing
Age of respondent	45.6	42.0	4
Highest year of school completed	13.3	13.0	12
Hours per day watching TV	2.9	2.0	495

The table now displays the number of missing values for each scale variable. This makes it quite apparent that *Hours per day watching TV* has a large number of missing values, whereas the other two variables have very few. This may be a factor to consider before putting a great deal of faith in the summary values for that variable.

Different Summaries for Different Variables

In addition to displaying multiple summary statistics, you can display different summary statistics for different scale variables in a stacked table. For example, the previous table revealed that only one of the three variables has a large number of missing values; so you might want to show the number of missing values for only that one variable.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Age of respondent in the table preview on the canvas pane, and then Ctrl-click Highest year of school completed to select both variables.
- Right-click either of the two selected variables and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Missing in the Display list and click the arrow key to move it back to the Statistics list, removing it from the Display list.
- Click Apply to Selection to apply the change to only the two selected variables.

Summarizing Scale Variables



Figure 8-7

The placeholders in the data cells of the table indicate that the number of missing values will be displayed only for *Hours per day watching TV*.

Y Hide

<u>R</u>eset

Category Position:

Help

Cancel

Click OK to create the table. ►

Figure 8-8

Categories:

Define

No categories (scale variable)

N% Summary Statistics.

S Categories and Totals.

Table of different summary statistics for different variables

Summary Statistics

Position: Columns

Paste

0K

	Mean	Median	Missing
Age of respondent	45.6	42.0	
Highest year of school completed	13.3	13.0	
Hours per day watching TV	2.9	2.0	495

Although this table provides the information that we want, the layout may make it difficult to interpret the table. Somebody reading the table might think that the blank cells in the *Missing* column indicate zero missing values for those variables.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- In the Summary Statistics group in the table builder, select Rows from the Position drop-down list.

Figure 8-9

Moving summary statistics from the column dimension to the row dimension

Custom Tables Table Titles Test Statistics Optic	ns	F	Normal 9	Compact	
Get news from televisio Happiness of marriage [Have gun in home [ow Highest degree [degree] Highest year of school	Π			glumns	
Highest year school co		Age of	Mean	nnnn.n	
Highest year school co		respondent	Median	nnnn.n	
Hours per day watching		Highest year	Mean	nnnn.n	
	No.	of school co	Median	nnnn.n	
🔗 How many grandparent 🧫	100	l	Mean	nnnn.n	
		 Hours per day watching TV 	Median	nnnn.n	
Categories:			Missing	nnnn	
No categories (scale variable)	Sumr	narv Statistics			
N ₂₂ Summary Statistics	Posit	ion: Rows	× 🗆	Hide Category	Position:
S Categories and Totals	Sou	rce: Row Variat	oles ⊻	Default	
	ОК		<u>R</u> ese	t Cancel	Help

► Click OK to create the table.

Figure 8-10

Summary statistics and variables both displayed in the row dimension

Age of respondent	Mean	45.6
	Median	42.0
Highest year of school	Mean	13.3
completed	Median	13.0
Hours per day	Mean	2.9
watching TV	Median	2.0
	Missing	495

Now it's clear that the table reports the number of missing values for only one variable.

Group Summaries in Categories

You can use categorical variables as grouping variables to display scale variable summaries within groups defined by the categories of the categorical variable.

• Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).

• Drag and drop *Gender* from the variable list into the Columns area of the canvas pane.

If you right-click *Gender* in the table preview on the canvas pane, you will see that Summary Statistics is disabled on the pop-up context menu. This is because in a table with scale variables, the scale variables are always the statistics source variables.

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 8-11

			der
		Male	Female
Age of respondent	Mean	44.6	46.3
	Median	42.0	43.0
Highest year of school	Mean	13.4	13.2
completed	Median	13.0	13.0
Hours per day	Mean	2.8	2.9
watching TV	Median	2.0	2.0
	Missing	213	282

Grouped scale summaries using a categorical column variable

This table makes it easy to compare the averages (mean and median) for males and females, and it clearly shows that there isn't much difference between them—which may not be terribly interesting but might be useful information.

Multiple Grouping Variables

You can subdivide the groups further by nesting and/or using both row and column categorical grouping variables.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Drag and drop Get news from internet from the variable list to the far left side of the Rows area of the canvas pane. Make sure to position it so that all three scale variables are nested within it, not just one of them.

Figure 8-12 Correct: All three scale variables nested within the categorical variable

Custom Tables															
Table Titles Test Statistics Op	tions														
<u>V</u> ariables				1 🖿	Normal 🗄 Coj	mpact I	Layers								
Confidence in press [c 🔊				C <u>o</u> lu	mns		<u>^</u>								
Country of family origin						Gen	der								
Ever or oppose dest							Female								
Sender (sev)				Age of	Mean	nnnn.n	nnr								
General happiness [ha				respondent	Median	nnnn.n	nnr								
Get news from internet				Highest vear	Mean	nnnn.n	nnr 🗏								
💑 Get news from news			No	of school co	Median	nnnn.n	nnr								
💑 Get news from newsp				Hours per day	Mean	nnnn.n	nnr								
💑 Get news from radio [n 🧹	8	Get news from internet			Median	nnnn.n	nnr								
Got nous from tolouisi	202		Get news from internet	Get news	Get news	news	waterning i v	Missing	nnnn	n					
Categories:									from internet	Age of	Mean	nnnn.n	nnr		
📕 A great deal							respondent	Median	nnnn.n	nnr					
Only some											Highest vear	Mean	nnnn.n	nnr	
Hardly any			Yes	of school co	Median	nnnn.n	nnr 🗸								
📕 Missing Values	<						>								
Define N _% Summary Statistics	Sum	mary Statistics – ition: Rows			✓ Hide	Category Po	sition:								
88 Categories and Totals	Sou	Irce: Row Vari	ables		~	Default	~								
		C	OK	Paste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help								

Summarizing Scale Variables



Figure 8-13 Wrong: Only one scale variable nested within the categorical variable

Although there may be times when you want something like the second example above, it's not what we want in this case.

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 8-14

Scale summ	naries groupe	ed by cate	gorical row	and col	umn variables
------------	---------------	------------	-------------	---------	---------------

				Gen	der
				Male	Female
Get	No	Age of respondent	Mean	47.0	48.8
news			Median	45.0	46.0
from	Highest year of school	Mean	13.4	13.1	
Internet	completed		Median	13.0	12.0
Hours per day		Mean	3.2	3.4	
	watching TV		Median	2.0	3.0
		Yes Age of respondent	Missing	213	282
	Yes		Mean	38.7	41.1
			Median	35.0	38.0
	Highest year of school completed		Mean	13.2	13.3
			Median	13.0	13.0
Hou wat		Hours per day	Mean	2.1	2.1
	watching TV	Median	2.0	2.0	
			Missing	0	0

Nesting Categorical Variables within Scale Variables

Although the above table may provide the information you want, it may not provide it in the easiest format to interpret. For example, you can compare the average age of men who use the Internet to get news and those who don't—but it would be easier to do if the values were next to each other rather than separated. Swapping the positions of the two row variables and nesting the categorical grouping variable within the three scale variables might improve the table. With scale variables, nesting level has no effect on the statistics source variable. The scale variable is always the statistics source variable regardless of nesting level.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Age of respondent in the table preview on the canvas pane, Ctrl-click Highest year of school completed, and Ctrl-click Hours per day watching TV to select all three scale variables.
- Drag and drop the three scale variables onto the far left side of the Rows area, nesting the categorical variable *Get news from internet* within each of the three scale variables.
- Click OK to create the table.

Summarizing Scale Variables

				Gender		
				Male	Female	
Age of	Get news	No	Mean	47.0	48.8	
respondent	from internet		Median	45.0	46.0	
		Yes	Mean	38.7	41.1	
			Median	35.0	38.	
Highest year	Get news	No	Mean	13.4	13.1	
of school from completed	from internet		Median	13.0	12.	
		Yes	Mean	13.2	13.	
			Median	13.0	13,	
Hours per	Get news	No	Mean	3.2	3.	
day	from internet		Median	2.0	3,	
watching TV			Missing	213	283	
		Yes	Mean	2.1	2.1	
			Median	2.0	2.	
			Missing	0		

Figure 8-15 Categorical row variable nested within stacked scale variables

The choice of nesting order depends on the relationships or comparisons that you want to emphasize in the table. Changing the nesting order of the scale variables doesn't change the summary statistics values; it changes only their relative positions in the table.

Test Statistics

Three different tests of significance are available for studying the relationship between row and column variables. This chapter discusses the output of each of these tests, with special attention to the effects of nesting and stacking. For more information, see "Stacking, Nesting, and Layers with Categorical Variables" in Chapter 4 on p. 77.

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorial\sample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

Tests of Independence (Chi-Square)

The chi-square test of independence is used to determine whether there is a relationship between two categorical variables. For example, you may want to determine whether *Labor force status* is related to *Marital status*.

- ► From the menus, choose:
 - Analyze Tables Custom Tables...
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Labor force status* from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.
- Drag and drop *Marital status* from the variable list into the Columns area.

Figure 9-1 Variables displayed on canvas pane

🔤 Custom Tables						- •
Table Titles Test Statistics	Options					
Variables				Norm <u>a</u> l	🗄 Compact	Layers
Pespondent id nu A					C <u>o</u> lur	nns
Marital status [marit 🧻						Ма
Are of respondent					Married	Widowed D
Highest year of sch			Working full	Count	nnnn	nnnn
Highest year schoo			Working par	Count	nnnn	nnnn
🔗 Highest year schoo			Temporarily	Count	nnnn	nnnn
n 🖉 Highest year schoo	NO NO	Labor force status	Unemployed	Count	nnnn	nnnn
Highest degree [de	СС		Retired	Count	nnnn	nnnn
Gender [sex]			School	Count	nnnn	nnnn
Proceducing and a second and a			Keeping hou	Count	nnnn	nnnn
Categories:			Other	Count	nnnn	nnnn
Married A	<		1111			>
_ Define		ummaru Statistic				
N ₂ Summary Statistics	P	osition: Rows	······	× 🗆	Hide Categ	gory Position:
S Categories and Totals	9	Source: Row \	/ariables	~	Defa	ult 💌
		OK	<u>P</u> aste	<u>R</u> ese	et Can	cel Help

• Select Rows as the position for the summary statistics.

• Select *Labor force status* and click Summary Statistics in the Define group.

Figure 9-2 Summary S

Unweighted Count Row N % Subtable N % Layer N % Row Valid N % Column N %	Unweighted Count Bow N % Statistic Label Format Decimals Count Count nnnn 0 0 Subtable N % Column N % column N % nnnn.n% 1 Layer N % Row Valid N % column N % nnnn.n% 1 Column Valid N % Display: Display: Unweighted Count Display: Unweighted Count Display: Statistic Label Format Decimals Column N % Column N % Column N % Column N % Display:			<u>D</u> isplay:			
How N % Table N % Layer N % Pow Valid N % Column N % Co	How N % Table N % Subtable N % Layer N % Polyment Valid N % Column	Unweighted Count	~	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
Layer N % Layer N % Row Valid N % Column N % Column N % Column N % Innnn.n% 1 Column N % Column N % Innnn.n% 1 Column N % Innnn.n% Innnnn.n% Innnn.n% Innnn.n% Innnnn.	Lager N & Column N % Column N % nnnn.n% 1 Column N % nnnn n% 1 Column N %	How N %		Count	Count	nnnn	0
Statistic	Cutomo Valid N % Image: N % Row Valid N % Image: N % Cutomo Valid N % Image: N % Statistics: Display: Unweighted Count Statistic Row N % Count Column N % Count	Subtable N %	•	Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1
Descent Valid N 2 Custom Valid N 2 Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals Statistics: Display: Unweighted Count Bow N 2 Count Count Count	Court C	Lauer N %					
Column Valid N ở Image: Column and Subtotals Statistics: Display: Unweighted Count Statistic Label Bow N % Count Count	Column Valid N * Image: Column Valid N * □ Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals Statistics: Display: Unweighted Count Row N % Image: Count C	Bow Valid N %					
	Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals Statistics: Display: Unweighted Count Statistic Label Format Bow N % Count Count Innnn 0	Column Valid N %	~				
Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals Statistics: Unweighted Count Bow N % Count Count Count Count Documt Count Co	Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals Statistics: Drevelopted Count Row N % Column N %						
Statistics: Display: Brow N % Count Count Count Onnon 0	Statistic Display: Unweighted Count Statistic Label Format Decimals Row N % Count Count nnnn 0			10.1.1.1			
Statistics Display: Unweighted Count Statistic Label Format Decimal Now N % Count Count nnnn (0	Statistics: Display: Unweighted Count Statistic Label Format Decimals Row N % Count Count Innnn 0		tistics for 1 otals	s and Subtotals			
Unweighted Count Statistic Label Format Decimal Count Count Innnn I0	Unweighted Count Statistic Label Format Decimals Row N % Count Count Innnn 0			Displa <u>y</u> :			
Row N % Count Count 0	Row N % Count nnnn 0 Column N % Image: Count <	Unweighted Count	^	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
		ornroiginoù oourn		Count	Count	Innnn	0
Lolumn N %		Row N %					-
Table N %	Table N %	Row N % Column N %					
Subtable N %	Subtable N %	Row N % Column N % Table N %					
Lauer N %		Row N % Column N % Table N % Subtable N %	•				
Table N % Subtable N % Lauer N %	Subtable N %	Row N % Column N %					
Subtable N %	Subtable N %	Row N % Column N % Table N %					
		Row N % Column N % Table N %	•				
auer N %		Row N % Column N % Table N % Subtable N %	•				
	Laver N %	Row N % Column N % Table N % Subtable N % Laver N %	•				

157

- Select Column N % in the Statistics list and add it to the Display list.
- Click Apply to Selection.
- ▶ In the Custom Tables dialog box, click the Test Statistics tab.

Figure 9-3

Test Statistics tab with the Tests of independence (chi-square) selected

Custom Tables	- 🗆 🔀
Table Titles Test Statistics Options	
✓ Iests of independence (Chi-square) △lpha:	
Compare column means (Hests)	
🗤 🖓 Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bonferroni method) 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖓	20202228
\Box Estimate variance only from the categories compared (always done for multiple response variable	les)
Compare column proportions (z-tests) Alpha: 0.05 Comparisons (Bonferroni method)	
The extend is deeperful to be a feature of a standard sector of a	
Use subtotais in place or subtotaled categories	
Include multiple response variables in tests	
Chi-square and column proportions tests apply to tables in which categorical variables exist in both the rows and columns.	
Column means tests apply to tables in which scale variables exist in the rows and categorical variables exist in the columns.	
Tests are not performed for tables in which category labels are moved out of their default table dimension.	
Totals are excluded from all tests. Subtotals are used only if the categories to which they apply are hidden or if specified above.	
OK <u>P</u> aste <u>R</u> eset Cancel	Help

- ► Select Tests of independence (Chi-square).
- Click OK to create the table and obtain the chi-square test.

Figure 9-4

Labor force status by Marital status

			Marital status				
			Married	Widowed	Divorced	Separated	Never married
Labor	Working full	Count	778	44	295	58	392
force	time	Column %	57.8%	15.5%	66.1%	62.4%	59.1%
Status	Working	Count	138	20	35	9	102
	part-time	Column %	10.3%	7.1%	7.8%	9.7%	15.4%
	Temporarily	Count	23	2	9	1	11
	not working	Column %	1.7%	.7%	2.0%	1.1%	1.7%
Unemployed, laid off	Unemployed,	Count	13	3	10	0	32
	Column %	1.0%	1.1%	2.2%	.0%	4.8%	
	Retired	Count	168	150	53	6	17
		Column %	12.5%	53.0%	11.9%	6.5%	2.6%
	School	Count	9	1	7	2	60
		Column %	.7%	.4%	1.6%	2.2%	9.0%
	Keeping	Count	200	55	25	13	35
	house	Column %	14.9%	19.4%	5.6%	14.0%	5.3%
	Other	Count	16	8	12	4	14
		Column %	1.2%	2.8%	2.7%	4.3%	2.1%

This table is a crosstabulation of *Labor force status* by *Marital status*, with counts and column proportions shown as the summary statistics. Column proportions are computed so that they sum to 100% down each column. If these two variables are unrelated, then in each row the proportions should be similar across columns. There appear to be differences in the proportions, but you can check the chi-square test to be sure.

Figure 9-5

Pearson's chi-square test

		Marital status
Labor force	Chi-square	729.242
status	df	28
	Sig.	.000*

*. The Chi-square statistic is significant at the 0.05 level.

The test of independence hypothesizes that *Labor force status* and *Marital status* are unrelated—that is, that the column proportions are the same across columns, and any observed discrepancies are due to chance variation. The chi-square statistic measures the overall discrepancy between the observed cell counts and the counts you would expect if the column proportions were the same across columns. A larger

159

chi-square statistic indicates a greater discrepancy between the observed and expected cell counts—greater evidence that the column proportions are not equal, that the hypothesis of independence is incorrect, and, therefore, that *Labor force status* and *Marital status* are related.

The computed chi-square statistic has a value of 729.242. In order to determine whether this is enough evidence to reject the hypothesis of independence, the significance value of the statistic is computed. The significance value is the probability that a random variate drawn from a chi-square distribution with 28 degrees of freedom is greater than 729.242. Since this value is less than the alpha level specified on the Test Statistics tab, you can reject the hypothesis of independence at the 0.05 level. Thus, *Labor force status* and *Marital status* are in fact related.

Effects of Nesting and Stacking on Tests of Independence

The rule for tests of independence is as follows: a separate test is performed for each innermost subtable. To see how nesting affects the tests, consider the previous example, but with *Marital status* nested within levels of *Gender*.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Drag and drop Gender from the variable list into the Columns area of the canvas pane above Marital status.
- Click OK to create the table.

Figure 9-6

Pearson's chi-square test

		Gen	der
		Male	Female
		Marital status	Marital status
Labor force	Chi-square	246.637	542.589
status	df	28	28
	Sig.	.000 ^{*,1,2}	.000 ^{*,1,2}

^{*.} The Chi-square statistic is significant at the 0.05 level.

More than 20% of cells in this sub-table have expected cell counts less than 5.

^{2.} The minimum expected cell count in this sub-table is less than one.

With *Marital status* nested within levels of *Gender*, two tests are performed—one for each level of *Gender*. The significance value for each test indicates that you can reject the hypothesis of independence between *Marital status* and *Labor force status* for both males and females. However, the table notes that more than 20% of each table's cells have expected counts of less than 5, and the minimum expected cell count is less than 1. These notes indicate that the assumptions of the chi-square test may not be met by these tables, so the results of the tests are suspect. The notes in this figure are numbered rather than lettered because this figure is formatted using the SPSS Doc TableLook instead of the default.

Note: The footnotes may be cut off from view by the cell boundaries. You can make them visible by changing the alignment of these cells in the Cell Properties dialog box.

To see how stacking affects the tests:

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Drag and drop *Highest degree* from the variable list into the Rows area below *Labor force status*.
- Click OK to create the table.

Figure 9-7

Pearson's chi-square test

		Gender			
		Male	Female		
		Marital status	Marital status		
Labor force status	Chi-square	246.637	542.589		
	df	28	28		
	Sig.	.000 ^{*,1,2}	.000 ^{*,1,2}		
Highest degree	Chi-square	43.844	105.506		
	df	16	16		
	Sig.	.000*	.000*		

* The Chi-square statistic is significant at the 0.05 level.

- More than 20% of cells in this sub-table have expected cell counts less than 5.
- The minimum expected cell count in this sub-table is less than one.

Test Statistics

With *Highest degree* stacked with *Labor force status*, four tests are performed—a test of the independence of *Marital status* and *Labor force status*, and a test of *Marital status* and *Highest degree* for each level of *Gender*. The test results for *Marital status* and *Labor force status* are the same as before. The test results for *Marital status* and *Highest degree* indicate these variables are not independent.

Comparing Column Means

The column means tests are used to determine whether there is a relationship between a categorical variable in the Columns and a continuous variable in the Rows. Moreover, you can use the test results to determine the relative ordering of categories of the categorical variable in terms of the mean value of the continuous variable. For example, you may want to determine whether *Hours per day watching TV* is related to *Get news from newspapers*.

From the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...

- Click Reset to restore the default settings to all tabs.
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Hours per day watching TV* from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.
- ▶ Drag and drop *Get news from newspapers* from the variable list into the Columns area.

Figure 9-8

Variables displayed on canvas pane

Custom Tables		
Table Titles Test Statistics O Variables Happiness of marria Happiness of marria Happiness of marria Happiness of marria How often does res How often does res How often does res How often does res How get paid last w Control of amily ori Its mentioned court Confidence in bank Confidence in major Confidence in cod.u. Confidence in cod.u. No calegories (scale variable)	ptions	act C Layers
Define N _% Summary Statistics % Categories and Totals	Summary Statistics Position: Column Lide Source: Row Va	Category Position: Default
OK	Paste <u>R</u> eset	Cancel Help

▶ Select *Hours per day watching TV* and click Summary Statistics in the Define group.

Figure 9-9

Summary Statistics dialog box

Summary Statistics: So	ale Variabl	es					×
Selected Variable: Hours pe	er day watching	g TV					
Statistics:		<u>D</u> isplay:					
Count	~	Statistic		Label	Format	Decimals	
Unweighted Count Maximum Median Minimum Missing Mode	•	Mean	Mean		nnn.nn	2	*
	Ap	ply to <u>S</u> election	Apply to <u>A</u>	Clo	se	Help	

- ► Select nnnn as the format.
- Select 2 as the number of decimals to display. Notice that this causes the format to now read nnnn.nn.
- ► Click Apply to Selection.

163

▶ In the Custom Tables dialog box, click the Test Statistics tab.

Figure 9-10

Test Statistics tab with Compare column means (t tests) selected

🗖 Custom Tables 🔤 🗉	
Table Titles Test Statistics Options	
Iests of independence (Chi-square)	
Compare column means (t-tests) Alpha: 0.05	
Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bonferroni method)	
Estimate variance only from the categories compared (always done for multiple response varia	ble:
Compare column proportions (z-tests) Alpha: 0.05	
Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bonferroni method)	
□ Use subtotals in place of subtotaled categories ☑ Include multiple response variables in tests	
Chi-square and column proportions tests apply to tables in which categorical variables exist in both the rows and columns.	-
Column means tests apply to tables in which scale variables exist in the rows and categorical variables exist in the columns.	
Tests are not performed for tables in which category labels are moved out of their default table dimension.	
Totals are excluded from all tests. Subtotals are used only if the categories to	
OK <u>P</u> aste <u>R</u> eset Cancel Help	

- Select Compare column means (t-tests).
- Click OK to create the table and obtain the column means tests.

Figure 9-11

Get news from newspapers by Hours per day watching TV

	Get nev newsp	vs from apers
	No	Yes
	Mean	Mean
Hours per day watching TV	2.92	2.74

This table shows the mean *Hours per day watching TV* for people who do and do not get their news from newspapers. The observed difference in these means suggests that people who do not get their news from newspapers spend approximately 0.18 more hours watching TV than people who do get their news from newspapers. To see whether this difference is due to chance variation, check the column means tests.

Figure 9-12 Comparisons of column means

	Get nev newsp	vs from apers
	No	Yes
	(A)	(B)
Hours per day watching TV		

The column means test table assigns a letter key to each category of the column variable. For *Get news from newspapers*, the category *No* is assigned the letter A, and *Yes* is assigned the letter B. For each pair of columns, the column means are compared using a *t* test. Since there are only two columns, only one test is performed. For each significant pair, the key of the category with the smaller mean is placed under the category with larger mean. Since no keys are reported in the cells of the table, this means that the column means are not statistically different.

Effects of Nesting and Stacking on Column Means Tests

The rule for column means tests is as follows: a separate set of pairwise tests is performed for each innermost subtable. To see how nesting affects the tests, consider the previous example, but with *Hours per day watching TV* nested within levels of *Labor force status*.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Drag and drop Labor force status from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.
- Click OK to create the table.

Test Statistics

			Get nev newsp	vs from apers
			No	Yes
			(A)	(B)
Labor force	Working full time	Hours per day watching TV	в	
status	Working part-time	Hours per day watching TV		
	Temporarily not working	Hours per day watching TV		
	Unemployed, laid off	Hours per day watching TV		
	Retired	Hours per day watching TV		
	School	Hours per day watching TV		
	Keeping house	Hours per day watching TV		
	Other	Hours per day watching TV		

Figure 9-13 Comparisons of column means

With *Hours per day watching TV* nested within levels of *Labor force status*, seven sets of column means tests are performed: one for each level of *Labor force status*. The same letter keys are assigned to the categories of *Get news from newspapers*. For respondents *working full time*, the B key appears in the A column. This means that for full-time employees, the mean value of *Hours per day watching TV* is lower for people who get their news from newspapers. No other keys appear in the columns, so you can conclude that there are no other statistically significant differences in the column means.

Bonferroni adjustments. When multiple tests are performed, the Bonferroni adjustment is applied to column means tests to ensure that the alpha level (or false positive rate) specified on the Test Statistics tab applies to each *set* of tests. Thus, in this table, no Bonferroni adjustments were applied because although seven sets of tests are performed, within each set only one pair of columns is compared.

To see how stacking affects the tests:

• Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).

- Drag and drop Get news from internet from the variable list into the Columns area to the left of Get news from newspapers.
- Click OK to create the table.

Figure 9-14

Comparisons of column means

			Get new inter	rs from net	Get new newsp	/s from apers
			No	Yes	No	Yes
			(A)	(B)	(A)	(B)
Labor force	Working full time	Hours per day watching TV	B		в	
status	Working part-time	Hours per day watching TV	в			
	Temporarily not working	Hours per day watching TV				
	Unemployed, laid off	Hours per day watching TV	B			
	Retired	Hours per day watching TV	в			
	School	Hours per day watching TV	B			
	Keeping house	Hours per day watching TV	B			
	Other	Hours per day watching TV	B			

With *Get news from internet* stacked with *Get news from newspapers*, 14 sets of column means tests are performed—one for each level of *Labor force status* for *Get news from internet* and *Get news from newspapers*. Again, no Bonferroni adjustments are applied because within each set, only one pair of columns is compared. The tests for *Get news from newspapers* are the same as before. For *Get news from internet*, the category *No* is assigned the letter A and *Yes* is assigned the letter B. The B key is reported in the A column for each set of column means tests except for those respondents temporarily not working. This means that the mean value of *Hours per day watching TV* is lower for people who get their news from the Internet than for people who do not get their news from newspapers. No keys are reported for the *Temporarily not working* set; thus, the column means are not statistically different for these respondents.

167

Comparing Column Proportions

The column proportions tests are used to determine the relative ordering of categories of the Columns categorical variable in terms of the category proportions of the Rows categorical variable. For example, after using a chi-square test to find that *Labor force status* and *Marital status* are not independent, you may want to see which rows and columns are responsible for this relationship.

► From the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...

- Click Reset to restore the default settings to all tabs.
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Labor force status* from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.
- Drag and drop *Marital status* from the variable list into the Columns area.

Custom Tables						-	
Table Titles Test Statistics	Options						
<u>V</u> ariables			[Norm <u>a</u> l	Compact	🛱 Laya	ers
Respondent id nu Labor force status [C <u>o</u> lur	mns	
Marital status [marit 🧻							Ma
Are of respondent					Married	Widowed	D
Highest year of sch			Working full	Count	nnnn	nnnn	
🖉 Highest year schoo			Working par	Count	nnnn	nnnn	
🔗 Highest year schoo		Labor force	Temporarily	Count	nnnn	nnnn	
🖉 Highest year schoo	Ň		Unemployed	Count	nnnn	nnnn	
Highest degree [de	СС	status	Retired	Count	nnnn	nnnn	
🛛 🂑 Gender [sex] 🗸 🗸			School	Count	nnnn	nnnn	
			Keeping hou	Count	nnnn	nnnn	
Categories:			Other	Count	nnnn	nnnn	
Married Arried States	<		Ш				>
Define N _% Summary Statistics	F	ummary Statistic 'osjtion: Rows	S.	× 🗆	Hide Cat <u>e</u> g	gory Position:	
88 Categories and Totals		Source: Row \	'ariables	*	Defa	ult	~
		OK	Paste	<u>R</u> ese	et Can	cel He	lp

Figure 9-15 Variables displayed on canvas pane

• Select *Labor force status* and click Summary Statistics in the Define group.

Figure 9-16

Summary Statistics dialog box

		<u>D</u> isplay:			
Count	^	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
Unweighted Count Row N %		Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1
Table N %					
Subtable N %					
Layer N %					
Row Valid N %					
Custom Summary Sta	tistics for Totals	s and Subtotals			
		Disolav:			
Unweighted Count	~	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
		Count	Count	nonn	0
Row N %					
Row N % Column N %		Count	00000		
Row N % Column N % Table N %	•	Count			
Row N % Column N % Table N % Subtable N %	•	Count	20 0 011 IX		

- ► Select Column N % in the Statistics list and add it to the Display list.
- ► Deselect Count from the Display list.
- ► Click Apply to Selection.
- ▶ In the Custom Tables dialog box, click the Test Statistics tab.
Test Statistics

Figure 9-17

Test Statistics tab with Compare column proportions (z tests) selected

Custom Tables	- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Options	
□ Iests of independence (Chi-square)	
Compare column means (Hests)	
Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bonferroni method)	22222222
Estimate variance only from the categories compared (always done for multiple response variables)	
Compare column proportions (z-tests)	
Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bonferroni method)	
Use subtotals in place of subtotaled categories	101.00
Include multiple response variables in tests	
Chi-square and column proportions tests apply to tables in which categorical variables exist in both the rows and columns. Column means tests apply to tables in which scale variables exist in the rows and categorical variables exist in the columns.	
Tests are not performed for tables in which category labels are moved out of their default table dimension.	
OK <u>P</u> aste <u>R</u> eset Cancel	Help

- ► Select Compare column proportions (z-tests).
- Click OK to create the table and obtain the column proportions tests.

Figure 9-18

Labor force status by Marital status

				Marital status		
		Married	Widowed	Divorced	Separated	Never married
		Column %	Column %	Column %	Column %	Column %
Labor	Working full time	57.8%	15.5%	66.1%	62.4%	59.1%
force	Working part-time	10.3%	7.1%	7.8%	9.7%	15.4%
	Temporarily not working	1.7%	.7%	2.0%	1.1%	1.7%
	Unemployed, laid off	1.0%	1.1%	2.2%	.0%	4.8%
	Retired	12.5%	53.0%	11.9%	6.5%	2.6%
	School	.7%	.4%	1.6%	2.2%	9.0%
	Keeping house	14.9%	19.4%	5.6%	14.0%	5.3%
	Other	1.2%	2.8%	2.7%	4.3%	2.1%

This table is a crosstabulation of *Labor force status* by *Marital status*, with column proportions shown as the summary statistic.

Figure 9-19 Comparisons of column proportions

			N	larital statu	s	
		Married	Widowed	Divorced	Separated	Never married
		(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)
Labor	Working full time	В		AВ	В	В
force etatue	Working part-time					ABC
Status	Temporarily not working					
	Unemployed, laid off					AВ
	Retired	E	ACDE	E		
	School					ABC
	Keeping house	СЕ	CE		CE	
	Other					

The column proportions test table assigns a letter key to each category of the column variables. For *Marital status*, the category *Married* is assigned the letter A, *Widowed* is assigned the letter B, and so on, through the category *Never married*, which is assigned the letter E. For each pair of columns, the column proportions are compared using a z test. Seven sets of column proportions tests are performed, one for each level of *Labor force status*. Since there are five levels of *Marital status*, (5*4)/2 = 10 pairs of columns are compared in each set of tests, and Bonferroni adjustments are used to adjust the significance values. For each significant pair, the key of the smaller category is placed under the category with the larger proportion.

For the set of tests associated with *Working full time*, the B key appears in each of the other columns. Also, the A key appears in the C column. No other keys are reported in other columns. Thus, you can conclude that the proportion of divorced persons who are working full time is greater than the proportion of married persons working full time, which in turn is greater than the proportion of widowers working full time. The proportions of people who are separated or never married and working full time, but these proportions are greater than the proportion of widowers working full time.

For the tests associated with *Working part time* or *School*, the A, B, and C keys appear in the E column. No other keys are reported in other columns. Thus, the proportions of people who have never been married and are in school or are working

171

part time are greater than the proportions of married, widowed, or divorced people who are in school or working part time.

For the tests associated with *Temporarily not working* or with *Other* labor status, no other keys are reported in any columns. Thus, there is no discernible difference in the proportions of married, widowed, divorced, separated, or never-married people who are temporarily not working or are in an otherwise uncategorized employment situation.

The tests associated with *Retired* show that the proportion of widowers who are retired is greater than the proportions of all other marital categories who are retired. Moreover, the proportions of married or divorced people who are retired is greater than the proportion of never-married persons who are retired.

There are greater proportions of people married, widowed, or separated and keeping house than proportions of people divorced or never married and keeping house.

The proportion of people who have never been married and are *Unemployed*, *laid off* is higher than the proportions of people who are married or widowed and unemployed. Also, note that the *Separated* column is marked with a ".", which indicates that the observed proportion of separated people in the *Unemployed*, *laid off* row is either 0 or 1, and therefore no comparisons can be made using that column for unemployed respondents.

Effects of Nesting and Stacking on Column Proportions Tests

The rule for column proportions tests is as follows: a separate set of pairwise tests is performed for each innermost subtable. To see how nesting affects the tests, consider the previous example, but with *Labor force status* nested within levels of *Gender*.

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Drag and drop *Gender* from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.
- ► Click OK to create the table.

Figure 9-20

Comparisons of column proportions

					l	Marital statu	IS	
				Married	Widowed	Divorced	Separated	Never married
				(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)
Gender	Male	Labor	Working full time	в		в	В	в
		force status	Working part-time					А
		510105	Temporarily not working					
			Unemployed, laid off					А
			Retired	E	ACDE	E		
			School					AC
			Keeping house					
			Other				A	
	Female	Labor	Working full time	в		AВ	в	в
		force status	Working part-time	в				в
		010100	Temporarily not working					
			Unemployed, laid off					А
			Retired	E	ACDE	E		
			School					ABC
			Keeping house	СE	CE		С	
			Other					

With *Labor force status* nested within levels of *Gender*, 14 sets of column proportions tests are performed—one for each level of *Labor force status* for each level of *Gender*. The same letter keys are assigned to the categories of *Marital status*.

There are a couple of things to note about the table results:

- With more tests, there are more columns with zero column proportion. They are most common among separated respondents and widowed males.
- The column differences previously seen among respondents *keeping house* seems to be entirely due to females.

To see how stacking affects the tests:

- Open the table builder again (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ▶ Drag and drop *Highest degree* from the variable list into the Rows area below *Gender*.

Test Statistics

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 9-21

Comparisons of column proportions

						Marital stat	us	
				Married	Widowed	Divorced	Separated	Never married
				(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)
Gender	Male	Labor	Working full time	B		B	в	в
		force	Working part-time					A
		310103	Temporarily not working					
			Unemployed, laid off					A
			Retired	E	ACDE	E		
			School					AC
			Keeping house					
			Other				А	
	Female	Labor	Working full time	в		АВ	в	в
		force status	Working part-time	в				в
			Temporarily not working					
			Unemployed, laid off					A
			Retired	E	ACDE	E		
			School					АВС
			Keeping house	CE	CE		С	
			Other					
Highest	LT High school				ACE			
degree	High school							
	Junior college			в		в		в
	Bachelor			в				в
	Graduate			в				

With *Highest degree* stacked with *Gender*, 19 sets of column means tests are performed—the 14 previously discussed plus one for each level of *Highest degree*. The same letter keys are assigned to the categories of *Marital status*.

There are a few things to note about the table results:

■ The test results for the 14 previously run sets of tests are the same.

- People who have less than a high school degree are more common among widowers than among married, divorced, or never-married respondents.
- People with some post-high school education tend to be more common among those people who are married, divorced, and never married than among widowers.

A Note on Weights and Multiple Response Sets

Case weights are always based on counts, not responses, even when one of the variables is a multiple response variable.

Multiple Response Sets

Custom Tables and the Chart Builder support a special kind of "variable" called a **multiple response set**. Multiple response sets aren't really "variables" in the normal sense. You can't see them in the Data Editor, and other procedures don't recognize them. Multiple response sets use multiple variables to record responses to questions where the respondent can give more than one answer. Multiple response sets are treated like categorical variables, and most of the things you can do with categorical variables, you can also do with multiple response sets.

Multiple response sets are constructed from multiple variables in the data file. A multiple response set is a special construct within an SPSS-format data file. You can define and save multiple sets in an SPSS-format data file, but you cannot import or export multiple response sets from/to other file formats. (You can copy multiple response sets from other SPSS data files using Copy Data Properties, which is accessed from the Data menu in the Data Editor window.)

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorialsample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

All examples provided here display variable labels in dialog boxes, sorted in alphabetical order. Variable list display properties are specified on the General tab in the Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

Counts, Responses, Percentages, and Totals

All of the summary statistics available for categorical variables are also available for multiple response sets. Some additional statistics are also available for multiple response sets.

► From the menus, choose:

Analyze Tables Custom Tables...

Drag and drop *News sources* (this is the descriptive label for the multiple response set *\$mltnews*) from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.

The icon next to the "variable" in the variable list identifies it as a multiple dichotomy set.

Figure 10-1 Multiple dichotomy set icon

Figure 10-2

Multiple dichotomy set displayed in table preview

Custom Tables						
Table Titles Test Statistics Op	tions					
⊻ariables			🖽 No	ırm <u>a</u> l 🗄 Co <u>m</u>	pact 🗋	Layers
Highest year school c Highest year school c Hours per day watchi How get pail datk wee How many grandpare How often does respo How often does respo				C <u>o</u> lumns		
🖉 💑 Marital status [marital] 📲				Count		
News sources [\$mltne			Get news fro	nnnn		
Number of children [gr	SWVS		Get news fro	nnnn		
	Ĕ	News sources	Get news fro	nnnn		
Categories:		-	Get news fro	nnnn		
📕 Get news from newsp 🔺			Get news fro	nnnn		
📕 Get news from news 📗						
Get news from televisi						
Get news from radio						
Get news from internet						
Define	Su	mmary Statistics—			Colores Devilia	
№% <u>S</u> ummary Statistics	Po	sition: Columns		✓ <u>H</u> ide	Lategory Position	c
SS Categories and Totals	Se	ource: Row Varia	ables	¥	Default	×
		ОК	<u>P</u> aste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help

For a multiple dichotomy set, each "category" is, in fact, a separate variable, and the category labels are the variable labels (or variable names for variables without defined variable labels). In this example, the counts that will be displayed represent the number of cases with a *Yes* response for each variable in the set.

- Right-click *News sources* in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Select (click) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box, and then click Apply.
- Right-click News sources again and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Column N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- Click Apply to Selection, and then click OK to create the table.

Figure 10-3

		Count	Column N %
News	Get news from internet	867	41.7%
sources	Get news from radio	551	26.5%
	Get news from television	1077	51.8%
	Get news from news magazines	294	14.1%
	Get news from newspapers	805	38.7%
	Total	2081	100.0%

Multiple dichotomy counts and column percentages

Totals That Don't Add Up

If you look at the numbers in the table, you may notice that there is a fairly large discrepancy between the "totals" and the values that are supposedly being totaled — specifically, the totals appear to be much lower than they should be. This is because the count for each "category" in the table is the number of cases with a value of 1 (a *Yes* response) for that variable, and the total number of *Yes* responses for all five variables in the multiple dichotomy set might easily exceed the total number of cases in the data file.

The total "count," however, is the total number of cases with a *Yes* response for at least one variable in the set, which can never exceed the total number of cases in the data file. In this example, the total count of 2,081 is almost 800 lower than the total number of cases in the data file. If none of these variables have missing values, this means that almost 800 survey respondents indicated that they don't get news from

any of those sources. The total count is the base for the column percentages; so the column percentages in this example sum to more than the 100% displayed for the total column percentage.

Totals That Do Add Up

While "count" is typically a fairly unambiguous term, the above example demonstrates how it could be confusing in the context of totals for multiple response sets, for which *responses* is often the summary statistic you really want.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click *News sources* in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Responses in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- Select Column Responses % in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- Click Apply to Selection, and then click OK to create the table.

Figure 10-4

Multiple dichotomy responses and column response percentages

					Column
		Count	Column N %	Responses	Responses %
News	Get news from internet	867	41.7%	867	24.1%
sources	Get news from radio	551	26.5%	551	15.3%
	Get news from television	1077	51.8%	1077	30.0%
	Get news from news magazines	294	14.1%	294	8.2%
	Get news from newspapers	805	38.7%	805	22.4%
	Total	2081	100.0%	3594	100.0%

For each "category" in the multiple dichotomy set, *Responses* is identical to *Count*—and this will always be the case for multiple dichotomy sets. The totals, however, are very different. The total number of responses is 3,594—over 1,500 more than the total count and over 700 more than the total number of cases in the data file.

For percentages, the totals for *Column N* % and *Column Responses* % are both 100%—but the percentages for each category in the multiple dichotomy set are much lower for column response percentages. This is because the percentage base for

column response percentages is the total number of responses, which in this case is 3,594, resulting in much lower percentages than the column percentage base of 2,081.

Percentage Totals Greater Than 100%

Both column percentages and column response percentages yield total percentages of 100% even though, in our example, the individual values in the *Column N* % column clearly sum to greater than 100%. So, what if you want to show percentages based on total count rather than total responses but also want the "total" percentage to accurately reflect the sum of the individual category percentages?

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click *News sources* in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Column Responses % (Base: Count) in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ► Click Apply to Selection, and then click OK to create the table.

Figure 10-5

Column response percentages with count as the percentage base

						Column
					Column	Responses %
		Count	Column N %	Responses	Responses %	(Base: Count)
News	Get news from internet	867	41.7%	867	24.1%	41.7%
sources	Get news from radio	551	26.5%	551	15.3%	26.5%
	Get news from television	1077	51.8%	1077	30.0%	51.8%
	Get news from news magazines	294	14.1%	294	8.2%	14.1%
	Get news from newspapers	805	38.7%	805	22.4%	38.7%
	Total	2081	100.0%	3594	100.0%	172.7%

Using Multiple Response Sets with Other Variables

In general, you can use multiple response sets just like categorical variables. For example, you can crosstabulate a multiple response set with a categorical variable or nest a multiple response set within a categorical variable.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Drag and drop Gender from the variable list to the left side of the Rows area on the preview pane, nesting the multiple response set News sources within gender categories.

Figure 10-6

Custom Tables							- 🗆 🛛	
Table Titles Test Statistics Op	ions							
⊻ariables				T No	ormal 🛱 Co	mpact	Layers	
🕂 Country of origin mul 🔼				, <u> </u>				
Favor or oppose deat	C <u>o</u> lumns							
Gender [sex]								
General happiness [h					Count	Column N %	Responses	
Get news from news				Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
Get news from newsp			Iale News sources (((((((((((((((((((Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
Get news from radio [Male Female		Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
Get news from televisi				Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
	Gender			Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
🕹 Have gun in home [o 💌	Gondor			Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
Categories				Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
Mala				Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
Eemale				Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
T officie				Get news fro	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnn	
	<						>	
Define	- Summary S	tatistics				٦		
N _% Summary Statistics	Position:	Columns			✓ <u>H</u> ide	Category Po	sition:	
SS <u>C</u> ategories and Totals	So <u>u</u> rce:	Row Variables			~	Default	<u> </u>	
		(ок	<u>P</u> aste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help	

Table preview of nested multiple response set

- Right-click *Gender* in the table preview on the canvas pane and deselect (uncheck)
 Show Variable Label on the pop-up context menu.
- ► Do the same for *News sources*.

This will remove the columns with the variable labels from the table (since they aren't really necessary in this case).

• Click OK to create the table.

Multiple Response Sets

						Column
					Column	Responses %
		Count	Column N %	Responses	Responses %	(Base: Count)
Male	Get news from internet	359	40.1%	359	23.3%	40.1%
	Get news from radio	233	26.0%	233	15.1%	26.0%
	Get news from television	451	50.3%	451	29.3%	50.3%
	Get news from news magazines	121	13.5%	121	7.9%	13.5%
	Get news from newspapers	375	41.9%	375	24.4%	41.9%
	Total	896	100.0%	1539	100.0%	171.8%
Female	Get news from internet	508	42.9%	508	24.7%	42.9%
	Get news from radio	318	26.8%	318	15.5%	26.8%
	Get news from television	626	52.8%	626	30.5%	52.8%
	Get news from news magazines	173	14.6%	173	8.4%	14.6%
	Get news from newspapers	430	36.3%	430	20.9%	36.3%
	Total	1185	100.0%	2055	100.0%	173.4%

Figure 10-7 Multiple response set nested within a categorical variable

Statistics Source Variable and Available Summary Statistics

In the absence of a scale variable in a table, categorical variables and multiple response sets are treated the same way regarding the statistics source variable: The innermost nested variable in the statistics source dimension is the statistics source variable. Since there are some summary statistics that can be assigned only to multiple response sets, this means that the multiple response set must be the innermost nested variable in the statistics source dimension if you want any of the special multiple response summary statistics.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► In the table preview on the canvas pane, drag and drop *News sources* to the left of *Gender*, changing the nesting order.

Figure 10-8

Categorical variable nested within multiple response set

Custom Tables						- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Opt	ions					
<u>V</u> ariables →			8	Normal	岩 Compact	Layers
Country of origin mul Favor or oppose deat Gender [sex]	_			C <u>o</u> lumns		
General happiness [h						Count
Get news from interne			Calmanya fa	Constant	Male	nnnn
Get news from news			dechewsho dender	Female	nnnn	
Get news from radio [Get news fro.	Get nows fro	Gender	Male	nnnn
Get news from televisi			accricova no (Female	nnnn
Happiness of marriage	3	Nous ou roos	Get news fro	Gondor	Male	nnnn
🔒 🔒 Have gun in home [o 🕑	Ľ.	News sources	accrices no	uenuer	Female	nnnn
			Get news fro	Gender	Male	nnnn
			Get news no	uenuer	Female	nnnn
Male			Get news fro	Gender	Male	nnnn
	Ш		det news no	Gender	Female	nnnn
Define	Sum	mary Statistics-				
N _% <u>S</u> ummary Statistics	Pos	ition: Columns		× [Hide Cat	egory Position:
88 Categories and Totals	Sou	urce: Row Varia	ables	~	De	fault 💌
		ОК	Paste	<u><u>R</u>es</u>	et Ca	incel Help

All of the special multiple response summary statistics—responses, column response percentages—are removed from the table preview because the categorical variable *Gender* is now the innermost nested variable and therefore the statistics source variable.

Luckily, the table builder "remembers" these settings. If you move *News sources* back to its previous position, nested within *Gender*, all of the response-related summary statistics are restored to the table preview.

Multiple Category Sets and Duplicate Responses

Multiple category sets provide one feature not available for multiple dichotomy sets: the ability to count duplicate responses. In many cases, duplicate responses in multiple category sets probably represent coding errors. For example, for a survey question such as "What three countries do you think make the best cars?" a response of *Sweden*, *Germany, and Sweden* probably isn't valid.

In other cases, however, duplicate responses may be perfectly valid. For example, if the question were "Where were your last three cars made?" a response of *Sweden*, *Germany, and Sweden* makes perfect sense.

Custom Tables provides a choice for duplicate responses in multiple category sets. By default, duplicate responses are not counted, but you can request that they be included.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► Click Reset to clear any previous settings.
- ▶ Drag and drop *Car maker, most recent cars* from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.

The icon next to the "variable" in the variable list identifies it as a multiple category set.

Figure 10-9 Multiple category set icon



Figure 10-10

Multiple category set in table builder preview

🔁 Custom Tables					- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Opti	ons				
<u>V</u> ariables			Norr	nal 🗄 Comp	act 🗋 Layers
1st mentioned country 2nd mentioned country 3rd mentioned country Age category [agecat] Age of respondent [age]				C <u>o</u> lumns	
💑 Belief in life after death				Count	
Born in this country [born]			American	nnnn	
Car maker, most recent			Japanese	nnnn	
Car maker, second car	0,00	Car maker,	Korean	nnnn	
📓 💑 Car maker, third car [ca 👝		cars	German	nnnn	
Confidence in hanks ? F		-	Swedish	nnnn	
Categories:			Other	nnnn	
Japanese 💽 Korean					
Define N‰ Summary Statistics	- <mark>Sumn</mark> Posjt	nary Statistics ion: Columns	~	<u>H</u> ide	Category Position:
Categories and Totals	Sou	rce: Row Varia	bles 🗸		
		ОК	Paste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel Help

184

For multiple category sets, the categories displayed represent the common set of defined value labels for all of the variables in the set (whereas for multiple dichotomy sets, the "categories" are actually the variable labels for each variable in the set).

- ► Right-click *Car maker, most recent cars* in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- ▶ Select (click) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box, and then click Apply.
- ► Right-click *Car maker, most recent cars* again and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Responses in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- Click Apply to Selection, and then click OK to create the table.

Figure 10-11

Multiple category set: Counts and responses without duplicates

		Count	Responses
Car	American	1938	1938
maker,	Japanese	1327	1327
most	Korean	695	695
cars	German	693	693
	Swedish	360	360
	Other	343	343
	Total	2832	5356

By default, duplicate responses are not counted; so in this table, the values for each category in the *Count* and *Responses* columns are identical. Only the totals differ.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► Click the Options tab.
- Click (check) Count duplicate responses for multiple category sets.
- Click OK to create the table.

185

		Count	Responses
Car	American	1938	2797
maker,	Japanese	1327	1717
most	Korean	695	760
cars	German	693	754
	Swedish	360	383
	Other	343	359
	Total	2832	6770

Figure 10-12 Multiple category set with duplicate responses included

In this table, there is quite a noticeable difference between the values in the *Count* and *Responses* columns, particularly for American cars, indicating that many respondents have owned multiple American cars.

Significance Testing with Multiple Response Sets

You can use multiple response sets in significance tests in essentially the same way you would use categorical variables.

- For tests of independence (chi-square) or comparing column proportions (z-tests), tests are performed on counts, and Count must be one of the summary statistics displayed in the table.
- For multiple category sets, tests comparing column proportions or column means (t-tests) are not performed if Count duplicate responses for multiple category sets is selected on the Options tab. For more information, see "Custom Tables: Options Tab" in Chapter 2 on p. 52.

Tests of Independence with Multiple Response Sets

This example creates a crosstabulation of a categorical variable and a multiple response set and performs a chi-square test of independence on the crosstabulation.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to clear any previous settings.
- ► Drag and drop *News sources* (this is the descriptive label for the multiple dichotomy set *\$mltnews*) from the variable list into the Columns area of the canvas pane.
- Drag and drop *Gender* from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.

Figure 10-13

News sources (multiple response set) and Gender selected as column and row variables

🔤 Custom Tables	_				-		- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics O	ptions						
<u>V</u> ariables ■				Norm <u>a</u>	al 🗄 Compa	act 🗋	Layers
Respondent id nu Labor force status [C <u>o</u> lumns	
Marital status (marit							News sc
Age of respondent					Get news fr	Get news fr	Get new
Highest year of sch		Candar	Male		nnnn	nnnn	
Winghest year schoo	2	Gender	Female		nnnn	nnnn	1
Highest year schoo Highest degree [de Gender [sex]							
- Define	e.	ummaru Stal	tistics			eeeeeee	
N _% <u>S</u> ummary Statistics 82 <u>C</u> ategories and Totals	P	initialy stat osition: Co Source: Co	olumns olumn Variable	► s ►	₩ <u>H</u> ide	Cat <u>eg</u> ory Position Default	n:
	0	K (<u>P</u> aste		<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help

- ► Click the Test Statistics tab.
- ► Select (check) Tests of independence (chi-square).
- ► If it is not already selected, select Include multiple response variables in test.

Multiple Response Sets

Figure 10-14 Test Statistics tab

Custom Tables	
Table Titles Test Statistics Options	
✓ Tests of independence (Chi-square)	Alpha: 0.05
Compare column means (t-tests)	Alpha: 0.05
Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bo	(onferroni method)
\Box Estimate variance only from the categories of	compared (always done for multiple response variables)
Compare column proportions (z-tests)	Alp <u>h</u> a: 0.05
Adjust p-values for multiple comparisons (Bo	onferroni method)
Include multiple response variables in tests Chi-square and column proportions tests app both the rows and columns.	oply to tables in which categorical variables exist in
Column means tests apply to tables in which variables exist in the columns.	h scale variables exist in the rows and categorical
Tests are not performed for tables in which c dimension.	category labels are moved out of their default table
Totals are excluded from all tests. Subtotals a are hidden or if specified above.	s are used only if the categories to which they apply
	Paste <u>R</u> eset Cancel Help

• Click OK to run the procedure.

Figure 10-15 Chi-square results

		News sources
Gender	Chi-square	10.266
	df	5
	Sig.	.068

The significance level of 0.068 for the chi-square test indicates that males and females probably do not differ significantly in their choices of news sources (assuming you use a significance value of 0.05 or lower as your criterion for determining statistical significance).

Comparing Column Means with Multiple Response Sets

This example calculates means of a scale variable within categories defined by a multiple response set and compares each category mean to every other category mean for significant differences.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► Click Reset to clear any previous settings.
- ► Drag and drop *News sources* (this is the descriptive label for the multiple dichotomy set *\$mltnews*) from the variable list into the Columns area of the canvas pane.
- Drag and drop *Age of respondent* into the Rows area of the canvas pane.

Figure 10-16

Comparing mean age across multiple response categories

🔁 Custom Tables					- 🗆 🛛
Table Titles Test Statistics Or	otions				
Variables			Norm <u>a</u> l C	Co <u>m</u> pact	Layers
Respondent id nu Labor force status []			C <u>o</u> lu	mns	
😽 Marital status [marit 📋	_			News sources	
Number of children		Get news fr	Get news fr	Get news fr	Get news fr
Highest year of sch		Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean
🖉 🛷 Highest year schoo	Age of resp	nnnn	nnnn	nnnn	nnnn
Highest year schoo Highest year schoo Highest year schoo Highest degree [de Gender [sex] Date of remainden	Bows				
					>
N _{% Summary Statistics}	Position: Column	s ns	✓ <u>H</u> ide	Category F	Position:
Categories and Totals	Source: Row V	Paste	Beset	Cancel	
		Laste			

• Click the Test Statistics tab.

- Select (check) Compare Column Means (t-tests).
- ▶ If it is not already selected, select Include multiple response variables in test.
- Click OK to run the procedure.

Figure 10-17

Significance test results

		Ne	ws sources		
		Get news	Get news		Get news
	Get news from	from news	from	Get news	from
	newspapers	magazines	LEIEVISIULI	nomraulo	Internet
	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean
Age of respondent	52	40	48	40	40

Comparisons of Column Means

		Ne	ws sources		
		Get news	Get news	0-4	Get news
	Get news from	from news	Trom	Get news	rom
	newspapers	magazines	television	from radio	internet
	(A)	(B)	(C)	(D)	(E)
Age of respondent	BCDE		BDE		

Results are based on two-sided tests assuming equal variances with significance level 0.05. For each significant pair, the key of the smaller category appears under the category with larger mean.

- Each category of the multiple response set is identified by a letter (A, B, C, D, E), and for each category for which the mean of another category is both lower and differs significantly from the mean of that category, the letter representing the category with the lower mean is displayed.
- *Get news from newspapers* (A) has the highest mean age, and all other category means differ significantly from it.
- Get news from television (C) has the next highest mean age, and all remaining category means (B, D, and E) differ significantly from it. (C also differs significantly from A, as previously indicated.)
- The mean ages for Get news from magazine (B), Get news from radio (D), and Get news from internet (E) do not differ significantly from each other.

Missing Values

Many data files contain a certain amount of missing data. A wide variety of factors can result in missing data. For example, survey respondents may not answer every question, certain variables may not be applicable to some cases, and coding errors may result in some values being thrown out.

There are two kinds of missing values in SPSS:

- User-missing. Values defined as containing missing data. Value labels can be assigned to these values to identify why the data are missing (such as a code of 99 and a value label of *Not Applicable* for pregnancy in males).
- System-missing. If no value is present for a numeric variable, it is assigned the system-missing value. This is indicated by a period in the Data View of the Data Editor.

SPSS offers a number of facilities that can help to compensate for the effects of missing data and even analyze patterns in missing data. This chapter, however, has a much simpler goal: to describe how Custom Tables handles missing data and how missing data affect the computation of summary statistics.

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *missing_values.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorialsample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed. This is a very simple, completely artificial data file, with only one variable and ten cases, designed to illustrate basic concepts about missing values.

Tables without Missing Values

By default, user-missing categories are not displayed in custom tables (and system-missing values are never displayed).

- From the menus, choose:
 Analyze
 Tables
 Custom Tables...
- ▶ In the table builder, drag and drop *Variable with missing values* (the only variable in the file) from the variable list into the Rows area of the canvas pane.
- Right-click the variable on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Click (check) Total in the Categories and Totals dialog box, and then click Apply.
- ► Right-click *Variable with missing values* in the table preview on the canvas pane again and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- ► In the Summary Statistics dialog box, select Column N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ► Click Apply to Selection.



🗖 Custom Tables						- • •
Table Titles Test Statistics Optio	ons					
⊻ariables	F		Norm	al 🗄 Compa	ct 🗋	Layers
Variable with missing values [C <u>o</u> lumns		
	$\left \right $			Count	Column N %	
			Low	nnn	nnnn n%	
	SANC	Variable with	Medium	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Categories:	Ē	missing values	High	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Low			Total	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
 Medium High Missing Values 						
Define	Summ	ary Statistics				
N _% Summary Statistics	Positio	on: Columns	~	Hide	Category Position	n:
SS Categories and Totals	So <u>u</u> ro	ce: Row Variable	es 🗸		Default	~
-			easte	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help

You may notice a slight discrepancy between the categories displayed in the table preview on the canvas pane and the categories displayed in the Categories list (below the variable list on the left side of the table builder). The Categories list contains a category labeled *Missing Values* that isn't included in the table preview because missing value categories are excluded by default. Since "values" is plural in the label, this indicates that the variable has two or more user-missing categories.

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 11-2

Table without missing values

		Count	Column N %
Variable with	Low	2	28.6%
missing	Medium	3	42.9%
values	High	2	28.6%
	Total	7	100.0%

Everything in this table is perfectly fine. The category values add up to the totals, and the percentages accurately reflect the values you'd get using the total count as the percentage base (for example, 3/7=0.429, or 42.9%). The total count, however,

194

is not the total number of cases in the data file; it's the total number of cases with **non-missing** values, or cases that don't have user-missing or system-missing values for that variable.

Including Missing Values in Tables

... . .

Figure 11-3

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► Right-click *Variable with missing values* in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- Click (check) Missing Values in the Categories and Totals dialog box, and then click Apply.

Madahlar	IS					
Valiables			Norm <u>a</u> l	🛛 🗄 Compac	. <u>C</u> l	ayers
Tariable with missing values [2 <u>o</u> lumns		
				Count	Column N %	
			Low	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
	N/S	Variable with	Medium	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
	Bo	missing	High	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
		values	Missing Valu	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Medium High Missing Values			Total	nnnn	nnnn.n%	
Define N% Summary Statistics Signature Categories and Totals	Summa Position Source	ry Statistics n: Columns e: Row Variable	es 👻	L Hide	Cat <u>eg</u> ory Position: Default	

Now the table preview includes a *Missing Values* category. Although the table preview displays only one category for missing values, all user-missing categories will be displayed in the table.

► Right-click *Variable with missing values* in the table preview on the canvas pane again and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.

195

- In the Summary Statistics dialog box, click (check) Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals.
- Select Valid N in the custom summary Statistics list and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ► Do the same for Total N.
- Click Apply to Selection, and then click OK in the table builder to create the table.

Figure 11-4 Table with missing values

		Count	Column N %	Valid N	Total N
Variable	Low	2	22.2%		
with	Medium	3	33.3%		
missing	High	2	22.2%		
values	Don't know	1	11.1%		
	Not applicable	1	11.1%		
	Total	9	100.0%	7	10

The two defined user-missing categories—*Don't know* and *Not applicable*—are now displayed in the table, and the total count is now 9 instead of 7, reflecting the addition of the two cases with user-missing values (one in each user-missing category). The column percentages are also different now, because they are based on the number of non-missing and user-missing values. Only system-missing values are not included in the percentage calculation.

Valid N shows the total number of non-missing cases (7), and *Total N* shows the total number of cases, including both user-missing and system-missing. The total number of cases is 10, one more than the count of non-missing and user-missing values displayed as the total in the *Count* column. This is because there's one case with a system-missing value.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Right-click Variable with missing values in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- Select Column Valid N % in the top Statistics list (not the custom summaries for totals and subtotals) and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ► Do the same for Column Total N %.

- ► You can also add them both to the list of custom summary statistics for totals and subtotals.
- Click Apply to Selection, and then click OK to create the table.

Figure 11-5

Table with missing values and valid and total percentages

		Count	Column N %	Column Valid N %	Column Total N %	Valid N	Total N
Variable	Low	2	22.2%	28.6%	20.0%		
with	Medium	3	33.3%	42.9%	30.0%		
missing	High	2	22.2%	28.6%	20.0%		
values	Don't know	1	11.1%	.0%	10.0%		
	Not applicable	1	11.1%	.0%	10.0%		
	Total	9	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	7	10

- Column N % is the percentage in each category based on the number of non-missing and user-missing values (since user-missing values have been explicitly included in the table).
- Column Valid N % is the percentage in each category based on only the valid, non-missing cases. These values are the same as the column percentages were in the original table that did not include user-missing values.
- Column Total N % is the percentage in each category based on all cases, including both user-missing and system-missing. If you add up the individual category percentages in this category, you'll see that they add up to only 90%, because one case out of the total of 10 cases (10%) has the system-missing value. Although this case is included in the base for the percentage calculations, no category is provided in the table for cases with system-missing values.

Formatting and Customizing Tables

Custom Tables provides the ability to control a number of table-formatting properties as part of the table-building process, including:

- Display format and labels for summary statistics
- Minimum and maximum data column width
- Text or value displayed in empty cells

These settings persist within the table builder interface (until you change them, reset the table builder settings, or open a different data file), enabling you to create multiple tables with the same formatting properties without manually editing the tables after creating them. You can also save these formatting settings, along with all of the other table parameters, using the Paste button in the table builder interface to paste command syntax into a syntax window, which you can then save as a file.

You can also change many formatting properties of tables after they have been created, using all of the formatting capabilities available in the Viewer for pivot tables. This chapter, however, focuses on controlling table formatting properties before the table is created. For more information on pivot tables, use the Index tab in the Help system and type pivot tables as the keyword.

Sample Data File

The examples in this chapter use the data file *survey_sample.sav*. This file is located in the *Tutorialsample_files* folder within the folder in which SPSS is installed.

All examples provided here display variable labels in dialog boxes, sorted in alphabetical order. Variable list display properties are set on the General tab in the Options dialog box (Edit menu, Options).

Summary Statistics Display Format

Custom Tables attempts to apply relatively intelligent default formats to summary statistics, but there will probably be times when you want to override these defaults.

► From the menus, choose:

```
Analyze
Tables
Custom Tables...
```

- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list into the Rows area on the canvas pane.
- ► Drag and drop *Confidence in television* below *Age category* in the Rows area, stacking the two variables in the row dimension.
- Right-click Age category in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Select All Row Variables from the pop-up context menu.
- ► Right-click *Age category* again and select Categories and Totals from the pop-up context menu.
- ▶ In the Categories and Totals dialog box, select (check) Total and then click Apply.
- Right-click either variable in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- Select Column N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow key to add it to the Display list.
- Select (check) Custom Summary Statistics for Totals and Subtotals.
- ► In the Statistics list for custom summary statistics, select Column N % and click the arrow to add it to the Display list.
- ► Do the same for Mean.
- ► Then click Apply to All.

Custom Tables	tions						_ 0
⊻ariables					ormal 🛱 Com	pact (Layers
Car maker, most rec				C <u>o</u> lumn	s		
💑 Car maker, third car 🔳	Π			Count	Column N %	Mean	
Confidence in bank			Less than 25	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Confidence in realic			25 to 34	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Confidence in major			35 to 44	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Confidence in press		Age category	45 to 54	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
📶 Confidence in televi 🔽	NS.		55 to 64	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
	βġ		65 or older	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Categories:			Total	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn.nn	
📕 A great deal			A great deal	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Only some		Confidence in	Only some	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Hardly any		television	Hardly any	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Missing Values			Total	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn	
Define N% Summary Statistics	P	Immary Statistics	is IS		Mide	Cat <u>e</u> gory Pos	sition:
S Categories and Totals	s	ource: Row Va	ariables	Paste	Beset	Default	Help

Figure 12-1 *Default display formats in table preview*

The placeholder values in the table preview reflect the default format for each summary statistic.

- For counts, the default display format is nnnn—integer values with no decimal places.
- For percentages, the default display format is nnnn.n%—numbers with a single decimal place and a percentage sign after the value.
- For the mean, the default display format is *different* for the two variables.

For summary statistics that aren't some form of count (including Valid N and Total N) or percentage, the default display format is the display format defined for the variable in the Data Editor. If you look at the variables in Variable View in the Data Editor, you will see that *Age category* (variable *agecat*) is defined as having two decimal positions, while *Confidence in television* (variable *contv*) is defined as having zero decimal positions.

F V	igu /aria	i re 1 able	2-2 View in th	he Data E	ditor								
ĺ	🛅 s	urve	y_sample.s	av - SPSS D	ata Ec	litor					- [1	×)
	<u>F</u> ile	<u>E</u> dit	<u>V</u> iew <u>D</u> ata	<u>T</u> ransform	<u>A</u> nalyz	e <u>G</u> ra	aphs	Utilities	Add- <u>o</u> ns	<u>W</u> indow	Help		
			Name	Туре	W	ʻidth	De	cimals		Label		Ī	^
		- 36	contv	Numeric	1		0		Confider	nce in tel	evision	T	
		37	agecat	Numeric	8		2		Age category				
		- 38	childcat	Numeric	8		2		Number of children (group)	†
		- 39	news1	Numeric	6		0		Get news from newspape			r	-
		40	news2	Numeric	meric 6 0				Get news from news mag			=	
		41	news3	Numeric	6		0		Get new	's from te	levision		
		42	news4	Numeric	6		0		Get new	's from ra	dio		
		43	news5	Numeric	6		0		Get new	's from in	ternet		
		44	car1	Numeric	8		0		Car mak	er, most	recent o	;	
		45	car2	Numeric	8		0		Car mak	er, seco	nd car	Tr	Y
	4)())\D	ata View λV a	ariable View	1					<)[<	
							SPS	S Process	or is ready				

This is one of those cases where the default format probably isn't the format you want, since it would probably be better if both mean values displayed the same number of decimals.

 Right-click either variable in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.

Formatting and Customizing Tables

	gorical Variable:	3			
ected Variable: (Multiple Var	iables)				
itatistics:	Display:				
Unweighted Count	^	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
Row N %	Count		Count	nnnn	0
Lable N %	Column	N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1
Row Valid N % Column Valid N %	~				
<u>C</u> ustom Summary Statistic itatistics:	s for Totals and Sub Display:	totals —			
✓ <u>C</u> ustom Summary Statistic itatistics: Unweighted Count	s for Totals and Sub Display:	totals Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
<u>C</u> ustom Summary Statistic itatistics: Unweighted Count Row N % Table N %	s for Totals and Sub Display:	totals Statistic	Count	Format	Decimals
☑ Custom Summary Statistic tatjistics: Unweighted Count Row N % Table N %	s for Totals and Sub Display: Count Column	totals Statistic N %	Count Column N %	Format	Decimals 0 1
Custom Summary Statistic itatistics: Unweighted Count Row N % Table N % Subtable N % Laver N %	s for Totals and Sub Display: Count Column Mean	totals Statistic N %	Count Count Column N % Mean	Format nnnn nnnn.n% Auto	Decimals 0 1

For the mean, the Format cell in the Display list indicates that the format is *Auto*, which means that the defined display format for the variable will be used, and the Decimals cell is disabled. In order to specify the number of decimals, you first need to select a different format.

- ► In the custom summary statistics Display list, click the Format cell for the mean, and select nnnn from the drop-down list of formats.
- ▶ In the Decimals cell, enter a value of 1.
- ► Then click Apply to All to apply this setting to both variables.

Figure 12-4

Table preview with user-specified summary statistics display formats

Custom Tables				-			_ 🗆 🞽
Table Titles Test Statistics 0	ntions						
Variables	puono			TT N	ormal 😑 Com	nact	
				jum no		pace	
Car maker, most rec				C <u>o</u> lum	ns		
Car maker, second							
Car maker, third car	\square			Count	Column N %	Mean	
Confidence in bank			Less than 25	nnn	nnnn.n%		5
Confidence in educ			25 to 34	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Confidence in medi			35 to 44	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Confidence in press		Age category	45 to 54	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
📶 Confidence in televi 🗸	SN .		55 to 64	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
*	ĥ		65 or older	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Categories:			Total	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n	3
A great deal			A great deal	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Uniy some		Confidence in	Only some	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
Missing Values		television	Hardly any	nnnn	nnnn.n%		
	Ш		Total	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn.n	
Define	S	ummary Statistics					
N _% Summary Statistics	P	osition: Column	IS		✓ <u>H</u> ide	Category Po	sition:
SS Categories and Totals	9	Source: Row Va	ariables		~	Default	~
			ок	Paste	Reset	Cancel	Help
		_		(

Now the table preview indicates that both mean values will be displayed with one decimal position. (You could go ahead and create this table now—but you might find the "mean" value for *Age category* a little difficult to interpret, since the actual numeric codes for this variable range only from 1 to 6.)

Display Labels for Summary Statistics

In addition to the display formats for summary statistics, you can also control the descriptive labels for each summary statistic.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click Reset to clear any previous settings in the table builder.
- ► In the table builder, drag and drop *Age category* from the variable list into the Rows area on the canvas pane.

Formatting and Customizing Tables

- Drag and drop *How get paid last week* from the variable list into the Columns area on the canvas pane.
- Right-click Age category in the table preview on the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- Select Column N % in the Statistics list and click the arrow key to add it to the Display list.
- Double-click anywhere in the word *Column* in the Label cell in the Display list to edit the contents of the cell. Delete the word *Column* from the label, changing the label to simply %.
- Edit the Label cell for *Count* in the same way, changing the label to simply *N*.

While we're here, let's change the format of the Column N % statistic to remove the unnecessary percentage sign (since the column label indicates that the column contains percentages).

► Click the Format cell for *Column N* % and select nnnn.n from the drop-down list of formats.

Figure	12-5
--------	------

Summary Statistics dialog box with modified labels and formats

		<u>D</u> isplay:			
Unweighted Count	<u>^</u>	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
How N % T-N-N ≫		Count	Count	nnnn	0
i dole ni % Subtable N %		Column N %	Column N %	nnnn.n%	1
Laver N %					
Row Valid N %					
Column Valid N %	×				
Column Valid N %	*	1			
Column Valid N %	tistics for Tota	als and Subtotals			
Column Valid N %	tistics for Tota	als and Subtotals			
Column Valid N ∜] <u>C</u> ustom Summary Stat atjstics: Jnweighted Count	tistics for Tota	als and Subtotals Display: Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals
Column Valid N %	tistics for Tota	als and Subtotals Display: Statistic Count	Label Count	Format	Decimals
Column Valid N %	tistics for Tota	als and Subtotals Display: Statistic Count Column N %	Count Column N %	Format	Decimals 0
Column Valid N % Custom Summary Stat atistics: Jnweighted Count Row N % Table N % Subtable N % Subtable N %	tistics for Tota	als and Subtotals Display: Statistic Count Column N %	Count Column N %	Format nnnn nnnn.n%	Decimals 0 1
Column Valid N %	tistics for Tota	als and Subtotals Display: Statistic Count Column N %	Count Column N %	Format nnnn nnnn.n%	Decimals 0 1

► Then click Apply to Selection.

Figure 12-6

Table preview with modified summary statistics labels

Custom Tables							- 0
Table Titles Test Statistics C)ptions						
⊻ariables				Norr	nal 岩 Com	pact Ӷ] <u>L</u> ayers
Happiness of marria Have gun in home [,			
Highest year of sch	Π		-	Hourly w	Jage	Daily wa	age
Highest year school			F	N	%	N	%
Highest year school			Less than 25	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn	nnnn.n
🔗 Hours per day watc			25 to 34	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn	nnnn.ni
How get paid last w	\$	Ago optogoru	35 to 44	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn	nnnn.ni
🖉 餐 How many grandpa 💽	Ê	Age calegoly	45 to 54	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn	nnnn.ni
			55 to 64	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn	nnnn.n
Lategories:			65 or older	nnnn	nnnn.n%	nnnn	nnnn.ni
Daily wage	<) <)) (^{S)}	ummary Statistic:	ш \$		_		>
№% <u>S</u> ummary Statistics	P	osition: Column	ns	~	<u>H</u> ide	Lategory Posit	ion:
88 <u>C</u> ategories and Totals		Source: Row V	ariables	~	•	Default	¥
			ок	Paste	<u>R</u> eset	Cancel	Help

The table preview displays the modified display format and the modified labels.

• Click OK to create the table.

Figure 12-7

Table with modified summary statistics labels

							How get	paid last wee	:k				
		Hourly	wage	Daily	wage	Weekly	wage	Monthly	salary	Annual	salary	Other pay rate	
		N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
Age	Less than 25	91	14.0	0	.0	12	9.7	3	2.0	7	3.1	14	7.7
category	25 to 34	175	26.9	5	29.4	33	26.6	37	24.8	63	28.0	31	17.1
	35 to 44	185	28.5	5	29.4	42	33.9	45	30.2	66	29.3	61	33.7
	45 to 54	124	19.1	5	29.4	25	20.2	38	25.5	58	25.8	41	22.7
	55 to 64	52	8.0	0	.0	10	8.1	23	15.4	29	12.9	19	10.5
	65 or older	23	3.5	2	11.8	2	1.6	3	2.0	2	.9	15	8.3

Column Width

You may have noticed that the table in the above example is rather wide. One solution to this problem would be to simply swap the row and column variables. Another solution is to make the columns narrower, since they seem to be much wider than
Formatting and Customizing Tables

necessary. (In fact, the reason we shortened the summary statistics labels was so that we could make the columns narrower.)

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- ► Click the Options tab.
- ▶ In the Width for Data Columns group, select Custom.
- ► For the Maximum, type 36. (Make sure that the Units setting is Points.)

Figure 12-8

Custom Tables dialog box, Options tab

Table Titles Test Statistics Options	
- Data Cell Appearance	
Empty Cells: O Zero O TableLook settings	
O <u>B</u> lank ⊙ <u>C</u> ustom	
◯ Iext:	1999
Maximum: 36	
Statistics that Cannot be Computed:	
Missing Values for Scale Variables 	
Count guplicate responses for multiple category sets	
OK <u>P</u> aste <u>B</u> eset Cancel H	elp

► Click OK to create the table.

Figure 12-9

Table with reduced column widths

			How get paid last week											
		Hourly wage Daily		Daily v	Daily wage		Weekly wage		Monthly salary		Annual salary		Other pay rate	
		N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	
Age	Less than 25	91	14.0	0	.0	12	9.7	3	2.0	7	3.1	14	7.7	
category	25 to 34	175	26.9	5	29.4	33	26.6	37	24.8	63	28.0	31	17.1	
	35 to 44	185	28.5	5	29.4	42	33.9	45	30.2	66	29.3	61	33.7	
	45 to 54	124	19.1	5	29.4	25	20.2	38	25.5	58	25.8	41	22.7	
	55 to 64	52	8.0	0	.0	10	8.1	23	15.4	29	12.9	19	10.5	
	65 or older	23	3.5	2	11.8	2	1.6	3	2.0	2	.9	15	8.3	

Now the table is much more compact.

Display Value for Empty Cells

By default, a 0 is displayed in empty cells (cells that contain no cases). You can instead display nothing in these cells (leave them blank) or specify a text string to display in empty cells.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click the Options tab.
- ▶ In the Data Cell Appearance group, for Empty Cells select Text and type None.
- Click OK to create the table.

Figure 12-10 Table with "None" displayed in empty cells

			How get paid last week										
		Hourly wage Daily wage		wage	Weekly wage		Monthly salary		Annual salary		Other pay rate		
		N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%
Age	Less than 25	91	14.0	None	None	12	9.7	3	2.0	7	3.1	14	7.7
category	25 to 34	175	26.9	5	29.4	33	26.6	37	24.8	63	28.0	31	17.1
	35 to 44	185	28.5	5	29.4	42	33.9	45	30.2	66	29.3	61	33.7
	45 to 54	124	19.1	5	29.4	25	20.2	38	25.5	58	25.8	41	22.7
	55 to 64	52	8.0	None	None	10	8.1	23	15.4	29	12.9	19	10.5
	65 or older	23	3.5	2	11.8	2	1.6	3	2.0	2	.9	15	8.3

Now the four empty cells in the table display the text *None* instead of a value of 0.

Display Value for Missing Statistics

If a statistic cannot be computed, the default display value is a period (.), which is the symbol used to indicate the system-missing value. This is different from an "empty" cell, and therefore the display value for missing statistics is controlled separately from the display value for cells that contain no cases.

• Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).

► Drag and drop *Hours per day watching TV* from the variable list to the top of the Columns area on the canvas, above *How get paid last week*.

Since *Hours per day watching TV* is a scale variable, it automatically becomes the statistics source variable and the summary statistic changes to the mean.

- Right-click *Hours per day watching TV* in the table preview in the canvas pane and select Summary Statistics from the pop-up context menu.
- Select Valid N in the Statistics list and click the arrow key to add it to the Display list.

Figure 12-11

Summary Statistics	dialog	box fo	or scale	variables
--------------------	--------	--------	----------	-----------

Summary Statistics: So	cale Variab	les				8
Selected Variable: Hours p	er day watchir	ıg TV				
Statistics:		<u>D</u> isplay:				
Std. Deviation	~	Statistic	Label	Format	Decimals	
Sum		Mean	Mean	Auto		
l otal N Variance		Valid N	Valid N	nnnn	0	
Bow N %						*
Column N %						
Table N %	×					
	A	oply to <u>S</u> election App	ly to <u>A</u> ll Clos	е <u>Н</u>	elp	

- Click Apply to Selection.
- ► Click the Options tab.
- ▶ In the text field for Statistics that Cannot be Computed, type NA.

Figure 12-12

Changing the display value for statistics that cannot be computed

Empty Cells: OZero	TableLook settings	
O <u>B</u> lank	⊙ <u>C</u> ustom	
<u> </u>	Mi <u>n</u> imum: 36	
	Ma <u>x</u> imum: 36	
Statistics that Cannot be NA Computed:	Units: Points	
Missing Values for Scale Variables Maximize use of available data (variable-by-variable deletion)	O Use consistent case base across scale variables (listwise deletion)	
Count duplicate responses for multiple catego	ary sets	

► Click OK to create the table.

Figure 12-13

Table with "NA" displayed for missing statistics

Hours per day watching TV													
						Ho	ow get pai	id last wee	ek				
		Hourly	wage	Daily wage		Weekly wage		Monthly salary		Annual salary		Other p	ay rate
			Valid		Valid		Valid		Valid		Valid		Valid
		Mean	N	Mean	N	Mean	N	Mean	N	Mean	N	Mean	N
Age	Less than 25	3	71	NA	None	3	10	2	3	2	6	2	8
category	25 to 34	3	134	5	2	2	30	2	29	2	52	2	22
	35 to 44	3	136	2	5	3	30	2	34	2	47	3	46
	45 to 54	2	90	2	4	2	22	2	36	2	45	2	34
	55 to 64	3	40	NA	None	3	7	2	15	2	23	3	15
	65 or older	3	18	2	2	1	1	NA	0	1	2	3	11

The text *NA* is displayed for the mean in three cells in the table. In each case, the corresponding *Valid N* value explains why: There are no cases with which to compute the mean.

You may, however, notice what appears to be a slight discrepancy—one of those three Valid N values is displayed as a 0, rather than the label *None* that is supposed to be displayed in cells with no cases. This is because although there are no valid cases to use to compute the mean, the category isn't really empty. If you go back to the original

table with just the two categorical variables, you will see that there are, in fact, three cases in this crosstabulated category. There are no valid cases, however, because all three have missing values for the scale variable *Hours per day watching TV*.

Changing the Default TableLook

Many of the display properties of pivot tables can be controlled with TableLooks. A wide variety of predefined TableLooks are available, and you can control the default TableLook that determines the display properties applied to pivot tables when they are created.

- From the menus, choose:
 Edit Options...
- Click the Pivot Tables tab.
- ▶ From the list of TableLooks, select *Contrast 3.tlo*.

Figure 12-14 Changing the default TableLook

Options	×
Options Data Currency S General Viewer Draft Viewer Output Labels Charts Interactive TableLook D:\\SPSS\Looks\Contrast 3.tlo Sample 30 teer/ts Perincular D:\\SPSS\Looks\Contrast 3.tlo Image: Sample 30 teer/ts Perincular D:contrast 2 tlo Image: Sample 30 teer/ts Perincular Contrast 3 tlo Image: Sample 30 teer/ts Perincular Contrast 5 tlo Image: Sample Image: Sample Image: Set TableLook Directory Image: Sample Image: Sample Adjust Column Widths for Image: Sample Default Editing Mode Edit all tables in Viewer Edit all tables in Viewer	Scripts Privot Tables
OK Cancel Apply	Help

► Click OK.

- Open the table builder (Analyze menu, Tables, Custom Tables).
- Click OK to create the table.

Figure 12-15

New default TableLook applied to a newly created table

						Hour	s per day	watchin	ig TV				
			How get paid last week										
		Hourly wage Daily wage		Weekly wage Monthly		thly salary Annu		salary	Other p	ay rate			
			Valid		Valid		Valid		Valid		Valid		Valid
		Mean	N	Mean	N	Mean	N	Mean	N	Mean	N	Mean	N
Age	Less than 25	3	71	NA	None	3	10	2	3	2	6	2	8
category	25 to 34	3	134	5	2	2	30	2	29	2	52	2	22
	35 to 44	3	136	2	5	3	30	2	34	2	47	3	46
	45 to 54	2	90	2	4	2	22	2	36	2	45	2	34
	55 to 64	3	40	NA	None	3	7	2	15	2	23	3	15
	65 or older	3	18	2	2	1	1	NA	0	1	2	3	11

Every table you create will use this TableLook until you specify a different default TableLook. You can also create your own TableLooks and apply different TableLooks to tables you've already created. For more information, use the Index tab in the Help system and type TableLooks as the keyword.



TABLES Command Syntax Converter

If you have command syntax files that contain TABLES syntax that you want to convert to CTABLES syntax, a simple utility program is provided to help you get started with the conversion process. There are, however, significant differences between TABLES and CTABLES functionality, and it is likely that you will find that the utility program cannot convert some of your TABLES syntax jobs or may generate CTABLES syntax that produces tables that do not closely resemble the original tables produced by the TABLES command. In most cases, you can edit the converted syntax to produce a table closely resembling the original.

The utility program is designed to:

- Create a new syntax file from an existing syntax file. The original syntax file is not altered.
- Convert only TABLES commands in the syntax file. Other commands in the file are not altered.
- Retain the original TABLES syntax in commented form.
- Identify the beginning and end of each conversion block with comments.
- Identify TABLES syntax commands that could not be converted.
- Convert command syntax files that follow either interactive or production mode syntax rules.

The utility program may convert TABLES commands incorrectly under some circumstances, including TABLES commands that contain:

- Parenthesized variable names with the initial letters "sta" or "lab" in the TABLES subcommand if the variable is parenthesized by itself—for example, var1 by (statvar) by (labvar). These will be interpreted as the (STATISTICS) and (LABELS) keywords.
- SORT subcommands that use the abbreviations A or D to indicate ascending or descending sort order. These will be interpreted as variable names.

The utility program cannot convert TABLES commands that contain:

- Syntax errors.
- OBSERVATION subcommands that refer to a range of variables using the TO keyword (for example, var01 TO var05).
- String literals broken into segments separated by plus signs (for example, TITLE "My" + "Title").
- Macro calls that, in the absence of macro expansion, would be invalid TABLES syntax. Since the converter does not expand the macro calls, it treats them as if they were simply part of the standard TABLES syntax.

The utility program will not convert TABLES commands contained in macros. All macros are unaffected by the conversion process.

Using the Conversion Utility Program

The conversion utility program, *SyntaxConverter.exe*, is installed in the same directory as SPSS. It is designed to run from a command prompt. The general form of the command is:

[SPSS install location]\syntaxconverter.exe [path]\inputfilename.sps [path]\outputfilename.sps

If any directory names contain spaces, enclose the entire path and filename in quotation marks, as in:

"c:\program files\spss\syntaxconverter.exe" c:\myfiles\oldfile.sps "c:\new files\newfile.sps"

TABLES Command Syntax Converter

Interactive versus Production Mode Command Syntax Rules

The conversion utility program can convert command files that use interactive or production mode syntax rules.

Interactive. The interactive syntax rules are:

- Each command begins on a new line.
- Each command ends with a period (.).

Production mode. The SPSS Production Facility and commands in files accessed via the INCLUDE command in a different command file use production mode syntax rules:

- Each command must begin in the first column of a new line.
- Continuation lines must be indented at least one space.
- The period at the end of the command is optional.

If your command files use production mode syntax rules and don't contain periods at the end of each command, you need to include the command line switch -b (or /b) when you run *SyntaxConverter.exe*, as in:

"c:\program files\spss\syntaxconverter.exe" -b c:\myfiles\oldfile.sps c:\myfiles\newfile.sps

You can also run the syntax converter with the script *SyntaxConverter.sbs*, located in the *Scripts* directory of the SPSS installation directory.

- From the menus choose:
 Utilities
 Run Script...
- ▶ Navigate to the *Scripts* directory and select *SyntaxConverter.sbs*.

This will open a simple dialog box where you can specify the names and locations of the old and new command syntax files.

Index

captions custom tables, 54 chi-square statistic custom tables, 155 collapsing categories custom tables, 106 column means statistics custom tables, 161 column proportions statistics custom tables, 167 column width controlling in custom tables, 52, 204 comperimeter tables, 51, 111 controlling number of decimals displayed, 68 corner labels custom tables, 54 count vs. valid N, 144 crosstabulation custom tables, 66 **CTABLES** converting TABLES command syntax to CTABLES, 211 custom tables captions, 54 categorical variables, 29 changing labels for summary statistics, 62 changing measurement level, 29 changing summary statistics dimension, 43 collapsing categories, 106 column width, 52 compact view, 85

comperimeter tables, 51, 111 controlling number of decimals displayed, 37 converting TABLES command syntax to CTABLES, 211 corner labels, 54 crosstabulation, 66 custom totals, 43 display formats, 37 empty cells, 52 excluding categories, 46, 70 hiding statistics labels, 60 hiding subtotaled categories, 106 how to build a table, 33 layer variables, 88, 91, 93 marginal totals, 69 mean-frequency tables, 43 missing values exclusion for scale summaries, 52 multiple category sets, 52 multiple response sets, 29, 175 nesting layer variables, 93 nesting variables, 80, 85 percentages, 39, 41, 62, 67 percentages for multiple response sets, 41 printing layered tables, 94 reordering categories, 46 row vs. column percentages, 62 scale variables, 29 showing and hiding variable names and labels, 37 significance testing and multiple response, 174 simple tables for categorical variables, 60 sorting categories, 70 stacking variables, 77, 79

Index

statistics source dimension, 67 subtotals, 46, 95 summary statistics, 39, 41–42 summary statistics display formats, 45 swapping row and column variables, 87 table of frequencies, 51, 111 tables of variables with shared categories, 51, 111 test statistics, 55, 155 titles, 54 totals, 46, 64, 95 totals in tables with excluded categories, 70 value labels for categorical variables, 29 custom total summary statistics, 133

date

including current date in custom tables, 54 decimal places controlling number of decimals displayed in custom tables, 37, 68, 198 deleting categories custom tables, 46, 70 different summary statistics for different variables stacked tables, 146 display formats, 68 summary statistics in custom tables, 45, 198 displaying category values, 138

empty cells displayed value in custom tables, 52, 206 excluding categories custom tables, 46, 70

group totals, 98 grouped summaries scale variables, 148 hiding statistics labels in custom tables, 60

labels

changing label text for summary statistics, 202 layer variables custom tables, 88, 91, 93 nesting layer variables, 93 printing layered tables, 94 stacking layer variables, 91

maximum custom tables, 42 mean, 141 custom tables, 42 mean-frequency tables, 43, 133 measurement level changing in custom tables, 29 median, 143 custom tables, 42 minimum custom tables, 42 missing values, 144, 191 effect on percentage calculations, 194 including in custom tables, 194 mode custom tables, 42 multiple response sets, 175 duplicate responses in multiple category sets, 52 percentages, 41 significance testing, 174, 185, 188

nesting variables custom tables, 80, 85 scale variables, 152 omitting categories custom tables, 70

percentages

in custom tables, 39, 41, 62, 67 missing values, 194 multiple response sets, 41 printing tables with layers, 94

range custom tables, 42 reordering categories custom tables, 46

scale variables grouped summaries, 148 multiple summary statistics, 143 nesting, 152 stacking, 141 summaries grouped by row and column categorical variables, 149 summary statistics, 141 significance tests custom tables, 55 multiple response sets, 185, 188 sorting categories custom tables, 70 stacking variables custom tables, 77, 79 different summary statistics for different variables, 146 multiple summary statistics source variables, 130 scale variables, 141 stacking layer variables, 91 standard deviation custom tables, 42

statistics custom total summary statistics, 133 stacked tables, 130 summary statistics, 123 subgroup totals, 98 subtotals, 103 custom tables, 46, 95 hiding subtotaled categories, 106 sum custom tables, 42 summary statistics, 123 changing label text, 202 custom total summary statistics, 133 different summaries for different variables in stacked tables, 146 display format, 198 source dimension, 124 source variable, 124 stacked tables, 130 summary statistics source variable scale variables, 152 system-missing values, 191

table of frequencies custom tables, 51, 111 TableLooks changing the default TableLook, 209 tables custom tables, 29 TABLES converting TABLES command syntax to CTABLES, 211 test statistics custom tables, 55, 155 time including current time in custom tables, 54

218

Index

titles custom tables, 54 total N, 194 totals custom tables, 46, 64, 95 display position, 98 excluded categories, 97 group totals, 98 layers, 101 marginal totals for custom tables, 69 nested tables, 98 user-missing values, 191 valid N, 144, 194 custom tables, 42 values displaying category labels and values, 138 values and value labels, 138 variable labels suppressing display in custom tables, 37 variance custom tables, 42